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THE PRC CITY GAS DISTRIBUTION FLAGSHIP OF CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

China Resources Gas Group Limited (“CR Gas”), substantially owned by China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited, one of the largest state-owned conglomerates in China, is a leading gas utilities group in China, which is
principally engaged in downstream city gas distribution business including piped natural gas distribution, natural gas
filling stations operation and sales of gas appliances. Its operations are strategically located in areas of China, which
are economically more developed and densely populated and areas with rich reserves of natural gas.

Leveraging on the excellent industry fundamentals and the Group’s execution competency, CR Gas continues to expand
rapidly in 2021 via organic and acquisition growths. At the end of 2021, CR Gas's portfolio consisted of 266 city gas
projects in 22 provinces of China including 14 provincial capitals and 3 direct administrative municipalities with an annual
gross gas sales volume of some 34.1 billion cubic meters and 45.87 million customers.

The optimization of energy structure and environmental pollution control will promote the sustainable growth of natural gas
consumption in China. The PRC government has, in recent years, taken various measures to promote the development and
utilization of less polluting energy sources. The natural gas industry is in sync with the core development idea of innovation,
harmony, green, open and sharing as compared with conventional energy resources such as coal and crude oil. In “The
14th Five-Year Plan” and the draft of “Long-Range Objectives through the Year 2035, the state once again emphasized
that the promotion of green and low-carbon development, the enhancement of the construction of ecological civilization
and the promotion and application of natural gas played an important role in protecting the ecological environment and
promoting the transition to green development.

The natural gas market in China is still in the important development period, as China remains the most important region
in the global rise of natural gas development. CR Gas is well placed to take advantage of such a favorable operating
environment and to become the most respectable leader in the PRC’s gas industry by continuously expanding through
organic and external growths; diligently enhancing its operational efficiency in pursue of excellence; delivering a safe
and reliable supply of clean energy as well as the caring, competent and efficient service to our customers; offering
growing and sustainable performance to shareholders; creating extensive professional and personal development
opportunities to employees; and contributing to the protection and improvement of the Chinese and global environment.
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Pan-China Footprint of CR Gas
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“Myanmar to China”
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Existing LNG Receiving Terminal
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ANNUAL RESULTS

In 2021, the global economy witnessed a recovery growth after the
pandemic. As the only major economy in the world to achieve positive
economic growth in 2020, China encountered grave challenges such
as relapses of the pandemic as well as frequent floods in 2021; its
annual GDP growth rate reached 8.1%, continuously maintaining a
leading position in the world. 2021 is the commencement year of
the “14th Five-Year” Plan. As the state issued the top-level design
document of “achieving carbon peak by 2030 and carbon neutrality
by 2060", governments at all levels successively introduced various
policies to boost the share of clean energy in the energy consumption
mix, demonstrating the resolve of the Chinese government to promote
environment management. The sound development trend of China’'s
clean energy market remains unchanged, injecting continuous growth
momentum into the long-term development of the Group’s clean
energy sales business and comprehensive services business.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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The Group will expand steadily via sustainable organic growth and quality

external acquisitions while at the same time proactively exploring new
opportunities arising from its gas value chain and customer base.

HR - AEEEGESSELE  RAR
RZ2RE - HERARRRE  BEH2
HEPTRIUA - NEREWSIRE IR EIE
BEREBTMKEN—BRA  BITR
I ETR

AEEBFEFRABRIENETES - K
NHEBHMIBEHHE  FAZEME B
T BMAOREBERENRERA - T
] 7N 52 [ 70 K B 48 T AN B S @ s TR R
MR LEDS  HHAXEEERR
RER  ARAREEERMLIERI17.4%E
340.82187 + X FRALIERI3.9%E
781. 75T - EA AEMEEFFRLIE R
24.2%%63.958F T - KRR S 112
B 2ERRKRE1278I R-_T-F
FI3ENIRE36.6% * IREEKA5.0% °

During the period, the Group proactively responded to various
challenges, carried out in-depth safety inspections, continued to
enhance the steadiness of gas supply and took the initiatives to
participate in fighting against the pandemics and floods. The various
management initiatives implemented by the Group had also gained
unanimous recognition from governments at all levels and the media,
and a sound social image had been built.

The Group has long been aggressively adhering to the spirit of
pursuing excellence by rigorously facilitating the merger and
acquisition of city gas projects, diving deep to explore the market
potentials and committing to enhance the operating efficiency in order
to constantly consolidating the core advantages of the Group in the
city gas market of large cities and sophisticated regions and cities.
During the period, the Group achieved rapid development with sale
of natural gas reaching 34.082 billion cubic meters, representing
a year-on-year increase of 17.4%, a turnover of HK$78.175 billion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 39.9%, and a profit
attributable to owners of the Group of HK$6.395 billion for the year,
representing a year-on-year increase of 24.2%. It was proposed to
distribute a final dividend of 112 HK cents, with a total dividend of 127
HK cents for the year, representing an increase of 36.6% from 93 HK
cents in 2020, representing a dividend payout ratio of 45.0%.
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SALE OF NATURAL GAS

In 2021, the added value of industrial enterprises above state
designated scale in China increased by 9.6% over the previous
year, 6.8 percentage points higher than that of 2020; the average
growth rate of the past two years was 6.1%. Against the backdrop
of the spread of the pandemic overseas, and thanks to China’s well-
established industry chain and supply chains, the export of industrial
products continued to grow rapidly, with the export delivery value
of industrial enterprises above state designated scale increasing
by 17.7% over the previous year. The state constantly promoted the
prevention and control of air pollution, and continued to strengthen
the “coal-to-gas conversion” reform in civil, heating, industrial and
other industries in key areas. The Group tightly grasped the market
opportunity, actively promoted the development of key industries
in the region, focused on small and micro business development,
comprehensively promoted the “bottled-to-piped-gas conversion”
reform, and realized the rapid growth in sales volume of natural gas.

During the period, the Group sold 34.082 billion cubic meters of
natural gas, of which industrial gas sales recorded 18.212 billion cubic
meters, an increase of 22.5%, accounting for 53.4% of the Group’s
gas sales; commercial gas sales recorded 6.851 billion cubic meters,
an increase of 18.1%, accounting for 20.1% of the Group’s gas sales,
and residential gas sales increased by 9.5% to 7.654 billion cubic
meters, accounting for 22.5% of the Group’s gas sales.

DEVELOPMENT OF NEW USERS

By the end of 2021, the proportion of permanent urban residents
across the country increased to 64.7% from 63.9% of last year.
Meanwhile, the government also paid more attention to the
construction of major strategic areas, core cities and city clusters,
with core cities expanding continuously in geographical coverage
amid greater population inflows. On 7 September, the National
Development and Reform Commission and the Ministry of Housing
and Urban-Rural Development issued the Notice on Strengthening
the Construction of Supporting Facilities for the Reconstruction of
Urban Old Residential Communities, which ushered in a development
opportunity for developing users in urban old residential communities.
On the back of its relatively large number of large-scale city gas
projects, most of which being in major national strategic areas such as
the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region, Yangtze River Delta region, Chengdu-
Chongging Two Cities Economic Zone, and Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area, the Group believes that it will have room for
relatively stable development of the user market going forward.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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The Group continues to focus on the development of urban natural
gas users, vigorously assists local governments in pollution prevention
and control, prudently develops rural “coal-to-gas conversion” users
around its projects, and optimizes the energy structure by replacing
bulk coal. The Group had 39,000 new industrial and commercial
users and 3,524,000 new residential users connected during the year,
including the connection to 2,957,200 new houses users, 444,300 old
houses users and 122,500 rural “coal-to-gas conversion” users.

Thanks to the constant merger and acquisition by the Group and
expansion of more operation areas by the project companies of the
Group, during the period, the average gas penetration rate of city gas
projects operated by the Group in China increased from 52.4% at the
end of 2020 to 55.0%.

EXPANSION OF NEW PROJECTS

The Group continues to focus on the core business development
of city gas by leveraging on its reputable corporate brand image,
strong market development capabilities and outstanding operation
capabilities. In 2021, 11 projects were signed and 23 projects were
registered at group and project level. 24,000 km? new concession
areas in 2 municipalities and several prefecture-level cities with GDP
of RMB3,800 billion and a potential gas sales volume of 6.7 billion mé.

As of 31 December 2021, the number of registered city gas projects at
the Group level reached 266, spanning across 22 provinces, 3 direct
administrative municipalities and 75 prefecture-level cities. The ever
expanding operational regions and prime geographic locations where
the projects are located have laid a solid foundation for the sustained
and rapid growth of the Group’s core business.
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Sustainable Growth of Natural Gas
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Sustainable Growth of Natural Gas

RARRAE—RMEREREBHFEE LA

Natural Gas Share of Total Primary Energy Consumption

70%
60%
50%
40% HRFH
World Average
30% 24.7%
20%
. I p—
0% - -
FEA WS BAA HE ESEd mEX BE RN 3 P
Iran Russia Italy UK USA Canada Germany Japan HK China

HRBR : BPEREERM (Z2 5L A)
Source: BP Statistical Review of World Energy July 2021

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021



RERBER

HIE—T——F  KXEBEE#HF4,548.87
EFERMAF  35.658FREMFM2.84
BEFIXAF EREAEENEFE
B BEEBEMRALE2ETNEERR
MED AEEZIFITRMELPREHESMHE
WZRERBERMRE  UTHERATF
ZERERAFER  BETERLRR
FEHEEtLESER  TELEELYES
BEARIG - BEVBMBRMNEHETA -
AERFREIZ2+RE | @Ry
BENEFHN  REEFERE-

AEEEFRRE  ER2ORBES
BRIMEBCINERERBER  UEEE
BAFRGERGEHES -

BN AEBAEOEGRARBEL LW
IR E22 41T - ALIER67.6%  H
PR AL EEET 68EET  RALER
106.0% © PARIRIR S5 & TR E4 841878
JC R #R28.4% - NEBERE RISER
BIERMEMEL - ABERBIFERAM
B RRERE RIS E RS AS i A RREE R
B R AREBEEBEBAREN o

FERSE
Chairman’s Statement

COMPREHENSIVE SERVICE BUSINESS

As at 2021, the Company had 45.4887 million residential users,
356,500 commercial users and 28,400 industrial users. Relying on
its large and high quality customers resources, combining with the
expertise and technological advantages of the Group, the Group
focuses on providing the customers with high quality integrated
service products and service and continuously enhancing the
safety protection of the customers and user experience. The Group
established an intelligent operation system based on security
guarantee, built an intelligent terminal for kitchen electrical appliances.
Leveraging on the Internet of Things technology and the cloud
computing platform, the Group offers one-stop solutions with “safety +
quality”, thus increasing the customers’ loyalty and rewarding the trust

of customers.

The Group adhered to its philosophy of providing customers with high
quality and safer services and built a convenient service system with
grid management to facilitate the Group to carry out comprehensive
service business operation with light assets.

During the period, the revenue from comprehensive services business
on a statuary basis reached HK$2.241 billion, representing a year-
on-year increase of 67.6%, of which turnover of gas appliances and
that of gas insurance business reached HK$768 million and HK$484
million, representing a year-on-year increase of 106.0% and 28.4%,
respectively. The penetration rate of the Group’s comprehensive
service business is still at a low level. The Group believes that through
continuously vigorous promotion, the comprehensive service business
will step into a stage of rapid development in the future and become
an important part of the Group’s business.

EMARERERAT —B-—FER
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COMPREHENSIVE ENERGY BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

In 2021, the Group strictly followed the development trends of the
green and low carbon energy technologies. Relying on its significant
market and customer resources advantages, the Group continuously
explored the operation model of comprehensive energy business, and
steadily promote the expansion of comprehensive energy projects to
meet the diversified energy demand of customers.

During the period, the Group steadily promoted the development
of comprehensive energy business, newly signed 38 projects, with
an estimated total investment of approximately HK$690 million, the
cumulative number of projects reaching 144.

The Group also actively expanded the clean transportation energy
market, and continuously developed large users in specific industries.
During the period, 25 charging stations were newly put into operation,
resulting in the total number of 132 charging stations putting into
operation; the sale of electricity throughout the year increased by
29.4% to 220 million kWh as compared with the same period of last
year; 4 new hydrogen refueling stations were put into operation,
bringing the total number of hydrogen refueling stations that had
been approved for construction and operation to 15, spanning across
Weifang, Xiangyang, Wuxi, Baicheng, Wuhan and Taizhou etc.

151 176 205 220 227 238 248 251 257 266

34,082

2008 2009 2010 2011

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
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KEY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Group achieved a turnover of HK$78.175 billion in 2021,
representing a year-on-year increase of 39.9%. Overall gross profit
margin of the Group was 23.4%, representing a decrease of 3.5
percentage points compared with that of last year. The decrease in
overall gross profit margin was mainly due to the increase in the share
of revenue from sales and distribution of gas fuel and related products
and gas filling stations to operating revenue from 80.3% in last year
to 82.9% in 2021, and the decrease in the share of revenue from gas
connection with higher gross profit margin from 17.9% in last year to
15.3%. The Group believes that the continuous enhancement of the
Group’s revenue structure will lay a solid foundation for the future
sustainable development of the Group.

The Group has been adopting prudent financial resources
management policies to keep borrowings and capital expenditure
at a sound level. In 2021, the Group’s operating cash flow achieved
HK$8.390 billion, representing a year-on-year decrease of 2.62%. The
Group has sufficient funds and available banking facilities to meet
capital expenditures and operating requirements in the future.

HONESTY & INTEGRITY CULTURE

The Group always regards honesty & integrity as its foundation of
development, and has issued and implemented a series of measures
in recent years, including Regulation on Honesty & Integrity (#{z4&
EEPHE)) and Rules for Staff Responsible for Honesty & Integrity
Culture (FEAHREETIEFIE)) and requires every staff to sign the
Honesty & Integrity Declaration (FHEARE = )).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to enhancing its standard of corporate
governance by benchmarking with good corporate governance
practices and has adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook
based on the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) issued by
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The Corporate Governance Report is set out on pages 41 to 60 of this
annual report.

EMARERERAT —B-—FER
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CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

CAPITAL MARKET PERFORMANCE

From 2008 to 2021, the share price of the Group has increased by
12.0 times from HK$3.4 to HK$44.1 and its market capitalisation has
increased by 32.1 times from HK$3.08 billion to HK$102.05 billion.

From 2008 to 2021, the profit of the Group increased by 25.7 times
from HK$240 million to HK$6.4 billion, turnover increased by 25.1
times from HK$2.99 billion to HK$78.18 billion and total assets
increased by 27.6 times from HK$3.71 billion to HK$106.14 billion.

Based on Bloomberg’s report, as at 31st December, 2021, the Group
was covered by 84 analyst reports.

Given the Group’s sustained and steady development and continuous
improvement in performance, Moody’s raised the credit rating of
the Group to A2, Standard & Poor’s and Fitch Ratings maintained
the credit rating of the Group at A- in 2021. The rating reflects the
Group’s development strategy of focusing on its core business of
comprehensive services and comprehensive energy and its financial
performance for current period has been widely recognised by the
market, which will further reduce the finance costs to be incurred by
the Group in its potential financing activities, and provide sufficient
financial resources for the long-term healthy development of the
Group.

DEVELOPMENT PROSPECT

Amid the complex and grave landscape at home and abroad as well
as various risks and challenges in 2021, China’s economy continued
to recover and grow, its economic structure and regional planning
continued to improve, supply-side structural reform further advanced
and establishment of a civil ecosystem continued to proceed. As
China maintains its stable development, its macroeconomic outlook
will remain stable and positive going forward. During the year, the
Chinese government continued to promote the initiative of “carbon
peak by 2030 and carbon neutrality by 2060”, and firmly adhered to its
environmental governance policies, strongly driving the development
of the natural gas industry. Although energy prices remain high and
volatile and supply is affected in the short term, with the broadening
and deepening of market-oriented reforms in the oil and gas industry,
China’s natural gas industry still maintains sound development
prospects.

Annual Report 2021
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Chairman’s Statement

In 2022, China will face heightened risks and challenges in its
development. The Chinese government has put forward the guiding
principle of seeking progress while maintaining stability in its
development, and China will keep its economy operating within a
reasonable range. The Group will seize development opportunities in
the industry and proactively aligns itself with the natural gas promotion
and utilization policies of governments at all levels to achieve
sustained growth in its city gas core business. While focusing on
the development of its principal business, the Group will also extend
customer value around the industry chain, continuously improve the
penetration rate of comprehensive service business, and strengthen
the development of comprehensive energy business, thus providing
customers with diversified energy supply and services, constantly
improving returns on shareholders, and promoting the sustainable
development of the Group.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
our most sincere appreciation to our business partners, customers
and shareholders for their unfailing support as well as all the Group’s
employees for their hard work and dedication in carrying out their
duties and in achieving the Group’s business goal.

WANG CHUANDONG
Chairman

18th March, 2022
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer
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OPERATING RESULTS

Active in pursuit of excellence, the Group reduced the negative
impact of the pandemic during the year ended 31st December, 2021.
As a result, the Group’s turnover surged by 39.9% to HK$78.18 billion
and we recorded profit attributable to the Company’s equity holders of
HK$6.40 billion, representing an increase of 24.2% over the previous
corresponding period. The operating profit of the Company increased
by 22.9% to HK$10.48 billion and the cash generated from operations
edged down from HK$8.62 billion in 2020 to HK$8.39 billion in 2021.

The revenue of the Group was derived from sales and distribution
of gas fuel and related products, gas connection, sales of gas
appliances, design and construction services and gas stations, which
respectively accounted for 78.4%, 15.3%, 1.0%, 0.8% and 4.5% of
the revenue for 2021 (2020: 74.9%, 17.9%, 0.7%, 1.2% and 5.3%,
respectively).

Gross gas sales volume increased by 17.4% from 29.02 billion m? to
34.08 billion ms.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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The management team continuously improves
the operational efficiency of the Group to achieve
sustainable organic growth.

AEERERTHNIERL HBMERE TS
ARRE  BERSENTHMREENTA
FH#E - —Z-—FHEREERFPEH
M- _ZTFEKN305.38F LK15.4%%E
352.48F -
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I R AR TRREBRER 481
AT - ERAHLDEEAAEEZER
BEEER

With excellent project planning and active market development

strategy, the Group continued to focus on the development of new

users of city gas projects. The total number of newly connected

residential users in 2021 increased by 15.4% from 3.053 million in

2020 to 3.524 million.

In 2021, the Group continued to make new acquisitions and invested

or paid HK$4.81 billion in 21 city gas projects. Most of these projects

are either wholly owned or majority owned by the Group.

EERREZERBRAF
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The investments will enable the Group to further extend its coverage
and footprint in the PRC. The Group has existing city gas operations in
these provinces and has 85 regional offices set up in various strategic
locations in the PRC. The projects of the investments will be efficiently
integrated and managed by the relevant regional office depending
on their geographical locations. As such, the Group considers that
the investments will create synergies with the Group’s existing gas
operation, thereby broadening the Group’s revenue base as well as
enhancing and sustaining its profitability.

The Group also conducts ongoing evaluation of past investments,

which are essential for making decisions on future investments.

PRECISE BENCHMARKING

“Benchmarking” is the process of comparing one’s business
processes and performance metrics to the best practices of the
industry. The Group has implemented benchmarking initiatives from
best practitioners in all business sectors. “Benchmarking” has started
off internally with intra-group benchmarking and have extended to
benchmarking against external best practices of the industry.

Implementing “Benchmarking” measure is an indispensable choice for
CR Gas to accomplish the fundamental transformation of its growth
model from resources-driven growth to efficiency improvement, and
is also one crucial approach taken by CR Gas to achieve its strategic
goal to become the leading world-class gas enterprise in China.

This combination of internal and external benchmarking helps each
member company to identify the most important gaps between its
current state and where it wants to be. It creates a road map for
change and generates the rigorous cost and performance baseline
necessary to effectively track progress on that road map over time in
terms of cost reductions and performance improvements. All member
companies were required to sign “Benchmarking Responsibility
Contracts” with head office, and continued to deepen 28 quantitative
benchmarks, highlighting the key objectives and becoming more
focused and precise. This ongoing campaign has led to many
satisfying results in 2021.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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BERE
Report from the Chief Executive Officer

CONTINUOUS EFFICIENCY IMPROVEMENT
OF REGIONAL CENTRES AND DESIGN &
CONSTRUCTION CENTRES

The Group has 85 regional centres to decentralise the management
of the day to day operation of the Group's city gas projects across
China. Each regional centre is responsible for the day to day operation
of a cluster of cities within their respective regions. This enhances the
operation efficiencies and provides better services that respond faster
to changing local demand and conditions.

Members of the Group’s management team concurrently serve as
regional general managers. The arrangement minimises the increase
in headcounts or resources, thereby achieving the goal of attaining
maximum results with minimum resources.

The centralisation of the Group’s design and construction activities will
further enhance standardisation of pipeline construction and central
procurements thereby resulting in further cost reductions.

EEMRERBERAFT —E--—FFR8K
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BUSINESS PROCESS STREAMLINING AND
OPERATION ENHANCEMENT

The Group continued its systematic review of the business and
management processes of its various city gas projects. This ongoing
process is expected to continuously enhance the overall operational
efficiency of city gas projects.

The Group’s supply chain management was further streamlined with
rigorous tender system covering construction projects, and the new
or revised guidelines covering various categories of projects and
quality control measures were issued and implemented. With the help
of centralised procurement IT system, the procurement of most of our
materials has been centralised, representing 91.5% of total material
procurement expenditure up to the end of 2021. While safeguarding
product quality, the Group reduced procurement costs through
centralised procurement.

Improvements were also carried out on the employee recruitment,
assessment, remuneration and staff retention policies to enhance
the human resources management process with the objective of
recruiting, promoting and retaining the best talents, from both internal
and external sources. CR Gas’s management team comprises utility
professionals with significant expertise and experiences across
financial, law, commercial and engineering disciplines. We strive to
provide and maintain a satisfying and rewarding working environment
for employees and commit to their training and professional
development.

In view of the significant increase in operation size of the Group in
recent years, we continued to promote the application of information
technology systems covering project management, top-up cards for
gas stations, office administration, centralised cash management,
financial reporting, human resources, centralised procurement and
customer service at various levels of the Group’s operation, so as to
improve our operational efficiency.

On the continuous enhancement of customer service, through
continuously diversifying product portfolio, enhancing the success
rate of household safety inspection, shortening user complaint
processing time, promoting internet payment, quickening the response
of user hotlines and other measures, the Company has optimised user
experience to continuously increase user satisfaction.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

On the financial and tax management areas, the Group has
successfully promoted value-oriented management system to each
member company and thus effectively reduced costs and expenses.
In particular, we further enhanced the centralization of cash
management with the inclusion of more member companies in the
system with significant increase of cash pool size. By doing so, the
Group has greatly reduced the overall cost of borrowing. Furthermore,
various taxation rationalization and reduction measures were taken to
reduce tax exposure and speed up tax setoffs and refunds.

SAFETY MANAGEMENT ENHANCEMENT

The Group has formulated a number of safety management policies
and procedures, and has hired qualified engineers and technical
staff as well, to manage and prevent any potential accidents in the
Group’s natural gas related facilities which may cause damage to the
environment.

In addition to our internally commissioned control, hazard prevention
and emergency recovery procedures, the Group have fully complied
with the relevant local and national environmental protection

regulations and licensing requirement.

EMARERERAT —B-—FER
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To improve our safety standard, the Group carried out a range
of company-wide safety and environment conscious campaigns.
Meanwhile, the Group applied new technologies such as big data and
intelligence to explore intelligent monitoring and dispatch management
of gas, so as to strengthen key aspect and potential defect treatment.
The Group continued to carry out safety audit, completed auditing
work for 78 regional companies throughout the year, discovered over
6,000 hidden safety hazards, and vigorously promoted the rectification
of units at all levels. In 2021, the Group invested HK$0.45 billion and
completed the transformation of 410.9 km of cast iron pipeline.

The Group places emphasis on educating staff and users in respect
of safety procedures. Accordingly, the Group regularly organized
trainings and seminars for relevant staff, and the training for certified
safety engineers, with an aggregate of 200,000 persons/times of
training received which effectively regulated employees’ safety
behavior. For end users, explanations of safety procedures are given
and regular seminars as well as distribution of brochures and booklets
on safety are arranged.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

TRAINING AND REWARD FOR EMPLOYEES

As at 31st December, 2021, the Group have approximately 52,354
employees. The Group values human resources and recognises the
importance of attracting, training and retaining quality staff for its
continual success. In addition to the “Gas Faculty” in China Resources
University, which designs courses and provides training programs to
the Group’s workforce, the Group also operates 5 regional training
centres covering Eastern, Northern, Central, Southern and South-
Western China. These centres are located in our regional centres
of Wuxi, Jining, Zhengzhou, Fuzhou and Chengdu. Various types of
management and technical trainings are conducted through the Group
for different levels of staff to enhance their knowledge and skills.
Improvements were also carried out on the employee recruitment,
assessment, remuneration and staff retention policies to enhance
the human resources management process with the objective of
recruiting, promoting and retaining the best talents, from both internal
and external sources. CR Gas’s management team comprises
utility professionals with significant expertise across financial,
law, commercial and engineering disciplines. We strive to provide
and maintain a satisfying and rewarding working environment for
employees and commit to their training and professional development.
The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
work experience and the prevailing market wage level. Further,
bonuses are granted to employees and incentive awards are made
to employees based on merit and performance. The Group believes
this will assist to attract and retain quality staff and at the same time

encourage the employees to give their best performances.

EMARERERAT —B-—FER
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is constantly alert to the threats or uncertainties with
negative consequences facing the industry and has been taking
various measures to safeguard the Group’s interest.

The system of annual and regular safety audit has been established
continuously on all operating member companies of the Group to
ensure compliance with national and local safety regulations.

The Company has set up 5 regional audit centers across the country
and continued to promote regional companies to improve audit and
risk control functions. A total of 70 audits were carried out at the Group
and member company levels, covering areas such as operation,
finance, and project procurement. The Group has revised and issued
various audit and risk control management guidelines, organized
major risk management and internal control self-investigation, and no
systemic risks occurred throughout the year.

In 2021, the Group kept improving its institutional system, equipped
its internal control system with information technologies, and took
comprehensive measures to prevent and control major risks and to
supervise and inspect how the internal control system worked, thereby
setting up an internal control system that can strengthen internal
control, prevent risks and promote compliance. By doing so, the
Group made full use of the internal control system to safeguard its
operations and control risks, prevented systemic and major risks from
happening, and boosted the high-quality development of the Group.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

ENVIRONMENT AND SOCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS

The Group is supporting the ongoing green environmental policies
of the PRC government by actively expanding our cleaner natural
gas business. In 2021, the Group’s carbon dioxide emission per
RMB10,000 production value (comparables) reduced by 3.7% in terms
of tons, comprehensive energy consumption per RMB10,000 revenue
(comparables) reduced by 6.8% in terms of tons of standard coal, and
the comprehensive energy consumption per RMB10,000 value added
(comparables) reduced by 1.5% in terms of tons of standard coal.

The Group also carried out charitable activities as token of measure
to contribute to society. The Group’s member companies conducted
activities such as poverty alleviation, donation for education, caring
for particular groups as well as volunteer services in a number
of regions, making donation (including money and materials) for
various public welfare undertakings during the year, thus building a
reputable corporate image of the Group. In 2021, CR Gas vigorously
implemented sustainable charity and public welfare undertakings,
taking positive actions to help build a harmonious society, in
particular, during the period of pandemic, encouraging and supporting
subsidiaries to carry out external charitable donations in combination
with their own business conditions in respect of the prevention of
pandemic. Throughout the year, CR Gas’s total charitable donations
amounted to HK$6.158 million, with cumulative volunteer services of
98,000 persons/times.

APPRECIATION

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to our management
team and staff members for their unfailing hard work and dedication.
We would continue to work hand in hand to improve service to
our customers, increase efficiency to enhance the values of the
shareholders and employees.

YANG PING
Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 18th March, 2022
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Financial & Operational Highlights

MEREE FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
1
—E-—F —ZT-TF OR )
For the year ended Increase/
BZE+=-A=1+—HLEE 31st December, 2021 2020 (Decrease)
FExT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
e Turnover 78,175,136 55,864,169 39.9%
EF Gross profit 18,295,276 15,027,477 21.7%
KEEF (N IER ISR A KR Profit from operations
EEEERBENTIEE) (before finance costs and
share of results of joint ventures
and associates) 10,475,175 8,524,369 22.9%
F N A Profit for the year 8,439,832 6,711,888 25.7%
RARRAFEE AL & F Profit attributable to the Company’s
equity holders 6,395,368 5,151,292 24.2%
KEEBSHR e F5E Net cash from operating activities
(ZRBRZ1%) (after tax payments) 8,390,058 8,616,030 (2.6%)
BREXRBHNOCET) Basic EPS™ (HK$) 2.82 2.31 22.1%
BURARABRR S - B OB Final dividend proposed per share
(HK cents) 112 78 43.6%
2FERS - G OBI) Total dividend per share for the year
(HK cents) 127 93 36.6%
M5 - (1) FRERBMNIREZEITIRG B INFEF Note: (1)  Basic earnings per share is calculated based on weighted average

BYEE - T REEEE 8RA R

75 o

scheme.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021

number of issued shares, excluding shares held for incentive award
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—E——F —ECETFE BN ORD)
For the year ended Increase/
BZE+=-A=1+—HLEFE 31st December, 2021 2020 (Decrease)
FET FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
BEE Total assets 106,136,308 93,870,809 13.1%
RITHEBRIRESO Bank balances and cash® 10,088,053 13,442,206 (25.0%)
BT BEMEMEEMAE®  Total bank, notes and other
borrowings® 11,510,903 10,893,434 5.7%
BEFE Net borrowings 1,422,850 (2,548,772) -
RARRAFFE AEMLER Equity attributable to the
Company’s equity holders 41,256,915 36,274,287 13.7%
AR M 2 Non-controlling interests 12,780,747 10,594,072 20.6%
R 1BE Total equity 54,037,662 46,868,359 15.3%
=B —F —ETF
BEER Financial Indicators 2021 2020
EF=E Gross profit margin 23.4% 26.9% (3.5ppt)
FERIE(FR) Net profit margin (for the year) 10.8% 12.0% (1.2ppt)
FHE (BRERFEG) Net profit margin (attributable to
shareholders) 8.2% 9.2% (1.0ppt)
BERBELE® Debt to capitalization ratio® 17.6% 18.9% (1.3ppt)
BEABLLER® Debt to assets ratio® 10.8% 11.6% (0.8ppt)
=ZNEIEEY Return on equity 15.5% 14.2% 1.3ppt
BT Notes:
(1) BEZREIE£2,525103,000/87T (1) Restricted cash for privatisation HK$2,525,103,000.
(2) FEfTH R FF0085,015,768,000/8 7T (2) The amounts due to an intermediate holding company of

R A R R R A R FRIE 0B ST A ASRAT -

EEREMEERE -

(8) EAXREBMELLEERT REREMERS (3)
HERT  REMEGEEEEREAL
BERLG)

(4) EBEBEBLIERT REREGEES (4)

BEEERENLD -

HK$5,015,768,000 and amounts due from an intermediate holding

company of HK$0 are included in total bank, notes and other borrowing.

total assets.

ERRRERERAF

Debt to capitalization ratio is the ratio of total bank, notes and other
borrowings to total bank, notes and other borrowings and total equity.

Debt to asset ratio is the ratio of total bank, notes and other borrowings to

e
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Financial & Operational Highlights

EERE OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE
—E--FHEEHE Operational data for 2021
R-B=-F RZTZZF
+=-A=t+-H +-A=+-H
As at As at
31st December, 31st December, &
EERE Operational Performance 2021 2020 Change
BEE¥A Number of projects 266 257 9
ERTEEFY (HEF) Connectable householders
(million) 83.16 79.61 4.5%
ERAFBEXR Penetration rate of residential
household 55.0% 52.4% 2.6ppt
BHERE (BEIHXK) Gross sales volume (million m?) 34,082 29,024 17.4%
ERREP Residential 7,654 6,988 9.5%
T¥#RF Industrial 18,212 14,866 22.5%
EERP Commercial 6,851 5,800 18.1%
CNG IR 4 CNG station 870 839 3.7%
LNG N5 LNG station 495 532 (6.9%)
FHERE KL EF Average gas tariff/Cost/Gross margin
(ARBSIHX) (RMB per m?) 2.93/2.41/0.52 2.65/2.06/0.59 0.28/0.35/(0.07)
ERRE (RE) Total length of pipeline (km) 229,362 205,638 23,724
BERAE Connected customers 45,873,609 41,843,270 4,030,339
ERBF Residential 45,488,645 41,502,915 3,985,730
T¥/RFP Industrial 28,443 25,010 3,433
EMERP Commercial 356,520 315,345 41,175
FHEREBRUA (ARY) Average residential connection fee
(RMB) 2,675 2,690 (15)
FREERERS (BN Gross new households with paid
connection fee
FEE Total 3,524,027 3,052,565 471,462
AfOE Consolidated 2,770,945 2,044,380 726,565
MEIE(CNG/LNG/L-CNG)  Gas station (CNG/LNG/L-CNG) 347(212/85/50) 353 (224/81/48) (6) ((12)/4/2)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s annual turnover in 2021 amounted to HK$78.18 billion
(2020: HK$55.86 billion).

The city gas distribution business contributed an after tax but before
non-controlling interest profit of HK$8.44 billion (2020: HK$6.71 billion)
and profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of HK$6.40
billion (2020: HK$5.15 billion).

Turnover

In 2021, the Group recorded a gross gas volume of 34.08 billion cubic
meters, representing an increase of 17.4%. The turnover of CR Gas
registered an increase of 39.9% from HK$55.86 billion to HK$78.18
billion for the year ended 31st December, 2021, mainly due to the
rapid development of the Group’s gas sales business during the year
and the rise in the price of upstream natural gas.

The Group recorded profit attributable to the Company’s equity
holders of HK$6.40 billion, representing an increase of 24.2% as
compared to HK$5.15 billion for the previous corresponding period.

Gross Margin

The Group’s overall gross profit margin was 23.4%, representing a
decrease of 3.5 percentage points as compared with that of last year.
The decrease in overall gross profit margin was mainly because the
revenue from the Group’s sale and distribution of gas fuel and related
products and revenue from gas stations as a percentage of operating
revenue increased from 80.3% last year to 82.9% in 2021, while the
percentage of revenue from gas connection with higher gross profit
margin decreased from 17.8% last year to 15.3%. The Group believes
that the increase in the percentage of revenue from sale of gas
reflects the continuous optimization of the Group’s business structure,
which lays a solid foundation for its sustainable development in the
future.
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Other income, costs and expenses

The decrease of HK$380 million in other income was mainly due to the
fact that in 2021, the Group accelerated the development of integrated
service business, in which the extended value-added service met the
growing personalized and customized needs of users, and realized
a revenue of HK$880 million, representing a year-on-year increase of
42.5%.

As a percentage of revenue, selling and distribution expenses as
well as the administration expenses were 7.4% and 4.9% respectively
(2020: 8.3% and 5.7%, respectively).

Finance expense decrease by HK$70 million was mainly due to the
decrease in loan interest in the Hong Kong lending market.

The increase in share of results of joint ventures by HK$50 million and
in share of results of associates by HK$130 million were mainly due
to the overall revenue brought by the launch of Ningbo project, the
improvement in the operation of Tianjin project and Chengdu Project,
and the increase of holdings in Chongqging project.

Taxation amounted to HK$2.74 billion, representing 24.5% of profit
before taxation (2020: 25.3%).

Strong operating and free cash flow generation

The city gas distribution operation continued to bring in healthy cash
flow with a net operating cash flow after tax of HK$8.39 billion. The
Group recorded bank balances and cash of HK$10.09 billion at the
end of 2021 (Restricted cash for privatisation HK$2.53 billion). The
Group continued to leverage on its strong balance sheet to raise
low cost finance during 2021 and had a total bank loans and senior
notes and other borrowings of HK$11.51 billion outstanding as at 31st
December, 2021. The Group maintains a very healthy balance sheet
with a low gross debt to total asset ratio of 49.1% (2020: 50.1%).

Reasonable rates of return

In view of the fact that the Group is still in expansion phase, the city
gas distribution operation maintained reasonable return on equity of
15.5% in 2021, representing an increase of 1.3 percentage points from
2020. The Group invested a total of 34 new projects in 2021. The rates
of returns were expected to improve once all these newly acquired
projects started to attain higher operating efficiency and generated
more returns in 2021 and thereafter.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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Major contributors

Previously, the earlier projects of Chengdu, Wuxi and Suzhou acquired
in 2008 used to account for more than 80% of the gas sales volume,
connection fee and net profit contribution. As the Group acquired
more new projects from 2009 to 2021, their contribution percentages
decreased and were taken up by others such as Chongging, Tianjin,
Ningbo, Zhengzhou, Zhenjiang, Fuzhou, Nanjing, Qingdao, Anyang
and Wuhan. The percentage contribution from all projects were
expected to gradually become more evenly distributed in the future.
The broadening of the Group’s earning base will ensure that the
Group will not rely heavily on any single city gas project.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The net cash inflow after tax from operations during the year amounted
to HK$8.39 billion (2020: HK$8.62 billion).

To fund its acquisition expansion, the Group spent HK$4.8 billion in
capital expenditure during the year. The Group spent HK$5.7 billion
in upgrading and expanding of its existing city gas pipelines and
related facilities (2020: HK$4.8 billion). The above required funding
was financed by the operating cash flow, bank borrowings and cash
on hand of the Group. As at year end, the Group’s bank balances
and cash and other deposits was HK$10.09 billion (2020: HK$13.44
billion). Among the balances, 25.4% was denominated in Hong Kong
dollar and 74.35% in Renminbi and 0.25% in US dollar.

It is the Group’s policy to use the cash flow generated from operations
and appropriate level of borrowings as the principal source of fund to
finance major expansion and acquisition. As at the end of the year, the
Group had total bank, notes and other borrowings of HK$11.51 billion
(2020: HK$10.89 billion). 97.4% (2020: 55%) of the bank, notes and
other borrowings are considered as current liabilities and repayable
within one year, and the remaining are repayable in more than one
year. Renminbi, Hong Kong dollar, US dollar and Japanese Yen,
denominated borrowings accounted for 1%, 48%, 49% and 2% of the
total borrowings respectively (2020: 1%, 46%, 50% and 3%). 48.1%
(2020: 47%) of bank, notes and other borrowings are interest bearing
on floating rate terms and 51.9% (2020: 53%) are interest bearing
bank loans and senior notes with fixed interest rate.

The bank balances and cash of the Group was HK$10.09 billion as at
the year end. The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the year,
calculated as total bank, note and other borrowings over total assets,
was 10.8% (2020: 11.6%). The financial position and liquidity of the
Group is very healthy and stable.
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The Group has been granted a total of HK$2.29 billion, RMB8.97
billion, JPY3.88 billion, US$0.6 billion and HK$7.0 billion (2020:
HK$7.0 billion, RMB4.4 billion and JPY3.88 billion) banking facilities
with maturities from 2021 to 2022. The facilities are unsecured and
with floating interest rates. As at the end of the year, 7.1% of the
HK$ facilities (2020: 14%), 1.5% of the RMB facilities (2020: 4%) and
83.2% of the JPY facilities (2020: 88%) has been drawn down.

Other than the above, the Group has no other committed borrowing
facilities. For day-to-day liquidity management and maintaining
flexibility in funding, the Group has managed to obtain sufficient
uncommitted short-term facilities from banks.

Charge of Assets

As at 31st December, 2021, bank deposits of HK$10 million were
pledged as securities for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the Group’s city gas
distribution business spent HK$620 million on plant, machinery and
equipment and HK$4.86 billion on construction in progress.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st December, 2021, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

Financial Management and Treasury Policy

The financial risk management of the Group is the responsibility of
the Group’s treasury function at the head office in Hong Kong. One of
the major objectives of the Group’s treasury policies is to manage its
exposure to fluctuation in interest rates and foreign currency exchange
rates. It is the Group’s policy not to engage in speculative activities.

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, US dollar and Renminbi with some denominated in JPY.
The Group does not expect significant exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations in this regard.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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Mr. WANG Chuandong, aged 59, was appointed as an Executive Director
and General Manager of the Company on 3rd November, 2008. He was
appointed as the Chairman of the Board of the Company with effect from
1st June, 2012. He is also the Chairman of the Company’s Nomination
Committee and the Investment Committee. He was re-designated as a
non-executive Director and the Chairman of the Board of the Company
on 31st January, 2019. He was appointed as a Director and the General
Manager of China Resources Gas Group Limited in February 2007. He
is currently a Deputy General Manager of China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited. Mr. WANG joined China Resources Petrochems
(Group) Company Limited in 1985 and was previously its Director and
Deputy General Manager. He has over 36 years of corporate management
experience in the area of petroleum and related products trading and
distribution and holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Science majoring in
Petroleum Refining from the China University of Petroleum and a Master
of Business Administration Degree from the University of Texas, USA.
On 27th March, 2020, he served as non-executive director and chairman
of the board of directors of China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited.
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Mr. YANG Ping, aged 48, was appointed as an Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 23rd December, 2021,
and is also chairman of Corporate Governance Committee. Mr. YANG
was the Chief Representative of the Shanghai Representative Office of
China Resources Gas Group Limited from 2005 to 2011, the General
Manager of the Office & Administration Department of China Resources
Gas Group Limited from 2011 to 2012, the Vice General Manager of the
Wuhan Region and the General Manager of Wugang China Resources
Gas (Wuhan) Co., Ltd from 2012 to 2014, and the General Manager of the
Greater Hubei Area from 2014 to 2016. Mr. YANG was appointed as and
has been Vice President of China Resources Gas Group Limited since
December 2016, successively responsible for the operation of Central
China Region and Southwest areas. Mr. YANG graduated from Tongji
University and holds a Bachelor's Degree in Gas Profession.
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Mr. GE Bin, aged 58, was appointed as an Executive Director and Vice
Chairman of the Company on 20th February, 2014. He is responsible
for customer service and gas business in the Greater Area of Shanghai,
Jiangsu, Fujian, Hunan and Hubei. Mr. GE joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in September 1996 and has been with China
Resources Gas Group Limited since September 2007 and held former
positions as Assistant General Manager, Deputy General Manager, Senior
Vice President. Mr. GE holds a Master’'s Degree in Engineering from
Nanjing Tech University, and holds a senior economist qualification.
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Mr. WANG Gaoqiang, aged 53, was appointed as a Non-executive Director
of the Company on 15th September 2021, and is also a member of the
Investment Committee of the Company. From March 2020 to August 2021,
he served as the Deputy General Manager of the Audit Department of China
Resources Group; from February 2012 to February 2020, he served as the
Vice President and Chief Audit Officer of China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited; from August 2002 to January 2012, he successively served
as the Senior Manager and Deputy Chief Officer of the Audit & Supervision
Department of China Resources Group; from March 2000 to July 2002, he
served as the Manager of the Audit Department of China Resources Logistics
Co. Limited; from August 1992 to February 2000, he successively served as
the deputy chief officer and manager of the Finance Department of China
Resources National Corporation. Mr. WANG has nearly 30 years’ experience
in corporate finance, internal audit, internal control, risk management and
corporate governance. Mr. WANG holds a bachelor’'s degree of economics
from the Guangdong University of Foreign Studies, and has obtained the
International Certified Internal Auditor qualification and the PRC Accountant
qualification.
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Mr. LIU Xiaoyong, aged 59, was appointed as a Non-executive Director

2RELE of the Company on 15th September 2021, and is also a member of the
Mr. LIU Xiaoyong Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Company. He joined China
Resources Capital Holdings Company Limited in 2015 as the General
Manager. He was appointed as the Chairman of China Resources Bank
of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. and CR Asset Management Company Limited in 2016
as well as the Chairman of China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. in
2017. Mr. LIU joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in
2019 as the senior Deputy General Manager of the Strategy Management
Department. Prior to joining China Resources, Mr. LIU worked in the
Head Office of the People’s Bank of China, the Regulation Department
of the China Banking Regulatory Commission and the Shanxi Office of
the China Banking Regulatory Commission, etc. Mr. LIU holds a master’s
degree of international finance and a Ph.D. of monetary banking from the
PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua University, an EMBA degree from the
Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business and a post-doctor of applied
economics from the Guanghua School of Management, Peking University.
He has extensive experience in finance and corporate management.
Since 8th October 2021, he has served as a non-executive director of
China Resources Land Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1109).
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Mr. LIU Jian, aged 61, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of
the Company on 15th September 2021, and is also a member of the
Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Company. He joined
China Resources Group in July 1986. He successively worked in China
Resources Textiles (Holdings) Company Limited and China Resources
Environmental Protection Technology Limited (FEERERIFEAR AT
and was responsible for sales and procurement management of such
two companies. He graduated from the Guangdong University of Foreign
Studies, majoring in imports and exports. He has rich experience in
international trade and sales.
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Mr. WONG Tak Shing, aged 71, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in 1998. He is the Chairman of the
Company’s Remuneration Committee and members of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee, Nomination Committee, Investment Committee
and Corporate Governance Committee. Mr. WONG involves in various
professional appointments and public duties, including Member of Probate
Committee of the Law Society of Hong Kong and Member of Working Party
on Charities and Trust of the Law Society of Hong Kong (2011-2018). He
was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong in 1984, a
solicitor of England & Wales and Australia respectively in 1989, a solicitor
of Singapore in 1995 and was appointed as a China-Appointed Attesting
Officer with effect from 18th January, 2003 and full member (TEP) of the
Society of Trust and Estate Practitioners (STEP) with effect from 12th
February, 2010. Mr. WONG has been in private practice in Hong Kong
for over 30 years. From 1984 to 1987, he worked as an assistant solicitor
with two local law firms in Hong Kong before setting up his own practice
in 1987. Mr. WONG holds a Master's Degree in Laws from the Peking
University of China and a Master's Degree in Laws from the University of
London of England.
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Mr. YU Hon To, David, aged 73, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company on 28th December, 2012. Mr. YU is
a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has extensive experience in the fields of auditing,
corporate finance, financial investigation and corporate management. He
was formerly a partner of an international accounting firm. He is currently
a non-executive director of Haier Smart Home Co., Ltd., which is listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange — (stock code: 600690SH) and on the Main
Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange Limited (stock code: 6690) and
an independent non-executive director of Keck Seng Investments (Hong
Kong) Limited (stock code: 184), One Media Group Limited (stock code:
426), MS Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1451) and Playmates
Toys Limited (stock code: 869). In the past 3 years, Mr. YU served as
an independent non-executive director of Haier Electronics Group Co.,
Limited (stock code: 1169 now privatised) Media Chinese International
Limited (stock code: 685), China Renewable Energy Investment Limited
(stock code: 987), New Century Asset Management Limited (stock code:
1275 now privatised), and Playmates Holdings Limited (stock code: 635),
all of which are listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

EMARERERAT —B-—FER

35



36

EENEREEAEREE

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

BEII%E
Mr. YANG Yuchuan

BEINEE  BFA+NAE R \FN\AEZTABIIENTE
T ERHERAKREES  REZESROCETARZEENE - BEEAR
BERMERERBELRE EABSFBRABTRAE  HERBLCES
X BERARMNBEERNEE RemTEAUYELER - HAEL Tt
LIEHEEIZERER AR (BB ETAR - BRHAS - 0509) #HiTE
% - TTG Fintech Limited CRMBERZ S EmAE - BRHMRSE : TUP) 3E
WITES  BAFHFERAFADMTEETRGALEEETE (B8) BRART
BAAE - BhEEFHAPE IR BAEBESL BRI -FNTABIFE
IERE BT o

Mr. YANG Yuchuan, aged 58, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director and a member of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company in August 2018. Mr. YANG
is the Guest Professor of Hong Kong Financial Services Institute, the
chief executive and chief macro economist of Prime China Securities
Limited, responsible for the day-to-day management and operation of
the company. He has extensive experience in financial industry. Mr.
YANG was an executive director of Century Sunshine Group Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock
code: 0509); a non-executive director of TTG Fintech Limited, a
company listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (stock code:
TUP); an executive director of Partners Capital Securities Limited and
the chief executive of Sunshine Asset Management (HK) Limited. Mr.
YANG holds a bachelor's degree from Shanghai Jiao Tong University
in the PRC and a master's degree of business administration from
University of San Francisco in the United States of America.
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Mr. HU Xiaoyong, aged 57, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company in January 2019. He was appointed as the Chairman and an
executive director of Beijing Enterprises Clean Energy Group Limited
(Stock code: 1250) (“BECE”) in May 2015 and he acted as a joint
chairman of the board of BECE in July 2021. Mr. HU graduated from
the Tsinghua University with an executive master degree of business
administration. He has approximately over 25 years’ experience in
business management. From 2001 to 2013, Mr. HU worked with A%}
BIRREBEER AT (Zhong Ke Cheng Environment Protection Group
Company Limited*) as chairman. During the period from August 2008 to
March 2016, he was an executive director and the chief executive officer
of Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited (Stock code: 371) (“BEWG”).
He has been appointed as the honorary chairman of BEWG since March
2016. During the period from September 2014 to October 2018, he was
an executive director of Beijing Health (Holdings) Limited (formerly known
as Beijing Enterprises Medical and Health Industry Group Limited) (Stock
code: 2389), shares of which are listed on the main board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhu Likun, aged 55, was appointed as a Senior Vice President
of China Resources Gas Group Limited in February 2014, responsible
for operation and safety work. Mr. Zhu holds a Bachelor's Degree
majoring in Petro-chemical Industry Automation from the Nanjing
University of Chemical Technology (currently known as Nanjing
University of Technology), a Master’s Degree majoring in International
Economics from the Soochow University, and a Senior Engineer
qualification. He joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited
in August 2003.

Mr. Huang Weizhong, aged 56, was appointed as a Vice President of
China Resources Gas Group Limited in September 2007, responsible
for investment and legal affairs. Mr. Huang holds a Master's Degree
majoring in International Finance from the Fudan University and
licenses to practice as a lawyer and an engineer. He joined China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in March 2000 and has been
working for China Resources Gas Group Limited since March 2007.

Mr. Yin Xiaojun, aged 48, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas Group Limited in March 2012, responsible for operation
and management of Northern Region. He served as various posts in
Suzhou Xin Qu Gas Corporation (/1T [& A% 2 F]) from 1996 to 2003,
including Scheduling, Engineering Design, Pipelines Deputy Director,
Business Deputy Director, Deputy Director of the Chief Engineer Office,
Workshop Director and Production Chief Director, he also served as
Assistant General Manager in Suzhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.
from 2003 to 2005, Executive Deputy General Manager of Chengdu
City Gas Co., Ltd. from 2005 to 2009 and General Manager of Kunming
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2009 to 2011. Mr. Yin graduated
from Tongji University and holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Gas Profession.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Lu Hong, aged 51, was appointed as Vice President of
China Resources Gas Group Limited in March 2012, successively
responsible for operation and management of Southeast Region
and Central and Western Region. Mr. Lu holds a Bachelor's Degree
in Commercial Enterprise Management from Tianjin University
of Commerce. He served at various posts (from staff member to
Executive Deputy General Manager) in Beijing Jinye Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (JtR&ZFHE) from 1993 to 2000, Chairman
of Fuzhou Jingyou New Building Materials Co., Ltd. (f&8/Nm A E
MABMRAR]) from 2000 to 2004, and various posts (from staff member
to Deputy General Manager) in Fujian Anran Gas Co., Ltd. ({8 2%
SRR ABRAR]) from 2004 to 2007. He served as General Manager
of Yueyang China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. and Qianjiang China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2007 to 2008, General Manager of
Kunming China Resources Gas Co. Ltd. from 2008 to 2009, General
Manager of Fuzhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. since 2009,
General Manager of Greater Fujian Area since 2011, and Acting
General Manager of Xiamen China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. since May
2015.

Mr. Li Joshua, aged 43, was appointed as Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer of China Resources Gas Group Limited on
28th December, 2020, and responsible for financial management.
He served as Vice Manager of Investment Department of China
Resources Gas Group Limited from 2007 to 2009, Vice General
Manager of Investment Department of China Resources Gas Group
Limited from 2009 to 2012, General Manager of Audit & Supervision
Department of China Resources Gas Group Limited from 2012 to
2015, General Manager of Financial Department of China Resources
Gas Group Limited from 2015 to 2016, and Assistant President of
China Resources Gas Group Limited from 2016 to 2020.

Mr. Che Dechen, aged 47, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas Group Limited on 28th December, 2020, and he
also serves as the General Manager of EEMAEERMHERLAF].
He served as General Manager of EBZEMKEHRRAEfrom 2006
to 2011, General Manager of #H (FR) MR IEAFR AR from 2011
to 2013, General Manager of Chengdu City Gas Co., Ltd. from 2013
to 2014, Executive General Manager of Sichuan Region of China
Resources Gas Group Limited from 2014 to 2020, and also served as
Assistant President of China Resources Gas Group Limited from 2016
to 2020.
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Mr. Xiao Zhonghua, aged 50, was appointed as the Vice President
of China Resources Gas Group Limited on 28th December, 2020.
He is responsible for discipline management. He successively
served as the Assistant General Manager of the Human Resources
Department of China Resources Gas Group Limited from 2007 to
2011, the Assistant General Manager of the Office & Administration
Department of China Resources Gas Group Limited from 2011 to
2012, the Deputy General Manager of the Office & Administration
Department of China Resources Gas Group Limited from 2012 to
2013, the General Manager of the Office & Administration Department
of China Resources Gas Group Limited from 2013 to 2015, a member
of the Disciplinary Committee and the General Manager of the Office
& Administration Department of China Resources Gas Group Limited
from 2015 to 2018 and the Assistant President of China Resources
Gas Group Limited from 2018 to 2020.

Ms. Qin Yan, aged 44, was appointed as the Vice President of China
Resources Gas Group Limited on 22nd October 2021, responsible for
the operation and management of East China Region. She served as
the chief financial officer of China Resources (Nanjing) Gas Co., Ltd.
(FAREBMRABR2AR) from 2008 to 2014, the general manager of
Huaibei China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. (EItZEBEMRAER A7) from
2014 to 2017, the deputy general manager of East China Region and
general manager of Zhenjiang China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. (##T
EHMRRARAT) from 2018 to 2019, and the assistant president of
China Resources Gas Group Limited from 2019 to 2021.

Mr. Li Xuesong, aged 52, was appointed as the Vice President
of China Resources Gas Group Limited on 31st January 2021,
responsible for the operation and management of South China
Region, and the general manager of Gas Source Department of China
Resources Gas Group Limited. He served as the general manager of
Zhongshan Public Utility Gas Company Limited (I AFARRER Q)
from 2008 to 2014, the general manager of Jiangmen China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd. (TPIEBBI AR AR from 2014 to 2017, and the
deputy general manager of South China Region, China Resources Gas
Group Limited from 2017 to 2020.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Group is dedicated to maintaining a good credible framework
of corporate governance with a view to being transparent, open and
accountable to its shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company has adopted the mandatory provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules. In line with the mandatory provisions of the Code, the Company
adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook (the “Handbook”) on
23rd December, 2005 and subsequently updated it in 2008, 2009,
2010, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2018 respectively. The
contents of the Handbook include, among others, directors’ duties,
model code for directors’ transactions in securities, model code for
securities transactions by relevant employees, the functions and
terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Management, Remuneration,
Nomination, Investment and Corporate Governance Committees,
disclosure of information, communication with shareholders,
procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director and Board diversity policy. All the mandatory provisions under
the Code have been adopted and reflected in the Handbook. The
Company has throughout the year complied with the then effective
mandatory provisions of the Code except for the deviation from the
code provisions D.1.4 and E.1.2 which is explained as follows:
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Under the code provision D.1.4, the Company should have formal
letters of appointment for directors setting out the key terms and
conditions of their appointment. The Company did not have formal
letters of appointment for Directors. However, the Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in
accordance with the Bye-Laws. In addition, the Directors are required
to refer to the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties”
issued by the Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors”
and “Guide for Independent Non-executive Directors” (if applicable)
published by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in performing their
duties and responsibilities as directors of the Company. Besides,
the Directors are required to comply with the requirements under
statute and common law, the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory
requirements and the Company’s business and governance policies.

Under the code provision E.1.2, the chairman of the board should
attend the annual general meeting. The Chairman of the Board was
unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on
21st May, 2021 due to other official duties.

Save as mentioned above and in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company has met the code provisions set out in the Code throughout
the year.

THE BOARD

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of two
Executive Directors, four Non-executive Directors and four
Independent Non-executive Directors, one of whom namely Mr. YU
Hon To, David has the appropriate professional accounting experience
and expertise as required under the Listing Rules. The names and
biographical details of each Director are disclosed on pages 29 to 37
of this annual report.
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Corporate Governance Report

Each Independent Non-executive Director has, pursuant to the
guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, confirmed that
he is independent of the Company and the Company also considers
that they are independent. The term of office of each Non-executive
Director, including Independent Non-executive Director, is for a
period of three years subject to the requirement that one-third of all
the Directors shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general
meeting pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company. The relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship), if any, among members of the Board are disclosed in
this annual report. There is no such relationship between the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer.

FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is managed and
the Company’s direction. Approval of the Board is required for the
strategy of the Group, yearly budget, major acquisition and disposal,
major capital investment, dividend policy, appointment and removal
of Directors and senior management, remuneration policy and other
major operational, financial, risk management and internal control
matters. Day-to-day operations of the Group are the responsibility of
the Company’s management.
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In 2021, the Board passed 4 written resolutions by all members of
the Board dated 28th January, 2021, 24th May, 2021, 4th November,
2021 and 29th December, 2022, respectively to review and approve 4
management proposals.

The Board held regular meetings during 2021. Details of individual
attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

Z%--%  Zg--f  Z¥--f ZR--f ZEC-F ZRC-f ZRT-f ZEC-E ZEC-f
=L ZR=tAR ~A=t-B tAt~B NABtRE NAZtR AARTER AA=tH tZATZBE tZAZtZA
26th 21st 16th 16th 20th 15th 30th 13th 23rd
March, June, July, August, August, ~September, ~September,  December,  December,
Date 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021
HiES Executive Directors
Bl Mr. GE Bin | | | | 0 | | | |
PELEE(R-T-—%  Mr. SHI Baofeng (Resigned on | 0 | J | N | NJA N/A
NAZTHEE) 30th September, 2021)
BRRE(N-2--%F Mr. YANG Ping (Appointed on N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
TZAZTZREZA) 23rd December, 2021)
FurEs Non-executive
Directors
TEREA Mr. WANG Chuandong | 0 | | | | | | |
REGE(R-Z--F Mr. CHEN Ying (Resigned on 0 0 0 0 0 | N/A N/A N/A
AATRAEA) 15th September, 2021)
IBEE(R-E--& Mr. WANG Yan (Resigned on I 0 0 | | | N/A NJA N/A
AATRART) 15th September, 2021)
BERTL(R=F=—F  Madam WAN Suet Fei (Resigned on | 0 | | 0 | N/A N/A N/A
NATRAEHT) 15th September, 2021)
FHERE(R-5--F Mr. JING Shiging (Retired on 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
RAZT-BEA) 215t May, 2021)
IEREE(RZE=-F  Mr. WANG Gaogiang (Appointed on N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A | | |
NATEREZM) 15th September, 2021)
BBELE(R=F=—F  Mr.LIU Xiaoyong (Appointed on N/A N/A NJA N/A NA N/A i | {
nA+RBEER) 15th September, 2021)
BEsE(RoTo-F Mr. LIU Jian (Appoinied on N/A N/A N/A N/A NJA N/A i | |
NATRREZE) 15th September, 2021)
BUkHTES Independent Non-
executive Directors
B3 Mr. WONG Tk Shing | | | | | | | | 0
AERRE Mr. YU Hon To, David { | | | | | | | |
BElI%E Mr. YANG Yuchuan { | | V | | | / |
RELE Mr. HU Xiaoyong I | | | | | | 0 |
st (MERAR TXER) Remarks (also applicable to the tables set out below)
V= HE \ = attended
O = & O = didn't attend
N/A = TiEA N/A = not applicable
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The Company held one general meeting during 2021. Details of

individual attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

HE
Date

—EgE-—F
EA=+-H
21st May, 2021

BITES
Bivxt
SEELE (RZTE-—FNLAZTHED)

FHTES

FEREE

REXE (R=Z=—FNA+ABET)
FTEHRE (RZZEZ—FAATHART)
BERZE (R-_Z-—FAA+RABHE)
StHEEE (R_ZE-—FRA-T—RHEM)

BYFHTES
BEEBEE
ANEE A
BENEE
B

Executive Directors
Mr. GE Bin
Mr. SHI Baofeng (Resigned on 30th September 2021)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. WANG Chuandong

Mr. CHEN Ying (Resigned on 15th September 2021)

Mr. WANG Yan (Resigned on 15th September 2021)
Madam WAN Suet Fei (Resigned on 15th September 2021)
Mr. JING Shiging (Retired on 21st May 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Mr. YU Hon To, David

Mr. YANG Yuchuan

Mr. HU Xiaoyong

<_

O O O OO

O O <. <=
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In 2021, the chairman has held a meeting with the independent non-

executive directors of the Company without the presence of other

directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) on 23rd
August, 2013. A summary of this Policy, together with the measurable
objectives set for implementing this Policy, and the progress made
towards achieving those objectives are disclosed as below.

Summary of the Policy

The Company sees diversity at Board level as an essential element in
maintaining a competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include
and make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry
experience, background, gender and other qualities of the members
of the Board. These differences will be considered in determining
the optimum composition of the Board and when possible should be
balanced appropriately. All Board appointments are made on merit, in
the content of the skills and experience the Board as a whole requires
to be effective.
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Measurable Objectives

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually all
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given time, the
Board may seek to improve one or more aspects of its diversity
and measure progress accordingly. For the year under review, no
measurable objective was set by the Nomination Committee.

Implementation

As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition under major
diversified perspectives was summarised as follows:

]l
Gender

&k
Ethnicity

Fera |

Age Group 40-49.(1)

ARTS 50

Year of Service

EEIN

50-59 (6) 60-69 (1)

Number of 1 >
Directors

5159

ARRBEAEEE2EBETERRIU
RELEHECHMBARE SRR
FNEEBRIBELTRARAEENEE
FORRBEEES| - AR ETRE R EME
AEERERMERNBEEN TERM
TEF UERARUERESHRELURT
TEERNEE

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each
newly appointed Director would receive the guides covering the
statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company.
The relevant updates on the latest developments regarding the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements are also
provided to the Directors in order to ensure compliance and raise their
concerns on good corporate governance.
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Participation of Directors in continuous professional development

during the year is as follows:

EZEI - LEW
HE g8k H® REBHEEER
WERRAEE - REARAFR
28 kR HAERA HEBHNER
Reading
Receiving training; regulatory
attending and/or updates or
giving talks at information
seminars, relevant to
conference the Company or
and/or forums its business
HITES Executive Directors
Bk Mr. GE Bin v v
SEEEE (R -—F Mr. SHI Baofeng (Resigned on N/A N/A
NA=+HEE) 30th September, 2021)
BEEE(RZTE=_—F Mr. YANG Ping (Appointed on N v
+-—A-+=HEZT) 23rd December, 2021)
FHITES Non-executive Directors
TEREE Mr. WANG Chuandong N J
BRESE (RZT=—F Mr. CHEN Ying (Resigned on N/A N/A
hA+HRBEET) 15th September, 2021)
FELEE(RZZ=_—%F Mr. WANG Yan (Resigned on N/A N/A
hA+HEBEBET) 15th September, 2021)
BERZET (RZTZ—F Madam WAN Suet Fei (Resigned on N/A N/A
HhA+HBET) 15th September, 2021)
StEEE(RZT=—F Mr. JING Shiging (Retired on N/A N/A
AAZ+—RHIEM) 21st May, 2021)
FRdiE (RZTEZ—F Mr. WANG Gaogiang (Appointed on N v
NA+HBEZE) 15th September, 2021)
BEELEE (R =—F Mr. LIU Xiaoyong (Appointed on N V
NA+HEBEZE) 15th September, 2021)
BREE (RZEZ—F Mr. LIU Jian (Appointed on N V
hA+EBEZE) 15th September, 2021)
BYkHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
=IFHEE Mr. WONG Tak Shing \ V
ENEE S AE Mr. YU Hon To, David V N
BEILAE Mr. YANG Yuchuan N \V
BB LA Mr. HU Xiaoyong N v
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CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

As at the date of this annual report, the Chairman of the Board is
Mr. WANG Chuandong while Mr. YANG Ping is the Chief Executive
Officer. The Chairman provides leadership to the Board and formulate,
together with the Board, the business strategies and long-term
objectives of the Company whilst the Chief Executive Officer
carries out the decisions made by the Board and is in charge of the
Company’s day-to-day management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its expertise,
as at the date of this annual report, there are five committees
namely, the Audit and Risk Management, Remuneration, Nomination,
Investment and Corporate Governance Committees under the Board,
with each performing different functions.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit and Risk Management
Committee comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. YU Hon To, David (Chairman), Mr. WONG Tak Shing and
Mr. YANG Yuchuan and two Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. LIU
Xiaoyong and Mr. LIU Jian. The Committee’s role is to provide an
independent and objective review of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, internal control, risk management as well as
internal audit function of the Group. Its functions broadly fall into the
following three main areas:

° make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of external auditor
and any matters related to the resignation or dismissal of external
auditor;

° review the financial statements of the Company’s annual and
half-year reports and accounts;

° oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, internal
controls and risk management systems.

The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Management Committee
have been uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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During 2021 and up to the date of this annual report, the Audit and
Risk Management Committee has reviewed the financial statements
and yearly results announcement for 2020, and those for the
half-yearly results and yearly results for 2021. These include the
review of the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices;
the review of the continuing connected transactions of the Company
conducted in 2020 and 2021;

reports prepared by the Company’s Audit Division.

and the review of the internal audit

The Audit and Risk Management Committee has held three meetings

REH - TREVSKENERLEER during 2021. Details of individual attendance of its members are set
out in the table below:
IR HE

Chairman Members
IBsE BERLL AmERE g2 54
(W=B=-F (RZB=-F% (W=B=-fF (RZB=-F%
hATER hATER hATER hATER
MEELLE EBRLLE B B BEI%E BZE) BZE)

Madam WAN Mr. LIU
Mr. WANG Yan Suet Fei Xiaoyong ~ Mr. LIU Jian
(Resigned (Resigned (Appointed (Appointed
on 15th on 15th on 15th on 15th
Mr. YU Hon Mr. WONG September, September, Mr. YANG September, September,
R Date To, David Tak Shing 2021) 2021) Yuchuan 2021) 2021)
“E2--FZATNR 19th March, 2021 | | 0 | | N/A N/A
ZZ--7\Rt+ZH 12th August, 2021 | | | | | N/A N/A
ZEZ-f+Zh+=H 13th December, 2021 | | N/A N/A | | J
FMEES Remuneration Committee

FZEENERREREERRIESER

SREEANB R H N AR B
RENEHE R H R EF SR AT

RATEAIETE -

BIEED

3 URBREERSRERABMNELSE

FHZEeREREED LHE

NGIE DA

MAFHREH

ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬂ%%i (ER%)
HRRE B S AL AR o

RN SIPNEN

FEESm =B IEH
ANEE A K

The role and main function of the Remuneration Committee is to
determine and review the compensation and benefit policy of Directors
and senior management, including but not limited to bonus plan,
Incentive Award Scheme and other long term incentive plan, as well
as bonus allocation and salary adjustment of each Director and senior

management.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr.
WONG Tak Shing (Chairman), Mr. YU Hon To, David and Mr. HU
Xiaoyong.
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During 2021, the Remuneration Committee held three meetings
to review and determine related bonus and compensation of the
Executive Directors and senior management. Details of individual
attendance of its members are set out in the table below:

£ K&
Chairman Members

StEEE
(R=B=-%
ERBAE MEEEE mEERE RAZT-REMR)
Mr. JING Shiging
(Retired on
A Date Mr. WONG Tak Shing ~ Mr. YU Hon To, David  Mr. YU Hon To, David 21st May, 2021)
ZE--%\A=ttA 27th August, 2021 | | V N/A
ZZ2--FnRThA 15th September, 2021 y Y | N/A
R+ AZt=R 23rd December, 2021 y Y | N/A
REBEZ_TEZ—F+_A=+—HLEFE " For the year ended 31st December, 2021, the remuneration of the

SREBABRBEZ S 2 HMEINOT members of the senior management by band is set out below:

FMERE (Bx)

A

Remuneration band (HKD) Number of persons

0% 7% 1,000,000/ 7T

1,000,001/87T % 1,500,000/ 7T
1,500,001/ 7T % 2,000,000/ 7T
2,000,001/ 7L% 2,500,000/ 7T
2,500,001/ 7L % 3,000,000/ 7T
3,000,001/ 7L % 3,500,000/ 7T
3,500,001/ 7% 4,000,000/ 7T
4,000,001/&7C% 4,500,000/ 7T
4,500,001&7C%5,000,00078 7T
5,000,001 %5,500,000/8 7T

HKDO to HKD 1,000,000

HKD1,000,001 to HKD 1,500,000
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000
HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000
HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000
HKD3,000,001 to HKD3,500,000
HKD3,500,001 to HKD4,000,000
HKD4,000,001 to HKD4,500,000
HKD4,500,001 to HKD5,000,000
HKD5,000,001 to HKD5,500,000

S~ MM A2 O 00O

FHEEHE R ARRSHFALTZESF
B BERLETRAMBI6 ZHEE T AR
B WHENRE MBI -

REEES
RAZEBENIEREARTEETSRE
KAk - AR ERIER AL HEES
MEESRHEEBEE -

Further particulars regarding the directors’ emoluments and the
five highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant
to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The role and main function of the Nomination Committee is to
review the structure and composition of the Board, and to make
recommendation to the Board on the selection of individual nominated
for directorships.
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The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been
uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee
comprises of one Non-executive Director namely Mr. WANG Chuandong
(Chairman), and three Independent Non-executive Directors namely
Mr. WONG Tak Shing, Mr. YU Hon To, David and Mr. YANG Yuchuan.

The selection criteria for Directors is that the candidate(s) must have
substantial experience in business relevant to the Company or in
corporate management, or in relevant profession and must be able to
contribute effectively to the objectives of the Company. In identifying
suitable candidates for appointment to the Board, the Nomination
Committee will consider candidates on merit against objective criteria
and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Any
committee member may propose suitable candidates for directorship
for discussion and approval by the Nomination Committee, after which
the Board will consider and, if proper, approve such nomination.
Directors thus selected is subject to re-election by shareholders of the
Company in the next general meeting or next annual general meeting,
as appropriate, according to the Bye-laws of the Company.

During 2021, the Nomination Committee passed 1 written resolution by
all members of the Nomination Committee dated 26th March, 2021 to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board.

?E%é%ﬁ%*fifﬁgﬁiﬁﬁﬁb’lgﬁ"T The Nomination Committee has hold two meetings during 2021.
FEHIEKEHNER L FEE Details of the individual attendance of its members are set out in the
table below:
IR HE
Chairman Members

TEREE EEBLE MEELE BE)I%4E

Mr. WANG Mr. WONG Mr. YU Hon Mr.YANG
R Date Chuandong Tak Shing To, David Yuchuan
“E--FNR+HA 15th September, 2021 | | " |
“RC-FTCAZt=H 23rd December, 2021 | | | |
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Nomination Policy

Nomination policy aims to ensure that the board of directors of the

Company (the “Board”) has a balance of skills, experience, knowledge

and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the

Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and recommend

candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by giving due consideration

to criteria including but not limited to (collectively, the “Criteria”):

(b)

()

Diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service;

Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of
available time and relevant interest;

Accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries in
which the Company’s business is involved and other professional
qualifications;

Reputation for integrity;

Potential contributions that the individual(s) can bring to the
Board; and

Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The above Criteria are for reference only, and not meant to be

exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion

to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.
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The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend retiring
Director(s) to the Board for re-appointment by giving due
consideration to the criteria including but not limited to:

(a) The overall contribution and service of the retiring Director(s)
to the Company, including but not limited to the attendance
of the meetings of the Board and/or its committees and
general meetings where applicable, in addition to the level
of participation and performance on the Board and/or its
committees; and

(b) Whether the retiring Director(s) continue(s) to satisfy the Criteria.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend candidate(s)
for the position(s) of the independent non-executive directors of the
Company by giving due consideration to the factors including but
not limited to those set out in Rules 3.10(2) and 3.13 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, subject to any amendments as may be made from time
to time, in addition to the Criteria.

Procedures and Process for Nomination of Directors

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment of a Director in accordance with the following procedures
and process:

(a) The Nomination Committee may consult any source it deems
appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable candidates,
such as referrals from existing Directors, advertising,
recommendations from third-party agency firm and proposals
from shareholders of the Company with due consideration given
to the Criteria;

(b) The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it deems
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates, such
as interviews, background checks, presentations and third party
reference checks;

(c) The proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information and biography for the Nomination
Committee’s consideration. The Nomination Committee may
request the candidate(s) to provide additional information and
documents, if considered necessary;
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(d) Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the
Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of
written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the recommendation
to the Board for appointment;

(e) The Nomination Committee will provide the relevant information
of the selected candidate to the remuneration committee of the
Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) for consideration of
remuneration package of such selected candidate;

() The Nomination Committee will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board in relation to the proposed
appointment, and where a non-executive Director is considered,
the Remuneration Committee will make the recommendation to
the Board on the proposed remuneration package;

(g9) The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be
interviewed by the members of the Board who are not members
of the Nomination Committee and the Board will thereafter
deliberate and decide the appointment as the case may be; and

(h) All appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing of the
prescribed form with the Companies Registry of Hong Kong and
updating (and, if necessary, filing) of the Register of Directors of
the Company.

Investment Committee

The role and main function of the Investment Committee is to assist
the Board in making investment decisions (including acquisition or
divestment opportunity) within the investment threshold of US$8 million
to US$20 million or other thresholds as authorised by the Board from
time to time.

The terms of reference of the Investment Committee have been
uploaded to the website of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Investment Committee
comprises of two Non-executive Directors namely Mr. WANG
Chuandong (Chairman) and Mr. WANG Gaogiang, and one
Independent Non-executive Director namely Mr. WONG Tak Shing.
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During 2021, the Investment Committee passed 1 written resolution by
all members of the Investment Committee dated 9th August, 2021 to
review and approve 1 investment proposal.

Corporate Governance Committee

The role and main function of the Corporate Governance Committee
is to assist the Board in developing and reviewing the policies and
practices on corporate governance which are applicable to the Group
and making recommendations to the Board.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee have
been uploaded to the website of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Corporate Governance
Committee comprises of two Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. WONG Tak Shing and Mr. YANG Yuchuan, and one
Executive Director namely Mr. YANG Ping (Chairman).

The Corporate Governance Committee did not hold any meeting
during 2021.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility of maintaining an effective risk
management and internal control system to provide reasonable, though
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives.

The Board, through the Audit and Risk Management Committee,
conducts annual review of the effectiveness of the Company’s systems
of risk management and internal control covering all material controls,
including financial controls, internal control and risk management
systems.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee considers the major
investigation findings on risk management and internal control matter
as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management’s
response to these findings.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee also considers the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the
Company’s accounting, financial reporting and internal audit
functions, and their training programmes and budget. With respect
to procedures and internal controls for handling and dissemination
of inside information, the Company has set out written policies and
procedures in relation to the handling of inside information, including
but not limited to measures to ensure compliance of disclosure
requirement.

The Internal Audit Division assists the Audit and Risk Management
Committee to review the effectiveness of such risk management and
internal control system in operation. The Division regularly carries out
internal audit and other related audit reviews and reports its findings
and suggestions for improvement on better internal controls to the
Audit and Risk Management Committee for their consideration. During
the year, the Internal Audit Division also conducted reviews of key risk
management system of the Company. Its findings were reported to the
Audit and Risk Management Committee for consideration and would
form the basis for further improvement in the future. Inspections and
risk assessments were carried out in key risk areas such as operation
environment (concession rights availability and their protection,
pipeline infrastructure bottlenecks, strategy execution hurdles, etc);
financial management (cash custody and management, payment
approval process, receivables management, accounting policy
adherence, etc); safety management (pipeline infrastructure inspection
and maintenance process, safety system and related safety incident
reporting structure, etc); engineering and construction management
(tender process reviews, project management procedures and
practice); key materials procurement (vendor and materials
qualification process, tendering and quality control processes, etc).

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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In addition, internal audit division also closely follows up on corrective
actions by all business units on their self-inspections of key risk areas.

Based on the results of the annual review, the Board is satisfied with
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control system
currently put in place for the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct in relation to Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
the Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. The statement by the Auditor
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 91
to 92.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company appointed Ernst & Young as independent auditor during
the year. The remuneration for services provided during the year to
the Company’s Auditor includes:

—E-—F

2021

FET

Fri2 PR 7% Services rendered HK$’ 000
FET R Audit services 13,133
SEEATRTS « RHREEER Non-audit services for: Interim results review 1,446
&t Total 14,579
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Lo Chi Lik Peter, is a practicing solicitor
in Hong Kong. Mr. Lo, aged 72, was appointed as the Company
Secretary with effect from 1st September, 2017. He qualified as a
solicitor in Hong Kong in 1976 and has been in continuous practice
since qualification. During the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 March
2022, Mr. Lo was a partner of Messrs. Woo, Kwan, Lee & Lo. With
effect from 1 April 2022, he ceased to be a partner but remained with
the firm as a consultant. Although Mr. Lo is not a full time employee of
the Company, he reports to the Board and in his capacity as Company
Secretary advises the Board on governance matters. The primary
contact person of the Company with Mr. Lo is Mr. Joshua Li, the Chief
Financial Officer. Mr. Lo confirmed that he had fulfilled the 15 hours of
Continuing Professional Development training required of a solicitor in
respect of 2021.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene special general meeting

In accordance with the Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (“Companies Act”), the shareholders of the Company holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
such of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall have the right to convene
a special general meeting of the Company. If the directors do not
within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists representing
more than one half of the total voting rights may themselves convene
a meeting.

The written requisition for the special general meeting can be lodged
at the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at Room 1901-02,
China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at a general
meeting

Pursuant to the Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, either
any number of the registered shareholders holding not less than
one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company (“Requisitionists”),
or not less than 100 of such registered shareholders, can request
the Company in writing to (a) give to shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and
(b) circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any general
meeting any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at that meeting.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
Requisitionists; and it must be deposited at the Registered Office
with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant
expenses, not less than six weeks before the meeting in case of a
requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week
before the meeting in the case of any other requisition. Provided that if
an AGM is called for a date six weeks or less after the requisition has
been deposited, the requisition though not deposited within the time
required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the
purposes thereof.

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director

Pursuant to bye-law 113 of the Bye-laws of the Company, the Company
may from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution elect, or
authorize the Directors to elect or appoint, any person to be a Director
either to fill a vacancy or to act as an additional Director up to the
maximum number of Directors determined by the members in general
meeting.

Pursuant to bye-law 115 of the Bye-laws of the Company, no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the
Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director
at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to
propose that person for election as a Director and notice in writing by
that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been given to
the Company provided that the minimum length of the period, during
which such notices are given, shall be at least seven days. The period
for lodgment of such notices will commence no earlier than the day
after the dispatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
meeting.

The detailed procedures regarding the election are published on the
Company’s website under Corporate Governance section.
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Investor Relations

The Company has always recognised the importance of investor
relations activities, as it believes that effective communication with
shareholders and investors is very important to help investors to gain a
better understanding about the Company’s business performance and
strategies.

In 2021, we hosted different types of activities through which
shareholders and investors have increased their understanding about
the Company. During the year, the Company met with more than 1,300
fund managers and analysts by means of investor seminars, advisory
meetings and telephone conferences to introduce the Company’s
operating results, development strategies and business updates.

The Company welcomes any suggestions and participation of
shareholders and investors. Any enquiries and suggestions may
be made by letter, telephone, fax or email to the Investor Relations
Department of the Company according to the contact information set
out below:

China Resources Gas Group Limited
Room 1901-02, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

E-mail: crgas_IR@crcgas.com

Tel: 852-2593-8200

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries and joint ventures are set out in note 46 and
note 48 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the business of the Group during the year and discussion
on the Group’s prospects, the Group’s compliance with relevant
laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group,
relationships with its key stakeholders are provided in the Chairman’s
Statement on pages 2 to 11, Report from the Chief Executive Officer
on pages 12 to 21, Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 25
to 28, Corporate Governance Report on pages 41 to 60 and Directors’
Report on pages 61 to 84 of this annual report. Description of key risk
factors and uncertainties that the Group is facing is provided in the
Chairman’s Statement and Report from the Chief Executive Officer
and note 5 to the consolidated financial statements while the financial
risk management objectives and policies of the Group can be found
in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance
indicators is provided in Financial and Operational Highlights on
pages 22 to 24 of this annual report. The Group’s environmental
policies and performance and future prospects of the Group’s
business are provided in the Report from the Chief Executive Officer
on pages 12 to 21 and the Chairman’s Statement on pages 2 to 11 of
this annual report respectively.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2021
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 95 to 96.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 99 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders at
31st December, 2021, amounted to HK$8,004,756,000.

EMARERERAT —B-—FER

61



62

EEaRE
Directors’ Report

XIH‘H Hﬁ/%\
EERRERRSRERE SR 11280 -
ERER=-ZZBE-Z—F+ARNNFHEE
BRISEN  —EZ—FHNEAREDRAEE
127 (ZEZFF « R93EB) -

FRERERITNRERF KNS EI0#
% REPREBER-_ZE-_—_F+A+=H
AR -_E-—FHA-++HZINEQT
AL i

iR S BUR
ERZTFABRBIRNE  EFZGNEES
BT A g B

. ARBREMBRAR (R A%
) B R IREIB A

. BEREORE
. b = SESEINE 4

. ARBNRAEETBFEKEN
BERELADERES

. AEBZEBERLE - RADR
FER - PRt iR AR SR 0 B TS IR
HIFTBR 2 KF

. Ef A R _E# A 2 B [ B AR K
IR BHARE ZHERR AR
AURAS BB 2 BRI

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors have resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of 112 HK cents per share. Together with the interim dividend
of 15 HK cents per share paid in October 2021, total distribution for
2021 would thus be 127 HK cents per share (2020: 93 HK cents per
share).

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, the final dividend will be payable on 12th July, 2022
to shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on 27th May, 2022.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In proposing any dividend payment, the Board shall also take into
account the following criteria, including:

o the Company and its subsidiaries’ (collectively, the “Group”)
actual and expected financial performance;

° shareholders’ interests;
° general business conditions and strategies;
° retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company

and each of the other members of the Group;

° the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity
and financial covenants to which the Group is subject;

° any contractual restrictions on payment of dividends by the
Company to its shareholders or by the Company’s subsidiaries
to the Company;

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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o the Group's expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

. liquidity position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividend;

o taxation considerations;

. possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness;

o statutory and regulatory restrictions;

. general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s

business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company; and

o other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board may from time to time pay to the shareholders such interim
dividends subject to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and the
Bye-laws of the Company.

Except in the case of interim dividend, any dividends declared by the
Company must be approved by an ordinary resolution of shareholders
at an annual general meeting and must not exceed the amount
recommended by the Board.

Dividends may be distributed in the form of cash or shares subject to

and in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and the
Bye-laws of the Company.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
17th May, 2022 to Friday, 20th May, 2022, both days inclusive. In
order to determine the identity of members who are entitled to attend
and vote at the annual general meeting to be held on Friday, 20th
May, 2022, completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Secretaries Limited,
at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 16th May, 2022.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general meeting,
the proposed final dividend will be payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company after the
close of business at 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 27th May, 2022 and the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
26th May, 2022 to Friday, 27th May, 2022, both days inclusive, during
which no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order
to be entitled to the proposed final dividend, completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office,
Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 25th
May, 2022.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at the end of the year, the authorized share capital of the Company
was HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10
each, of which 2,314,012,871 shares had been issued and fully paid,
and the reserves of the Group was HK$41,025,514,000. Details of the
movements in the issued share capital of the Company are set out
in the section of Management Discussion and Analysis in this annual
report and note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

During 2021, the Company continued to make new acquisitions and
invested or paid HK$4.81 billion in 21 city gas projects. Most of these
projects are either wholly owned or majority owned by the Group.
As at 31st December, 2021, CR Gas portfolio included 266 city gas
projects and its footprint covered 22 Chinese provinces and included
3 direct administrative municipalities, 14 provincial capitals and 75
prefecture level cities.

GOING CONCERN

On the basis of current financial projections and facilities available,
the Group has adequate financial resources to continue its operation
for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the going concern basis
continues to be adopted in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31st
December, 2021 are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial periods is
set out on page 269 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in note
14 and note 15 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of the movements in the goodwill and operating rights of
the Group during the year are set out in note 20 and note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021, the aggregate turnover
attributable to the five largest customers accounted for less than 10%
of the Group'’s total turnover.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders
which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital has any interest in any of the Group’s five
largest customers or suppliers.

CHARITABLE DONATION

During the year, the Group made donations in cash and in various
forms of goods in the total amount of approximately HK$6,158,470
(2020: HK$7,748,160).

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. YANG Ping (Appointed on 23rd December, 2021)

Mr. SHI Baofeng (Resigned on 30th September, 2021)
Mr. GE Bin

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. WANG Chuandong
Mr. WANG Gaogiang (Appointed on 15th September, 2021)

Mr. LIU Xiaoyong (Appointed on 15th September, 2021)

Mr. LIU Jian (Appointed on 15th September, 2021)

Mr. CHEN Ying (Resigned on 15th September, 2021)

Mr. WANG Yan (Resigned on 15th September, 2021)
Madam WAN Suet Fei (Resigned on 15th September, 2021)
Mr. JING Shiging (Retired on 21st May, 2021)
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Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Mr. YU Hon To, David
Mr. YANG Yuchuan
Mr. HU Xiaoyong

The Company has received an annual confirmation from each
Independent Non-executive Director with each confirming his
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company still considers such Directors are independent of the
Company.

Pursuant to bye-law 101 of the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. YANG
Ping, Mr. WANG Gaogiang, Mr. LIU Xiaoyong and Mr. LIU Jian shall
retire from office at the Annual General Meeting, and they are eligible
and offer themselves for re-election.

Pursuant to bye-law 110(A) of the bye-laws of the Company, Mr.
WANG Chuandong, Mr. WONG Tak Shing, Mr. YU Hon To, David
and Mr. HU Xiaoyong shall retire from office by rotation at the Annual
General Meeting, and they are eligible and offer themselves for re-
election.

None of Directors, including Directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The term of office of each Non-executive Director, including
Independent Non-executive Director, is for a period of three years
subject to requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant to the
Bye-laws of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
to which the Company or its subsidiary or its holding company or its
fellow subsidiary was a party subsisting during or at the end of the
financial year in which a Director of the Company or his/her connected
entity is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration payable to each Director is based on his relevant
qualifications, experience and expertise, his duties and responsibilities
and performance of the Company. The current market situation will
also be taken into account. Bonus and incentive awards may be
granted to individual Directors in recognition of their contribution to
the Group. All the aforesaid form the remuneration policy and long
term incentive for Directors of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31st December, 2021, none of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company and their associates had
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they are deemed
or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers,
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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Interests in issued ordinary shares of the Company

PR

wEAOH

HREKRE BB EE Aggregate

BEEME Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest'

EHSB A2 S 40,000 0.0017%
Mr. WONG Tak Shing? Long position

FEREAES FE 800,000 0.035%
Mr. WANG Chuandong?® Long position

BIREE A 30,000 0.0013%
Mr. LIU Jian Long position

BEE Notes:

—

AR E-_—F+=-_A=+—HH
FEARD AL BAR AR 1T B 485
EARBREEEITRONED L -

2. EXMEENMERSEHESUE
BEBAFNHEE °

3. TEREAWEABEHEBZ
800,000 17 2 # %= ©

(b) RAEQXAEBEIEEBBEREZRABMR
AR (EHER) CRITEERKRM
B AD By RS

This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in
ordinary shares and underlying shares of the Company to the total
issued shares of the Company as at 31st December, 2021.

All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.

Mr. WANG Chuandong was deemed to be interested in 800,000

shares through interests of his spouse.

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited (“CR
Medical”), an associated corporation of the Company

FRrib s

BEAIL

HRIXE R EE Aggregate

EENA Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest’

5EEAE FE 80,000 0.0062%
Mr. YANG Ping Long position

B E Notes:

—

AR =T —F+=A=+—HFF
B LB AR i B RIS
EHBEEHCBITRONES L -

2. EXMEENMERSEHESUE
SHEAHNEE -

This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in
ordinary shares and underlying shares of CR Medical to the total
issued shares of CR Medical as at 31st December, 2021.

All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.
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LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted a share repurchased
cash award scheme (the “Incentive Award Scheme”), pursuant to
which selected employees of the Group or investee companies (being
any company in which the Company directly or indirectly owns 5%
or more attributable equity interests (the “Investee Company”), and
in calculating the percentage interest so attributed, the percentage
interest held in the Investee Company shall be multiplied by the
percentage interest in each level of entity through which such interest
is held by the Group), are entitled to participate in the Incentive Award
Scheme pursuant to the scheme rules.

The purpose of the Incentive Award Scheme is to recognise and
motivate the contribution of certain employees and to provide
incentives and to enable the Group and the Investee Company in
retaining their existing employees and recruiting additional employees
and to provide them with a direct economic interest in attaining
the long-term business objectives of the Company. Unless early
termination by the Board, the Incentive Award Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a term of 10 years commencing on the adoption
date. The maximum aggregate numbers of award shares which can
be awarded under the Incentive Award Scheme and to a selected
employee throughout its duration are limited to 5% and 0.5% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time respectively.

Pursuant to the rules of the Incentive Award Scheme, the Company
has appointed BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited as trustee (the
“Trustee”), pursuant to which existing shares will be purchased by
the Trustee from the market out of cash contributed by the Group and
be held in trust for the relevant selected employees until such shares
are vested with the relevant selected employees in accordance with
the provisions of the Incentive Award Scheme. A total of 70,000,000
shares were purchased at an aggregate cost of approximately
HK$253,534,680 (including transaction costs) on 7th April, 2009,
representing approximately 4.95% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at date of acquisition. The Company does not intend to
purchase any further share under the Incentive Award Scheme.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive Award
Scheme such that cash instead of award shares will be awarded under
the Incentive Award Scheme. The Company will utilize the proceeds
generated from disposal of the award shares held by the Trustee for
the awards made under the scheme. The awards will be subject to
the approval of the Company’s Remuneration Committee and the cash
under the award will only be given upon fulfillment of relevant vesting
conditions imposed on the date of grant of the award.

The Scheme expired on 1st December, 2018 and the Company was
working on the closure of the Scheme. During 2021, the Company

did not grant any award share. Details of the movement of the award

BRI S B FEEOT ¢ shares held by the Trustee are as follows:
HEBRHEE
Number of
award shares
RZEZNFHNA+LHEER Purchased on 7th April, 2009 70,000,000
RZZT—EFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2010 (1,818,000)
RZTE——FREREE Granted and disposed of during 2011 (7,741,496)
RZE—ZFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2012 (6,893,520)
RZZE—=FRERLE Granted and disposed of during 2013 (2,268,500)
RZZE—NFRHREE Granted and disposed of during 2014 (1,905,100)
RZTE—AFRHEEE Granted and disposed of during 2015 (1,310,000)
RZT—R"EREREE Granted and disposed of during 2016 (2,266,000)
RIE—EEREREE Granted and disposed of during 2017 (0)
RZZE-NFRERLE Granted and disposed of during 2018 (0)
RZZ—NFEREREE Granted and disposed of during 2019 (0)
RZTZZTFRERLE Granted and disposed of during 2020 (0)
RZZEZ—FRERNE Granted and disposed of during 2021 (0)
R-ZE-—F+-A=+—HN%E Balance as at 31st December, 2021 45,797,384
EPMRRERERAT —ZE=—FFH

Al



72

EEaRE
Directors’ Report

BERXRS
ARFERSEMEALITLEFHER
% AWFERANT

RERXS

RZZZ—FAA+TH AAFRBEEZS
BB AREBRRARE (TE) BRAF
(TEERRFTR]) DHEERAREEE
BERAR(ERAE]D REBEEEE
BERAR([EREEDFTVESHH - 1R
BESHE  FEMRERTRRAEBE M
EHORELEREESIRABEHEEER
REBFRAR ([BEEMRR]) BRIRAFH
14.85% }:2.05% M - REDHIKBA
R¥23.655BTITRARK2.47ETT ©

EHRNBRAR ([EBRD ) REARQE
EERAER - EEARBBEBITRALE
H461.46% MR - WERERG R/ERAF
REMRUF4ATIE THOBEA L Rz
A EEROTO N AEBaRELEREE
EERR  HERAEREBEES
REBRMDOBEALSARANEEA
T o FEt - WIEEEBK ETRAIE14AE
ETHNHERS -

AEBXZHEPEBLETHRADHEE
B mMEERARAEEMHBHRIESR
X BERESEW TR M ERGS R
HE e BEZT—FNATAH  A£EE
BEEERRBIRARL22.27% R ©
REERRBARKERIELFEE LR
PEII17THBFNEBIEAEBEEERT
WEEE - WABRAANSEBEKAERL
BEEOMRITERLEN - EEITEBUTH
SEEBGEEE  ARARHOMBAE K
WERRS  MASEEEENITEEERK
B BRESSABRNEEEREER  BHR
IR O EBFERRER - Al &
SERABRAXZIBFNE—FINREER
EMETSNERARE RASENFEE
Eo

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into certain connected transactions with a
number of connected persons, details of which are set out bellow:

Connected Transactions

On 10th September 2021, China Resources Gas Investment (China)
Ltd. (“CR Gas China”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into Sale and Purchase Agreements with China
Resources YuKang Asset Management Co., Ltd. ("CR YuKang”) and
China Resources Asset Management Ltd. (“CR Asset”), respectively.
Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreements, CR Gas China
agreed to purchase, and CR YuKang and CR Asset agreed to sell
approximately 14.85% and 2.05% equity interests in the total share
capital of Chongging Gas Group Corporation Ltd. (“Chongging Gas”),
at a consideration of approximately RMB2,355 million and RMB247
million, respectively.

China Resources Co., Ltd. ("CRC”) is the controlling shareholder of
the Company and interested in approximately 61.46% of the total
issued share capital of the Company, therefore, CRC is a connected
person and a controller of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. CRC is also the controlling shareholder of CR YuKang
and CR Asset respectively, therefore, CR YuKang and CR Asset
are associates of CRC and connected persons of the Company
respectively. Accordingly, the acquisition constitutes a connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Group is principally engaged in the downstream gas distribution
business in the PRC and Chongging Gas is the largest urban gas
supplier and integrated service provider in Chongging with the largest
volume of urban gas supply and the widest coverage area. As at 10th
September 2021, the Group is interested in approximately 22.27%
of the total share capital of Chongging Gas. The Group considers
that the acquisition to increase its shareholding in Chongging Gas to
39.17% is beneficial to the streamlining of the Group’s management
rights in Chongging Gas and will help enhance the Group’s influence
in the gas industry in the Chengdu-Chongqging Two Cities Economic
Zone. Considering that the Chinese government will continue
to promote green development and the natural gas market has
certain development prospects, and the Group aims to grasp the
development opportunities in the industry and proactively cooperate
with the green development policies of the government at all levels to
achieve continuous and rapid growth in the core business of urban
gas, therefore, the Group believes that the transaction is beneficial to
further accelerate the expansion and integration of the Group in the
gas market and the sustainable development of the Group.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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Details of the aforesaid transactions are set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 10 September 2021.

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year, members of the Group have entered into continuing
connected transactions with connected persons which are subject
to the reporting requirements under rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules,
details of which are summarised herein below. The Company’s
auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’'s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group as below in accordance with Main Board
Listing Rule 14A.56. The Independent Non-executive Directors have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
the continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and
(iiiy according to the agreements governing them, and on terms that

are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders
of the Company as a whole.
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Details of the above-mentioned continuing connected transactions and

the actual amount incurred for the year ended 31st December, 2021

or the maximum daily amount are summarised as follows:

B
+i
L%
For the year
ended

31st December,
2021

[ &
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BEEbE
(FELR : AKR¥865,622,0007T)
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Sale and Purchase Agreement

(Annual Cap: RMB865,622,000)
Purchase of natural gas for 3 years by a number of
subsidiaries of the Company from Shanxi Natural
Gas Limited (lLWAARARBRHDBERAA),
liability company established in the PRC which is the

a limited

substantial shareholder of the related subsidiaries of
the Company, namely Yangquan China Resources
Gas Limited, Datong China Resources Gas Co., Ltd,
Hongdong China Resources Hengfu Gas Co., Ltd.,
Huozhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. and Yangqu
China Resources Gas Co., Limited (all agreements
entered on 31st December, 2018 and effective from 1st
January, 2019).

On 31st December, 2018, these subsidiaries of the
Company entered into new agreements with Shanxi
Natural Gas Limited for the purchase and supply of
natural gas for a further term of 3 years.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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Strategic Cooperation Agreements
(Annual Cap: RMB1,700,000,000)
(i)(a)On 31st December, 2018, the Company

entered into an agreement in respect of the
use of commercial bank services with China
Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank”),
a municipal bank headquartered in Zhuhai, for
3 years effective from 1st January, 2019 (unless
extended for a further period). China Resources
Co., Limited (“CRC”) has a controlling interest of
CR Bank and the Company.

On 31st December, 2018, the Company
entered into a new agreement in respect of
deposit and non-deposit services received
from CR Bank for 3 years (unless extended for
a further period).

(i)(b)Other than deposit services, the Company

(if)

utilised commercial banking services provided
by CR Bank.

On 31st December, 2018, the Company entered
into an agreement in respect of the use of the
trust services with China Resources SZITIC Trust
Co., Ltd., (“CR Trust”), for 3 years effective from
1st January, 2019 (unless extended for a further
period). CRC has a controlling interest of CR
Trust and the Company.

On 31st December, 2018, the Company entered
into a new agreement in respect of non-deposit
services received from CR Trust for 3 years
(unless extended for a further period).
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(i) (i)

Framework Loan Agreements
(Annual Cap: RMB2,000,000,000)

On 18th December, 2019, the Company entered into an
agreement in respect of the intra-group lending between
the Company (and any of its subsidiaries but exclude entity
established in the PRC) and China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited (“CRH”), a company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability and intermediate holding
company of the company any company in the CRC, CRH
and its respective subsidiaries, which is listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, other than the Company
(“China Resources Group listed company”) and any of
its subsidiaries in respect of Hong Kong dollars, RMB or,
United States dollars loan for 3 years (unless extended for
a further period).

On 28th December, 2019, the Company entered into an
agreement in respect of the intra-group lending between
any PRC established subsidiary of the Company and CRC
(and any PRC established subsidiary of CRC) or a China
Resources Group listed company in respect of RMB loan
for 3 years (unless extended for a further period).

AR¥
RMB

HE—_ZT-—F+=-A=+—H
IHFENSREEaEHE
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Framework Agreements

On 22 June 2021, Chenzhou China Resources Gas
Co. Ltd, (“CR Gas Chenzhou”) an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, and China
Resources Sanjiu (Chenzhou) Pharmaceutical
Company Limited (“CR Sanjiu Chenzhou”), an
indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of China
Resources Pharmaceutical Group Ltd. (“CR
Pharmaceutical”), entered into the framework
agreement, pursuant to which CR Gas Chenzhou
will construct a energy station on the land to be
provided by China Resources Sanjiu Medical &
Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd. (“CR Sanjiu”), after which
CR Gas Chenzhou will supply and CR Sanjiu
Chenzhou will purchase energy for cooling and
heating, steam and part of electricity to the Southern
China production manufacturing centre of CR Sanjiu
Chenzhou.

China Resources (Holdings) Co., Ltd., the controlling
shareholder of the Company, is also a controlling
shareholder of CR Pharmaceutical, by virtue of being
interested in approximately 53.05% of the issued
share capital of CR Pharmaceutical and which in
turn is interested in approximately 63.60% of the
issued share capital of CR Sanjiu. Accordingly,
CR Sanjiu and its subsidiary, CR Sanjiu Chenzhou
are connected persons of the Company and the
Energy Supply Transactions contemplated under
the framework agreement will constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company.

Details of the Framework Agreements are as follow:

ERRRERERAF

N/A
&R

e

77



78

EEaRE
Directors’ Report

BEIRIE R
RIBER DA

1. EHZA N SRR & 5E
SERMBRAFTHIA L EITHAFA AL
AEBBARHERE &

2. WNEBRRS AR RR IR LR
BRI E  RNEE  RERUE
P 1% 75 B AR EE R AR R O =0 (M8
M) WERREEEP ORISR
EINBER R MER D E S o M EBR
R B B REME D ER LB
Fr DA BYEE B = L (WRJH ) shath S P 7
SFAFRMTTHET A RAEITHRER -

BERMERN — D BEAEE_SF
NARTENK  ZBRIERBEE TEETH
BEREIER D FMA - BRRITERNBRT
HOEHEE—_SE-_=F<AE-_F_-H
F+ = AHAMSER -

I H = AUMB N B2 4 A0 2 18 el B R = AN
BERFBERA o MMERRRBMNIE
B 1E R A A A 0 8 B HE N B A 3
TR, - FEARARAE 2R 0 28 0 AR BR B MR A2
TRE -

Energy Station Construction

Pursuant to the framework agreement:

1. CR Sanjiu Chenzhou will provide the land and be responsible for
obtaining all necessary administrative permits required for the use
of the land and filing the plan to the local government; and

2. CR Gas Chenzhou will be responsible for the investment,
construction and operation of the energy station to be constructed
on the land, upon completion of which will be used by CR Gas
Chenzhou for supplying energy for cooling and heating, steam
and supplying part of electricity to the Southern China production
manufacturing centre of CR Sanjiu Chenzhou. CR Gas Chenzhou
will also be responsible for providing all necessary design and
technical support for the administrative permits and filings required
to be made by CR Sanjiu Chenzhou in respect of the use of the
land.

Part of the energy station construction is expected to be completed by
June 2022, after which the energy supply transactions contemplated
under the framework agreement will commence. The rest of the energy
station construction is expected to be completed between June 2023
to December 2025.

The land provided by CR Sanjiu Chenzhou is owned by and will
continue be owned by CR Sanjiu Chenzhou. The rights to the assets
resulting from investments made by CR Gas Chenzhou for the
Chenzhou Project belong to CR Gas Chenzhou and shall be disposed
of in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Framework
Agreement.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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Energy Supply Transactions

Pursuant to the framework agreement, CR Gas Chenzhou will supply
energy for cooling and heating, steam and part of electricity to
the Southern China production manufacturing centre of CR Sanjiu
Chenzhou.

Subject to extension of the term of the framework agreement, the
parties expect the energy supply to last about 20 years, commencing
on commencement date. It is expected that the energy station will
commence operation in or about June 2022, subject to any adjustment
to the operation commencement date of the Energy Station shall be
confirmed by the parties in writing six months in advance.

The framework agreement will become effective on the date of the
agreement for a term of three years.

Details of the aforesaid transactions are set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 22 June 2021.

Annual caps under the framework agreement:

FELR

(AR¥EER)

Annual Cap
(RMB million)

HE-_Z-—_F+-_A=+—HIEFE For the year ending on 31 December 2022 33
BT+ _-_A=+—HILFE For the year ending on 31 December 2023 65
—EoNF—-A—BEEEHBRIIEEA From 1 January 2024 to the expiry date of the 33

(B=2—mEA=+—8)

AEBTZRTERETHMRRADHEE
BeoBERR ERBAETHETRS
BBRARSBARRNZBAREHE
TTRRARIRME  HARARE —RIOMR
RME - EAHEHE  AAKERHRA
AHETHEPOKE  BAKRERRT
BERRAEMRBEER LR M ISHEN
EBREERRE B WG YA
TREME - EAKEES -

Framework Agreement (i.e. 21 June 2024)

The Group is principally engaged in downstream gas distribution in
the PRC. The Directors believe that by providing integrated energy
supply through the use of natural gas decentralized energy and
multiple thermal energy in the transactions contemplated under the
Framework Agreement, the scope of energy supply of the Group can
be expanded as compared to the usual gas supply of the Group,
providing the Group with an opportunity to develop and provide
energy to new customers, which is consistent with the business and
commercial objectives of the Group in exploring market opportunities
for gas and gas related products and services in the PRC and is
beneficial to the Group by bringing in an additional source of revenue
and profits.
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BEALXRS

EEREBBREPETNERBEALRS
HIEHR G AP BMERMEA - RiIgLM
HEAER  BOREXFRRBERS - F
S8

Related Party Transactions

Details of the material related party transactions in normal course

of business are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial

statements. Some of these transactions constitute connected

transactions as defined under the Listing Rules which are set out as

follows:

B
2021
FHET
HK$’ 000
HE THB AR B FEIZERAR R Sales to non-controlling shareholders of 287,909
subsidiaries
S EE I =PNCINREdi Gl e SNSRI N Interest income from deposits placed in 21,351
a fellow subsidiary
BIEESGIEIANGIE-2 L0 )= S PN PN Interest income from loan to a fellow 63,572
subsidiary
A R A AR B R B A Interest income from loan to an intermediate -
holding company
B B I E A R A SEIEARAR SR (B 5E) Purchase from non-controlling shareholders of 1,358,379
subsidiaries (Note)
ENRRHBARNHEEEL Rental expenses paid to fellow subsidiaries =
BB AR EERKRRENASHAT Rental expenses paid to non-controlling 460
shareholders of subsidiaries
BT B A R A B R Interest expenses paid to an intermediate 22,940

M eEAILAERARBRNDARIBRBRA

RAFHER  REBEZZ_—F+A=+
—BILFE  EEETLTRIEI4AEN
WERRE -

holding company

Note: Included purchases of natural gas from Shanxi Natural Gas Limited.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure

requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for

the year ended 31st December, 2021.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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FERRE SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
BTXFEZEEN RE_—F+=-A= Save as disclosed below, the Directors and chief executive of the
+—0B  EFERARETHREH L TAEFE Company are not aware that there was any party (other than a Director
AT (WHEEKARATHER) AR or chief executive of the Company), who, as at 31st December, 2021
NRIRMD RAERER O - BEEREES KE had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of
EIEFIEXVEZE 2R3N EIREBRAR T the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
FENEZIOAR - NN AR AERE the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which
5 REIE KA EI3615TE 2 RN L M were recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
mEKE Section 336 of the SFO:
RELDBNHER Long Position in the Company
Frib s
BEEIH
BEHIKXE RHBE  Aggregate
BRRERB 54 Long or short Number of  percentage
Name of shareholder Capacity position shares  of interest'
EREE (KR BRAF ERHEAA e 1,407,828,991 60.84%
([EREERR])? Beneficial owner Long position
CRH (Gas) Limited
(“‘CRH Gas"y?
25 (&H) BRAR? RGN A s He 1,422,298,991 61.46%
China Resources (Holdings) Controlled company’s interest Long position
Company Limited?
CRC Bluesky Limited REHIR AR HE 1,422,298,991 61.46%
(“CRC Bluesky")? Controlled company’s interest Long position
ERRHERAA ([ZERH )2 e Naifotiaad e 1,422,298,991 61.46%
China Resources Inc. (formerly Controlled company’s interest Long position
known as China Resources Co.,
Limited (“CRCL")?
REEEERAR ([HEEH])? RGN TS B e 1,422,298,991 61.46%
China Resources Company Limited  Controlled company'’s interest Long position
(‘CRNC"Y?
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GEE

1. WARZZEZ—F+-A=+—BHFR
NFEBBERARAZEHEBITRONE
DL e

2. EHEEMRERAEBERABIINAR
711,407,828,991 B i% 15 K 14,470,000 fi%
BOPHEEEERER  ZMRAFAEIRE
H(EE)BARARMNEZEWBAR -
g =B (SE) AR AREBEIERARR
A1/ 1,422,298,991 R P A HE -
=M (%£H)BRAAACRC Blueskyfy
TEWMBAR  EMAEBRNHNEERE
B EBRMDATREBNHNZEMNER
Al At - EH(£E)BMRAAE - CRC
Bluesky * B & B BWARER A
AAEIHY1,422,298,991 B AR (D R A RS ©

ERBRRNBEBEBOEL

RZB-—RFENARA » AR (ERER
A) EB—RRITH—IB10EBTHIFHE
HBMETUBREWRS - ZAEFWEREE
ARGFE  BREF\EREBFHEBEWHZ
FIVAHBHR=FE ARHEE -

RIE B AE e B A K - AR RE
MR R EE () R A BAREFRH
ERIBMEERAREETORARAE
BITRAMS0% ([FEBRYAE]) - HiE
REMBSEROBESHBERENSZE B
FAEBIRITIEMEIEEEB R, HEM
P B R (BB SRS R A B AT A 8 & E A
AN R EA FOR BN B BAS A -

Notes:

1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in shares to the
total issued shares of the Company as at 31st December, 2021.

2. CRH Gas and Commotra Company Limited are directly interested in
1,407,828,991 shares and 14,470,000 shares in the Company respectively
and both companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited. China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited is therefore deemed to be interested in 1,422,298,991 shares
of the Company. China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC Bluesky, which is in turn wholly-owned
by CRCL. CRCL is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRNC. China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited, CRC Bluesky, CRCL and CRNC are therefore
deemed to be interested in 1,422,298,991 shares of the Company.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

On 6th August, 2015, the Company, as borrower, entered into a facility
agreement in relation to a HK$1,000 million 3-year term loan facility
with a bank. The loan facility is unsecured and interest bearing with
any outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling three
years from the date of the facility agreement.

Pursuant to the aforesaid facility agreements and facility letter, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited is required, at all times, to hold an aggregate
beneficial ownership (directly or indirectly) of not less than 50% in
the issued share capital of the Company (the “Specific Performance
Obligation”). It will be an event of default if the Specific Performance
Obligation is breached; and in such case, the relevant banks
shall declare the commitments to be cancelled and/or declare all
outstanding amounts together with interests accrued thereon and
all other sums payable by the Company to be immediately due and
payable.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year was the
Company, its parent company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Save and except so far as the provisions of the Bye-law shall be
avoided by any provisions of the Statutes, the Board, President,
Vice-president, Managing Directors, alternate Directors, Secretary
and other officers for the time being of the Company and the trustees
(if any) for the time being acting in relation to any of the affairs of the
Company, and their respective executors or administrators, shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their executors
or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty
or supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts, except such (if
any) as they shall incur or sustain through their own wilful neglect or
default, fraud and dishonesty respectively.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this report, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed in this report, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
securities during the year ended 31st December, 2021.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws although there are no restrictions against such rights under
the laws of Bermuda.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year have been audited by Messrs
Ernst & Young. A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint Messrs Ernst &
Young as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
Chairman

WANG Chuandong

Hong Kong, 18th March, 2022

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021



o EBRRERERAE
(REFZEZMAE L HERAA)

=

B (AT RT3 FﬁJ)E%?ﬁIJﬁ
MEISE268 AMERMRIZBARA
(TERE]) REMBAR(TE %@J)E’]Zﬁ
BHMBWRE - WM BHRREER T ——
FTZA=+—ANGABIR A RER
EZRLFENFRABREREMM2E KRS
R GARRBEYPIRNGEARSRER
RS MBREMTE  BEERSFR
REZE -

i

HMRE  ZEECUBRREREETE
Gt og ([EESFMAE]) EHH
BEPBHEEA ([ BBV BRSER])
BEEMmMPAMRET EXEER-_T——

FTt_A=+—ANGEARUMKRAREE
ZHLEFENGEMBRRARGEAAER
B UEEREBRAGHNRESE 2

ERNER

HMERBEESAMAERANEER
RN (T ER BT ER ) EITES - B
ERFEATAENETCERARE [EH
BB & 2T A7 & B R K RSB & (| P
—HMi - REFESTMASROENE
R EEEFA (ATEEISTAD - &

Bz EEE - YEEITTHFHE
L EREEEE - HIEE - ROMES
BRI D LEE R EANES

BRIRHER

By BET RS
Independent Auditor’'s Report

To the shareholders of China Resources Gas Group Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 95 to 268, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December,
2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December, 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in the context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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BARETEE Key audit matters
BRESTSEEES P NMERE How our audit addressed the key audit matter
B E Impairment assessment on goodwill

HRFEESEBENREELFEM ([
SELBMN ) AWK E SR R EAH G
K& - At E R R EFGRES
RS ETEE -

R-ZZE-_—F+-A=+—8 BHEE@
fE/41,274,030,000% 7T » #UNERE B 75 3R
KM E20FTHE - £HAFRENEED
PEEEHRABEXKEHMESNESE
HEN - BEEERA  REEREARM
T B HWNBARRE—EEBNRS
EEEN  BeELBEMNAIKRESET
BREREENFELREBT F MatEE
AEERE BSEMIRESELENE
ATEAMKRRASRERBEEMITREL
FTHIEME -

B SR EREF EARTORFEEE

o THRERMEMNREEESRERENE
THREREFWHRERANERF RE
% BEBABRE

e FBEHE BARHEERNEBNESD
A AR EREE N - P RE
89 A &Pl B R TR ERH A
o BYHIENARES  YiEB
TR EAERE IR B T {E AT IR KM BT
LEER

e HFMEFEEEREMRERERERBA
BRI FETVBURE DT - AR S
EREEFENTEIEE

e FERURASELBUMNAHRAR
BEOMRFEAARSRENTE
Al R

o EBBREN (ERRHEEE
BANE & EFEREAY SO
B3R BB R PO BT B T H0 5 2
f o

We identified the impairment assessment on goodwill as a key
audit matter due to the involvement of significant judgements and
assumptions in estimating the recoverable amounts of the cash-
generated units (“CGUs”) to which the goodwill has been allocated.

As at 31 December, 2021, the carrying amount of goodwill was
HK$1,274,030,000. As disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements, goodwill acquired in a business combination
was allocated to the CGUs that were expected to benefit from that
business combination. Management considered that each subsidiary
represents a separate CGU for the purpose of goodwill impairment
testing. The recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined based
on the value-in-use calculations, which required the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment on goodwill
included:

e Obtaining an understanding of the key controls over impairment
and management’s process and basis used in preparing the
cash flow forecasts, including significant assumptions;

* Assessing the appropriateness of the discount rate used by
comparing with the cost of capital of the Company with the
organisations in the industry, involving our internal valuation
specialists to assess the methodology of the impairment test,
independently develop expectations for the discount rate and
comparing the independent expectations to those used by the
management;

e We evaluated the sensitivity analysis performed by management
in respect of the growth rates and pre-tax discount rates to
assess the extent of impact on the calculations of the value-in-
use;

e Evaluating the cash flow forecasts used, by comparing them to
the recent performance of the CGUs and trend analysis; and

° Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures made in the financial
statements on the impairment assessment, specifically on the
key assumptions that have the most significant effect on the
determination of the recoverable amount of the goodwill.
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WA R Revenue recognition
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We identified the recognition of gas connection income, assets related
to contract works and contract liabilities as a key audit matter due to
the involvement of a number of judgements in the recognition.

As disclosed in notes 6, 24 and 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recorded gas connection income amounting
to HK$11,976,401,000 for the year ended 31 December, 2021 and
recognised assets related to contract works and contract liabilities
amounting to HK$3,628,060,000 and HK$15,185,964,000, respectively,
as at 31 December, 2021.

Revenue from a construction contract for gas connection is recognised
using the percentage of completion method, measured by reference
to the costs incurred during the year relative to the estimated total
costs of the contract, which requires the status of contracts to be
assessed on a regular basis. The management of the Group exercises
significant judgements in assessing the extent of progress in the
satisfaction of the performance obligation in gas connection contracts,
the valuation of contract variations, the completeness and accuracy
of forecast costs to complete, and the ability to deliver contracts
within forecast timescales. The complexity of the above assessment
process applied in the Group’s recognition policies on gas connection
requires significant judgements and could have a material impact on
the revenue, assets related to contract works and contract liabilities
reported in the consolidated financial statements.

Our procedures in relation to the recognition of gas connection
income, assets related to contract works and contract liabilities
included:

* Obtaining an understanding of the accounting policies related to
gas connection income, and reviewing the construction contracts
on a sampling basis to assess the appropriateness of revenue
recognition;

e Testing the key controls over the contract budgeting and
management process;
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Discussing with management to assess the assumptions used in
the recognition and management’s key judgements involved in
determining the extent of work;

Reviewing the construction progress reports on a sampling basis
prepared by project managers by agreeing the contract sum
and budgeted total costs to the respective signed contracts and
approved budgets and checking material costs and labour costs
incurred to purchase invoices and internal payroll records, and
recalculating the performance progress with the input method
based on the costs incurred and the budgeted total costs;

Evaluating the historical accuracy of the Group’s estimates on the
progress in the satisfaction of the performance obligation through
identifying if there were any late adjustments on the same
contracts across different years and checking the completion of
selected contracts through evidencing the delivery of completed
contracts; and

Performing the analytical review procedures by comparing gas
connection income and margins over the different periods.
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BRESTSEEES P NMERE How our audit addressed the key audit matter
REERGHEZ Interests in joint ventures
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We identified interests in joint ventures as a key audit matter due to
the significance of these investments to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements as a whole and the involvement of judgements
in the recognition of gas connection income which could affect the
amount of interests in joint ventures as at 31 December, 2021 and the
share of results of joint ventures for the year then ended.

The Group’s principal joint ventures were engaged in the business
of the sale of natural gas, liquefied gas and the connection of
gas pipelines as set out in note 47 to the consolidated financial
statements. As disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amount of interests in joint ventures as at 31
December, 2021 and the gas connection income of the joint ventures
for the year ended 31 December, 2021 were HK$12,991,745,000 and
HK$4,193,856,000 in aggregate, respectively.

Due to the involvement of judgement explained in the above key audit
matter entitled “Revenue recognition”, we considered the recognition
of connection income as one of our focus areas in the component
audits of the significant joint ventures.

Our procedures in relation to the interests in joint ventures included:

e Comparing the accounting policies and estimates adopted by
the joint ventures to assess the consistency with the Group's
accounting policies in all material aspects;

e Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s significant joint
ventures by reading their financial information and discussing
with their respective management and component audit teams
about the financial performance, significant events which
occurred during the year and the key areas of judgement made
in preparing their financial information to identify and assess the
risks that are significant to the audit of the Group's consolidated
financial statements;
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e Evaluating the sufficiency and appropriateness of audit evidence
obtained from work performed by the component audit teams of
the significant joint ventures of the Group by reviewing their audit
documentation and discussing the results of their work with them;
and

e  Working with the component audit teams of the significant joint
ventures to carry out those procedures set out in the above key
audit matter entitled “Revenue recognition”.

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated

financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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BB RS
Independent Auditor’'s Report

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

EWARERERAT —B-—FER

93



94

BB RS
Independent Auditor’'s Report

NEEZZEGEBNFEED  HMABTE
M EIHH KRR E VB RERNE A &
REZ AMEBKBERETERE - HMAE
ZBR RS RS =T - RIEEARE
RAAFLARARBEELEE  HERKF
REBERT  WREGEERERMHREF
BRERFHEKNEMZRBBEENRD
BHz  BIMRETEERERERZE
IF o

HAXBUYZEMRENESEEEGEA
& Tjen, Michael °

LK EATENE AT
PG
BE

—T-_F=A+N\H

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Tjen, Michael.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

18 March, 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

BE-_S-_-—H+-A=+—HLEE

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

—BE--F —TTF
2021 2020
{iFs3 FiEx FTAT
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
WA Revenue 6 78,175,136 55,864,169
SHER A Cost of sales (59,879,860) (40,836,692)
EA Gross profit 18,295,276 15,027,477
HAb A Other income 7 1,774,365 1,397,652
HERDHERX Selling and distribution expenses (5,758,032) (4,663,717)
THHAX Administrative expenses (3,825,113) (3,168,075)
SEEBMEEZREBEFE  Impairment losses on financial and
contract assets, net (11,321) (68,968)
BEISB AR Finance costs 8 (382,381) (449,420)
ELEERNEIER Share of results of joint ventures 702,351 656,895
FE(RES & N R E A Share of results of associates 388,572 258,419
B T AT 4 ) Profit before taxation 11,183,717 8,990,263
HIE Taxation 10 (2,743,885) (2,278,375)
FNimF Profit for the year 8,439,832 6,711,888
Hip 2 Al Other comprehensive income
FREMEEKE/ (AX) Other comprehensive income/(expense)
for the year
BETEEH A EZH 9 EE  Items that may be subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss
BEEENERZ5E Exchange differences arising on translation 783,397 3,094,857
BETEEH A BEZE#EE  Item that will not be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss
BEBBRATEFALM Equity investments designated at fair value
2EHBREHRAEE - through other comprehensive income:
NTEZE (HRTE) Changes in fair value, net of tax 14,421 (989)
EHRRRERFGE Unfunded defined benefit plans (5,253) =
FREMEE KL (J0BRFE)  Other comprehensive income for the year,
net of tax 792,565 3,093,868
FREABZLE Total comprehensive income for the year 9,232,397 9,805,756
ATATEEFERRT : Profit for the year attributable to:
ISYNSIEZZSUN Owners of the parent 6,395,368 5,151,292
RS Non-controlling interests 2,044,464 1,560,596
8,439,832 6,711,888
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

BE-_ZE--F+-A=+—HLEFE

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

—BC--F —ECTF
2021 2020
{iFs3 FiEx FTAT
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
UTATEGEFEFAZE R Total comprehensive income for the year
1 attributable to:
BRREEA Owners of the parent 7,035,864 7,479,431
R Non-controlling interests 2,196,533 2,326,325
9,232,397 9,805,756
BT BT
HK$ HK$
FREF Earnings per share
LN Basic 2.82 2.31
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 31 December, 2021

—EB—-F —ETHF
+=ZH=+—-8B +=ZA=+—H
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
B s FBT FAT
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
EMBNEE Non-current assets
M - BB RRE Property, plant and equipment 14 47,349,282 40,932,770
"B Investment properties 15 89,262 89,425
FREEE Right-of-use assets 16(a) 3,253,642 2,816,236
REL QTR Interests in joint ventures 17 12,991,745 12,114,832
NN op = Interests in associates 18 7,692,448 4,082,026
BEREANFESAEM Equity investments designated
ZHKERRAZE at fair value through other
comprehensive income 19 164,794 153,100
GES Goodwill 20 1,274,030 903,956
etk Operating rights 21 1,958,365 1,476,285
BEBIREE Deferred tax assets 33 463,247 345,422
KEERS Deposits for operating rights - 1,954
FREEERS Deposits for right-of-use assets 23,195 65,825
BEYE  BRERREN Deposits for purchase of property,
Ze plant and equipment 299,229 247,585
KEZRE Deposits for investments 11,586 =
EMEEELEE Total non-current assets 75,570,825 63,229,416
MENAE Current assets
T8 Inventories 22 1,142,272 1,006,828
JEWE SERFA N AU  Trade and other receivables 23 15,705,278 12,645,694
ERIEHAAEE Assets related to contract works 24 3,628,060 3,534,472
EHEMRITERR Pledged bank deposits and
ZR RS restricted cash 25 2,526,923 12,193
RITHEMMIRS Bank balances and cash 26 7,562,950 13,442,206
mBEEER Total current assets 30,565,483 30,641,393
mEEE Current liabilities
BB SRR R EMERNTK  Trade and other payables 27 26,184,673 20,193,275
cREAaE Contract liabilities 28 15,185,964 15,174,058
B EEE Government grants 29 35,907 74,439
IRITREMEER Bank and other borrowings 30 615,659 2,548,358
HERE Lease liabilities 16(b) 122,471 98,946
BERE Senior notes 31 5,583,770 =
JER R IE Taxation payable 969,296 933,609
mB B EERE Total current liabilities 48,697,740 39,022,685
MEEEFRE Net current liabilities (18,132,257) (8,381,292)
REERTBAE Total assets less current liabilities 57,438,568 54,848,124
ZPMRRERERAT —ZE=—FFH
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R=—ZF-—-F+=-A=+—-8

At 31 December, 2021

—E=——F —E-TF
+=ZA=+—-8 +=-—A=+—8H
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
Bt FET FHT
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
7 Equity
f& 7 Share capital 34 231,401 231,401
] Reserves 41,025,514 36,042,886
SREER AEGER Equity attributable to owners of
the parent 41,256,915 36,274,287
FEFE AR Non-controlling interests 12,780,747 10,594,072
B Total equity 54,037,662 46,868,359
ERBERE Non-current liabilities
RS B Government grants 29 845,182 252,705
RITREMEER Bank and other borrowings 30 295,706 298,575
HEaE Lease liabilities 16(b) 267,238 219,530
BEER Senior notes 31 - 5,535,664
EMRHEE Other long-term liabilities 32 675,571 477,613
BERIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 33 1,317,209 1,195,678
FRB B ERE Total non-current liabilities 3,400,906 7,979,765
57,438,568 54,848,124

F101E268 AR AMBERREHMEES
RZBE-—F=A+N\BHAERRKETH
VHTIALTRREFTSEHES

March, 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

The consolidated financial statements on pages 101 to 268 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18

EER B=¥
WANG CHUANDONG YANG PING
EF BEF
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EY: B
CHAIRMAN CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BE-_Z-_—+-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December, 2021
BRAREARL
Attributable to owners of the parent
BB
Bk BHEE #ABR KRR ENRE RRLBE RHRR SHER  REEA 0 FERER BRAEE
Shares
held
for
incentive Non-
Share Share Contributed  Capital Translation ~ award Other ~ Merger  Retained controlling ~ Total
capital premium*  surplus* reserve*  reserve*  scheme' reserves*  reserve*  profits* Sub-otal interests  equity
Thn TR TEn  TEr  TAr  TEr  TEr TR TR TR TEn  TEr
HK§000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HK$000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000
(Wita)  (H3ib) (Wike)  (Bita)
(Notea) ~ (Note b) (Notec) ~ (Note d)
W=3-%5-f-A At 1 January, 2020 222401 6378643 7,388,600 20535 (1934464)  (166,250) 3,639,777 (8727518) 19973713 26,795,437 9,026,778 35,822,215
ERigd Profit for the year - - - - - - - - 5151202 5151292 1,560,596 6,711,888
ROFET AL ZERENRE  Change in fair value of equity
REATEEY (MRTR) invesiments t fai value through other
comprehensive income, net of tax - - - - - - (649) - - (649) (340) (989)
ERABELNEZER Exchange differences arising on
Efp2EhE franslation and other comprehensive
income for the year - - - - 238,788 - - - - 238788 766,069 3,094,857
FREENEEE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 2328788 - (649) - 5151202 7479431 2326325 9,805,756
FERERTE Capital contrbution from non-controling
interests - - - - - - - - - - 174828 174823
KEHEAT Acquisttion of a subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - S8085 582,965
KEHBLA BNES Acquisition of addtional interests in
subsidiaries = = ) = s = = - (BT45)  (243054) (300499)
PHLENEAT Partal disposal of subsidiaries - - - 3126 - - - - - 126 198375 519641
Ll (Brad) Share issue (note 34) 9,000 3,659,945 = = = = = - - 3668945 - 3,668,945
BAkS (i) Dividends paid (note 12) - = - - = - - - (1973347) (1973347) - (1,973,347)
BRNBAAEERERRE  Dividends paid to non-controling inferests
of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - (1432,140) (1,432,140)
BRI Transfer from retained profits - - - - - - TI SR - (BT7564) - - -
RE-TET-A=T-A At 31 December, 2020 231401 10038588 7,388600 324356 394324 (166,250) 4,216,692 (8,727,518) 22574094 36,274,287 10594072 46,868,359
WZE--£-A-8 At 1 January, 2021 231,401 10,038,588 7,388,600 324356 394324  (166,250) 4,216,692 (8,727,518) 22,574,094 36,274,287 10,594,072 46,868,359
EREd Profit for the year - - - - - - - - 6395368 6,395,368 2,044,464 8,439,832
ROTEFAZGREREORE  Change In fair value of equity
REATEES (kTR investments at fai value through other
comprenensive income, net of tax - - - - - - 14,248 - - 14,248 173 14421
BRHATRAHE Unfunded defined benefit plans - - - - - - (3149 - - (39 10 (5269
ERAEELNEZER Exchange differences arising on
Efp2 s {ranslation and other comprehensive
income for the year - - - - 629397 - - - - 629307 154,000 783,397
ER2ENREE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 629,397 - 11,099 - 6395368 7,035,864 2,196,533 9,232,397
FRERTE Capital contrbution from non-controling
interests - - - (36) - - - - - (3) 79,904 79,868
WeEH A 3T Acquisition of subsiiaries (note 37) - - - - - - - - - - 1,050,808 1,050,808
AL ENBDR(Hite) Partial disposal of a subsidiary (note ) - - - 56240 - - - - - 56240 218970 275210
HE-RNBARF () Disposal of a subsidiary (note 38) - - - - - - - - - - (28481) (28481)
BffkS (i) Dividends paid (note 12) - - - - - - - - (2,100,440) (2,109,440) - (2,109,440)
BMHBATEERERRS  Dividends paid to non-controlling interests
of subsidieries - - - - - - - - - - (1,331,059) (1,331,09)
BREEEL Transfer from retained profis - - - - - - 567625 - (567,625) - - -
W-F--%t-A=t-R At 31 December, 2021 231401 10,038,588 7,388,600 380,560 1,023,721  (166,250) 4,795,416 (8,727,518) 26,292,397 41,256,915 12,780,747 54,037,662
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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f##41,025,514,0008TT (Z T =T :
36,042,886,000/87T) °

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

Notes:

Pursuant to the approval of a special resolution at the special
general meeting of the Company on 30 May, 2011, the amount of
HK$7,388,600,000 standing to the credit of share premium has been
reduced and transferred to the contributed surplus. The contributed
surplus is a distributable reserve and will be used for the payment of
dividends and for such other purposes as allowed by the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda.

The capital reserve arose from the difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the consideration
paid/received for the acquisition/disposal of interests in subsidiaries.

Other reserves comprise the changes in fair value of equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income, general
reserve, statutory surplus reserve, enterprise expansion fund, statutory
public welfare fund and discretionary surplus reserve of subsidiaries
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”"), and the
changes in net assets attributable to the Group in relation to the increase
in ownership interests in subsidiaries through capital contribution.

The general reserve is appropriated each year on the basis of 5% to
10% of the profit after taxation of certain subsidiaries as determined by
their board of directors in accordance with the articles of association of
the subsidiaries. This reserve should only be used for making up losses,
capitalisation into capital and expansion of production and operation.

The merger reserve represented the difference between (i) the cash
consideration paid, deemed distribution to a fellow subsidiary and shares
issued by the Company; and (ii) the amount of issued capital and premium
of the combined entities under group reorganisations.

The Group set up a new subsidiary ' IUIFAEREBRABR AR (BRE
"), with an independent third party and acquired 51.5% equity interests
in BEREH by investing its 75% equity shares in [FREFRRAR QA
in 2021, which resulted in an increase in capital reserve amounting to
HK$56,240,000 and non-controlling interest amounting to HK$218,970,000.

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$41,025,514,000 (2020: HK$36,042,886,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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HMERERER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

—E-fF —ETF
2021 2020
B 5E FER FHT
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BT OPERATING ACTIVITIES
B 258 A1 g A Profit before taxation 11,183,717 8,990,263
PR - Adjustments for:
B H5 PR R Finance costs 8 382,381 449,420
F 28U A Interest income 7 (329,321) (364,737)
BAFEFAEMEEYZE  Dividend income from equity
BRI B BV AR B A investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income 7 (2,647) (2,036)
EHERBT & Government grants recognised 7 (72,800) (147,662)
i NN S /NG| Share of profits and losses of joint
i ) R 1R ventures and associates (1,090,923) (915,314)
HEWE  BELKXEEIE  Loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment 9 27,952 12,553
HEFRABREEN (Gain)/loss on disposal of right-of-use
(Wzs),/ 18 assets 9 2) 1,068
HRAEHESEARKE Gain on deemed disposal of joint
ventures 7 (95,393) (6,165)
Gy = Tank=—d AN Gain on deemed disposal of
associates 7 (34,356) (169)
& — I B A Rl M Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 7 (25,074) =
EUWE 5 RFRE Impairment of trade receivables 9 12,663 70,818
A e WGOR (B B Reversal of impairment of other
receivables 9 (790) (9,652)
ARBERME,CHRERD) Impairment/(reversal of impairment)
of contract assets 9 (552) 7,802
EETIRRRE Impairment of construction in progress 2,730 =
M BERZETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 9 2,392,713 1,873,436
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 9 194,784 176,218
REMESRE Depreciation of investment properties 9 4,697 4,007
A B Amortisation of operating rights 9 76,628 64,817
CEASEERIMNLE Operating cash flows before
BEME movements in working capital 12,626,407 10,204,667
FE (Em),wmd (Increase)/decrease in inventories (104,266) 61,998
JEUE SRS R EAM UK  (Increase)/decrease in trade and
(&), m other receivables (2,937,941) 246,306
ARIEEEEERD Decrease in assets related to
contract works 10,166 66,075
ENBSEZNEMERNIK  Increase/(decrease) in trade and
#m, G other payables 2,171,575 (871,340)
ARARE ), & (Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities (427,712) 1,028,930
REEBREENES Cash generated from operations 11,338,229 10,736,636
BRI EREMER PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid (2,948,171) (2,120,606)
REXBRER TR NET CASH FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES 8,390,058 8,616,030
ZPMRRERERAT —ZE=—FFH
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—B-—F —ToBF
2021 2020
FTHET FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
TEXER INVESTING ACTIVITIES
R [0 B fth 2 & FT 1S 5008 Proceeds from redemption of other
deposits 42,710,518 41,942,197
BlEEARRKE Dividends received from joint ventures 195,715 292,097
SN Dividends received from associates 248,586 144,544
EUHI S Interest received 328,455 360,300
HEWE - BE k& E Proceeds from disposal of property,
FriSskIE plant and equipment 48,535 78,997
& A R TS IR Proceeds from disposal of operating
rights 9,936 =
HERE YIS HKIE Proceeds from disposal of investing
properties 323 -
BAEHEMBARBY Proceeds from deemed disposal of
ez FTS RIR partial interest in subsidiaries - 347,531
SRy - HE k&R Receipt of government grants for
ERNBNm S property, plant and equipment 463,410 129,476
XA 0 Business combinations (749,247) (632,985)
T BUE b A7 3K Placement of other deposits (42,985,152) (41,512,743)
BEME  BEMRED Payments for acquisition of property,
(B plant and equipment (5,682,820) (4,283,076)
RE—HEERME AR Repayment from/(advances of loans to)
g (a— MR &M E a fellow subsidiary
NERHEOERRR) 705,200 (367,259)
REEERTMER Repayment from joint ventures 18,073 7,921
(E & A AR ER (Advances of loans to)/repayment from
#3h)REBESARIMIER  associates (24,192) 21,326
RELRRINRE Investments in joint ventures (151,563) (3,148,441)
RESE R RINIRE Investments in associates (3,520,983) (17,499)
BEWE  BEKEMBEESE  Deposits for purchase of property,
plant and equipment (43,704) (91,715)
ERAEEERS Deposits for right-of-use assets (22,849) (62,324)
o 2 Deposits for operating rights - (1,850)
RERS Deposits for investments (11,413) =
KRR Payments for operating rights - (103,904)
FREAEENK Payments for right-of-use assets (200,542) (295,833)
A ERRITER Placement of pledged bank deposits
RERHIHEE and restricted cash (2,476,875) (6,650)
BEREMENNRK Payments for acquisition of investment
properties (2,228) -
WEEGTARES T8 NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES (11,142,817) (7,199,890)

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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—EB—-F —ETHF
2021 2020
FHET FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BB X FINANCING ACTIVITIES
BITRG Issue of shares - 3,668,945
%ﬁiﬁﬂﬁﬁfﬁ\{mﬁ% New bank and other loans 1,843,965 2,111,002
FEA AR AR A RIRIE Amount due to/(repayment to) an
(FEUEF'F'EEHI‘ /N ﬂi@m) intermediate holding company 2,500,000 (2,500,000)
(MRZRXWMBRARER), (Repayment to)/amount due to fellow
FERTR R B A RIIE subsidiaries (18,913) 29,862
BERNEER Repayment to to joint ventures (204,440) (273,518)
ﬁEH s N R FIE (B4 Amount due to/(repayment to) associates
ANRIER) - (6,851)
FEATB BB A RI3ESE Hxﬁ; Amount due to/(repayment to)
FIE S (EEWBA non-controlling interests of
#% AR TE) subsidiaries 75,679 (25,281)
FEFEIRAR R E & Contribution from non-controlling
shareholders 79,904 222,610
BRERITRAMEE Repayment of bank and other loans (3,755,438) (1,632,008)
BRRE Dividends paid (2,109,440) (1,973,347)
BT FEFE AR AR R AR B Dividends paid to non-controlling
shareholders (1,233,440) (1,159,457)
BEAFE Interest paid (363,065) (466,408)
MANREEZD Principal portion of lease payments (166,456) (90,835)
MEXBIAR ©FRE NET CASH USED IN FINANCING
ACTIVITIES (3,351,644) (2,095,286)
Be& MRS SEYIEMFE  NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (6,104,403) (679,146)
FURELBELEED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 13,442,206 13,502,481
EEBNTE - FHE Effect of exchange rate changes, net 225,147 618,871
FRBE RIRSFZEY - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BNERTT M RIRS END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED
BY BANK BALANCES AND CASH 7,562,950 13,442,206
ZPMRRERERAT —ZE=—FFH
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ARBB RN AREZMALAE
HEeMEmARRAR - ERONEE
BaxSmARIA (TBRA]) £
W ERESARRREBEMAIL
MER (RE) ARAR (TEHEER
Al MEKKERAR ST EER
BERRR (THEER]) (517 [+ EE
BRRRD  ZARB—ZRKRHFEA
REMBE (THE ) KIZHRE - KR
AR ER R EEE X MBI
MAFHRARBER —EHEE -

FEMBHRRABT ([FEIL]) 25
RARARBAR/—RBROREBER
FrEmH EHRAR - MEKLHKRE
ENEEE  AUARREERRE
SRR E RS E A LM BN
RAETEREHE -

mBE%E

RERRIREVBRER  BARK
RZBE-Z—&F+=-A=+—HA
EENRBHEERBERDEE
18,132,257,000 8 T R A H B E
NAEHE2 623,813,00058 7T © ANA A
EEDBEESEASENRRTHE
MR - RZB-_—F+-_A=+—
B A5SENRTRAMEESHK
911,365,000 7T * H#615,659,000
BITHEIERTBAERE  WEAER
HEHELEZEA H£495,583,770,0007%
T ZERBEEBEAERARESAE -

RAREFRE Kt RAEB RS
MR TRIE22,161,041,000/8 7T
EABELEES  AEEERREE
EormE_T=—F+=A=+—
BEARR+—EANERBER - F
I NG APBBRERNAFELLEE
TR -

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

GENERAL

The Company is a listed public company incorporated in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and
its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company’s intermediate
parent company is China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited (“CRH"), a company incorporated in Hong Kong, and its
ultimate holding company is China Resources Company Limited
(“CRCL") (formerly known as “China Resources National Corp.”),
a company established in the People’s Republic of China (the
‘PRC"). The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate
Information of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are set
out in notes 46, 47 and 48, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"”) as the Company is a public company with
its shares listed on the Stock Exchange in Hong Kong where
most of its investors are located, and therefore, the directors of
the Company consider that HK$ is preferable in presenting the
operating results and financial position of the Group.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$18,132,257,000,
and the Group had capital commitments of HK$2,623,813,000
as at 31 December, 2021. As at 31 December, 2021, the Group
had bank and other borrowings totalling HK$911,365,000, of
which HK$615,659,000 was classified as current liabilities and
has senior notes totalling approximately HK$5,583,770,000, all of
which were classified as current liabilities.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking into
account of the unutilised banking facilities of HK$22,161,041,000
and internally generated funds of the Group, the Group has
sufficient working capital for its present requirements for the
next twelve months from 31 December, 2021. Accordingly, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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31 B HREERKEE 3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES
AEEERAFENTEHREK B RIE The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first
T SIEET BB SRS LR - time for the current year’s financial statements.
ERUBRELERNE FIEEE Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
9% - EAGETAR  2E — HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, Phase 2
F39%: - BAUK W FoEER HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

WEERETR &
BT ISR

455 R BB B E
) FE165EIEE]
ERUBRELRNE —F-——F Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
165 BIIEET NA=1H Concessions beyond
# 2 FiT 30 June 2021 (early adopted)
REIE1EETAY
(1BHTHAY)
KET BRI BREENNEE R The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are described
ZHNRFTA below:

ERMAERERAT —T=—FFHK 105
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FEERITAERERERKER
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

CLOSURES (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS
4 and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the
previous amendments which affect financial reporting when
an existing interest rate benchmark is replaced with an
alternative risk-free rate (“RFR”). The amendments provide
a practical expedient to allow the effective interest rate
to be updated without adjusting the carrying amount of
financial assets and liabilities when accounting for changes
in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of
financial assets and liabilities,
consequence of the interest rate benchmark reform and
the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is
economically equivalent to the previous basis immediately
preceding the change. In addition, the amendments permit
changes required by the interest rate benchmark reform to

if the change is a direct

be made to hedge designations and hedge documentation
without the hedging relationship being discontinued. Any
gains or losses that could arise on transition are dealt with
through the normal requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure
and recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments
also provide a temporary relief to entities from having
to meet the separately identifiable requirement when an
RFR is designated as a risk component. The relief allows
an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to assume that
the separately identifiable requirement is met,
the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk component
to become separately identifiable within the next 24
months. Furthermore, the amendments require an entity
to disclose additional information to enable users of
financial statements to understand the effect of interest

provided

rate benchmark reform on an entity’s financial instruments
and risk management strategy.As at 31 December 2021,
the Group had certain interest-bearing bank borrowings
denominated in Hong Kong dollars based on the Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) and Renminbi
based on the Loan prime rate(“LPR"). The Group expects
HIBOR and LPR will continue to exist and there is no impact
on the Group’s HIBOR-based and LPR-based borrowings.
For the LIBOR-based and LPR-based borrowings, since the
interest rates were not replaced by RFRs during the year,
the amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group. If the interest
rates of these borrowings are replaced by RFRs in a future
period, the Group will apply the above-mentioned practical
expedient upon the modification of these instruments
provided that the “economically equivalent” criterion is met.
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in April 2021 extends the
availability of the practical expedient for lessees to elect not
to apply lease modification accounting for rent concessions
arising as a direct consequence of the covid-19 pandemic
by 12 months. Accordingly, the practical expedient applies
to rent concessions for which any reduction in lease
payments affects only payments originally due on or before
30 June 2022, provided the other conditions for applying
the practical expedient are met. The amendment is effective
retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1
April 2021 with any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendment recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits at the beginning of the current
accounting period. Earlier application is permitted. The
Group has early adopted the amendment on 1 April 2021.
However, the Group has not received covid-19-related rent
concessions and plans to apply the practical expedient
when it becomes applicable within the allowed period of
application.

EWARERERAT —B-—FER
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BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HALFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021

3.2 CHEMEMKRERNERHM
B s 2
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3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework'

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Insurance Contracts?
Insurance Contracts?®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current**
Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction®

Property, Plant and Equjpment:
Proceeds before Intended Use'

Onerous Contracts - Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract'
Amendments to HKFRS 1,

HKFRSs 2018-2020 HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16,
and HKAS 41"
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

8 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

adoption

4 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to align the

corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

5 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in
October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary
exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than
HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference
to the previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in June 2018 without
significantly changing its requirements. The amendments also
add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for an
entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine what
constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for
liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope
of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred separately
rather than assumed in a business combination, an entity
applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore,
the amendments clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for
recognition at the acquisition date. The Group expects to adopt
the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2022. Since the
amendments apply prospectively to business combinations
for which the acquisition date is on or after the date of first
application, the Group will not be affected by these amendments
on the date of transition.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that
do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or
joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS
10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January
2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.
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3.2 EEMERAKERNE B 3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
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KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as
current or non-current. The amendments specify that if an entity’s
right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity
complying with specified conditions, the entity has a right to
defer settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting period
if it complies with those conditions at that date. Classification of a
liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise
its right to defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also
clarify the situations that are considered a settlement of a liability.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty.
The amendments also clarify how entities use measurement
techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or
after the start of that period. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group'’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception so that it no longer applies to transactions
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as leases and decommissioning obligations.
Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred tax
asset and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The amendments are effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and shall be applied to transactions related to leases and
decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that date.
In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively to
transactions other than leases and decommissioning obligations.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an
entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such items,
and the cost of those items, in profit or loss. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only to items of
property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after
the beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial
statements in which the entity first applies the amendments.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the
cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate
directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g.,
direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other costs that
relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of the
depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment
used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract management
and supervision costs). General and administrative costs do not
relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are
explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied to contracts
for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the
beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first applies
the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised
as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial
application without restating the comparative information. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group are
as follows:

° HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a
new or modified financial liability are substantially different
from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees
include only those paid or received between the borrower
and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity applies
the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or
exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting
period in which the entity first applies the amendment. The
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2022. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendment is not expected to have a significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

° HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments
from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in
[llustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This
removes potential confusion regarding the treatment of
lease incentives when applying HKFRS 16.

EWARERERAT —B-—FER

113



114

GAMBRENE

iy =]

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-_—S+-A=+—HLEFE

4.

TESHEE
HEPBHRRDRREBLGINAE
BN BEEMBRSERRE - 1t
Sh - BRAMBRREEMIMES L
AR B B &8 R BHGIAR E 6938 B 4R
5= o
BREEREARRAFEAENE
T2 TAN  GaMBRRIIRE
BSERAEERS - & TG
RAPEH R -

R SE AR —MRIA R B RIS B 4R
FHRENATEREE -

RTEERAERMTS2HEERE
HERXSPHELENKRMRERE
BAXNEER MWL ERES
BB AR Bk Rl A A A B R T
te BEMB2EERGTERNHEE
HEEEEREEEREERNEBENR
o AASERMGHEERAENR
FEEEERZFRMN - HEHEY
BRERPEAER AEBEABHA
FEDREEEERE  EBREBY
BmELNE2W [ LR BERA
A IBENARDARNRZS - BR
BEEFENF1I7TREEANEER
% URBEAFERISBELTE
WIRFENTE  EWEEQTE
AFE2R [ FE AN ERFENE
BEtEREI65 [ FERE | e
BB -

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
which are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope
of HKFRS 2 Share-based payment, leasing transactions that
are within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in use in HKAS
36 Impairment of assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights
are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not
the Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it
power, including:

° the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders
or other parties;

. rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

o the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time
that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns
at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’'s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components of equity
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including
re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the
non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted after re-attribution of the relevant equity
component, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses that are not combinations of business
under common control are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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4. FESTHE &) 4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

EBEO(E) Business combinations (Continued)

EMREN— B REEREH R The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the

FEIEELENEEERERNEIR acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a

BAR—EHEHRRE  AEERAHE substantive process that together significantly contribute to the

B —IHET - ability to create outputs.

R RER - TR 2 AT BB B E K& At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and

Pz BETRIEE BiR AT ERE the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the

R MELATERERAN - acquisition date, except that:

e EREHBEEXAEBREERT e  deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
RHMEANEEXBBENREE or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
DRRE BT ERNE 125 [ A7 recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12
FH I REBSTERE 195 Income taxes and HKAS 19 Employee benefits respectively;

[1ES#E7 | R E

o EAWINEETT B LARR (D A ER e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
R BE Sk A BV A R 77 89 AR payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
D AERONREZEEmE] LR payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
SEMURN AERON L share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
FHENBESIERTIA - TR measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition
EHREREAMBREERE?2 date; and

Bt R

e BEABVBHELEANESH e  assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
[FFEH E R FE B B ERE A for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current assets
IHAEERF | DB RBIELED held for sale and discontinued operations are measured in
BE (S EHR) RIBZER accordance with that standard.

TR

PEEEUARERE  RE - FERER Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the

BB 5 R P & 7R R W 5 DA consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling

FEZHKESTRE2 2 THE(E) interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's

AR R FT U EE 2 P R E E R previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the

WhE BB R E BEZFER - T net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities

BHZEZEEAE - WEEME - TR assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net of

B2 BRI B EREAEABERKE the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired

HEZ FEaREE2RE  FER and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration

TEE 25 P4 WL B 77 R P Ak 2 BB DA R W B transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the

FUAARBE G EET Rz A TE acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held

() z @A - AIZREENENIEEA interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised

R RREERE R - immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value.

Merger accounting for business combinations involving
entities under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements items of the combining entities or businesses in
which the common control combination occurs as if they had
been combined from the date when the combining entities or
businesses first came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are
consolidated using the existing book values from the ultimate
controlling parties’ perspective. No amount is recognised in
respect of goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair
value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost at the time of common control combination, to
the extent of the continuation of the controlling party’s interest.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income includes
the results of each of the combining entities or businesses from
the earliest date presented or since the date when the combining
entities or businesses first came under the common control,
where this is a shorter period and up to the date of disposal, as
appropriate.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are restated as if the entities or businesses had been
combined at the previous reporting period or when they first
came under common control, whichever is shorter and up to the
date of disposal, as appropriate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently whenever there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in
a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill, and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal (or any of the cash-generating
unit within group of cash-generating units in which the Group
monitors goodwill).

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are
not accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share
of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group’s
interest in that associate or joint venture, the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect
to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKAS 39, the Group measures the retained interest at
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair
value on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair value of
any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing the
relevant interest in the associate or joint venture is included in
the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate
or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be
required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the
relevant associate or joint venture.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion
of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
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Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one

revenue is measured at the present value of the amount

receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group

the customer at contract inception. When the contract

contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the practical

expedient in HKFRS 15.
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Sale of goods (including gas fuel, gas appliances and
related products)

Revenue from the sale of industrial products is recognised
at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred
to the customer, generally on delivery of the industrial
products.

Gas connection/design and construction services

Revenue from the provision of gas connection and design
and construction services is recognised over time,
using an input method to measure progress towards
complete satisfaction of the service, because the Group’s
performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced. The
input method recognises revenue based on the proportion
of the costs incurred, relative to the estimated total costs for
satisfaction of the construction services.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(b) Gas connection/design and construction services
(Continued)

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks to
collect from the customers as reimbursement of costs and
margins for scope of works not included in the original
construction contract. Claims are accounted for as variable
consideration and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. The Group uses the expected value method to
estimate the amounts of claims because this method best
predicts the amount of variable consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and taxes.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Other income (Continued)

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below.

Revenue from a construction contract for gas connection is
recognised when the outcome of the construction contract for
gas connection can be estimated reliably and the stage of
completion at the end of reporting period can be measured
reliably. Revenue from and expenses on construction contracts
for gas connection are recognised using the percentage of
completion method, measured by reference to the costs incurred
during the year relative to the estimated total costs of the
contract. When the outcome of a construction contract for gas
connection cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised
only to the extent of contract cost incurred that is probable to be
recoverable.

Revenue from gas supply is recognised when gas is used by
customers.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for leasing
below.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021



TESFEE ()

BREE
BREERATFEZEMRRGE
RRBTUE B R HER - W AR
BENEP X RE KN REIHFR
BEPEREWIMBEN - RIFLATER
BB RHEREERAREE - &R
BEBETRENE  HFBERER
CREERESHBREAN - BE_F
——H%+ZHA=+—8B GREET
REBRRIARIREMEEE |NE
B TR R B A -

BREAE

RAEBEEZREEmE RS <A
YR PSRN R E B (AR
ERE)  ERARAE - EAKER
BeREHE (AR RERSE
MEHEERERS)  aRABEER
RN

ELES

BE A A E R EE MR
5h A AT HE It - AEIT R
BEZMNARELZRABARIA
B

(a) ARAKAEERAEEBHAIZ
AR%ERITLZAREEERH
1% o

(b) BERASEEBARTER (K
FETK) BRBEHEEZER
BLAELERBATIEM °

(c) ARIRATRHAKE -

ERARKAREEERBEDX
RBEBETEPOEE-—HNRAME
EENBHERAMEEREREHR
IS o B A RIRARELRH

E-B--Ft-A=t-HALFE

FRE KR ERMET
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for
goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group
performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before
the customer pays consideration or before payment is due,
a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration
that is conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the accounting
policies for impairment of financial assets. The contract assets
are disclosed under a separate financial statement line item
named “Assets related to contract works” as at 31 December,
2021.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a contract with a
customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria
are met:

(a) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the
customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates.
Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in progress) are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment
in the course of construction for production or for own use
purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less
any recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress
is classified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets commence when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account their estimated residual values, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasehold land and buildings under development for future
owner-occupied purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of
development for production or for administrative purposes, the
leasehold land component is classified as a right-of-use asset
and amortised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
During the construction period, the amortisation charge provided
for the leasehold land is included as part of costs of buildings
under construction. Buildings under construction are carried at
cost, less any identified impairment losses and are classified
as property, plant and equipment. Depreciation of buildings
commences when they are available for use (i.e. when they are
in the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management).

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account their estimated residual values,
using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in
the period in which the item is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets include the operating rights for city pipeline
network.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset is measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss in the
period when the asset is derecognised.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

E-E-—F+-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
for low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 2 to 50 years
Buildings 2 to 25 years
Plant, machinery and equipment 2 to 24 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in
the period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)
(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office
equipment that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included
in revenue in profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the
period in which they are earned.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company are recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

EWARERERAT —B-—FER

133



RE SRR MIEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HALFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021

TESFEE ()

FE
7 8 PARK AR Ko R 8 30 3B M & HY B
FENER o ALAIIREFI9EETE -

RERRESEEY

BEeBReREXRME RefRe
SEVEETFRAL  EHEFERRA
BRERSENBRES  BEED
RRERER —REBAR=EARED
HzEHaRPERE - MBRARE
KRB EERERNAEEREEENT
DENED 2 |ITEX

MEEAMBRRERME e kB
%EW@%%ﬁ$xﬁﬂm¥@ﬁ%
HERRIRITHES (BEEHFR)
AREERURENEE

RERHMEMEE
LR R T2

HEBERATARARKIHITL
o AEHEREERERABELS
EMBIMR R AR -

RN TERE - SREED BIURR
CREENARBESRERENAE
BEREZEZeRMEENEBER - K
TETBEEABMEMAKED KKK
ECERAAITERETETIHRERRE
AR DM EELRAENERES
BRFO - REB IR AFES M
(HemEEYIFIZAFEFABR)
RGRAERCREE - WEBEARH
EERBORAEHEERBATEE
AR YR 5 R R £ 3T HER
Wik | FRE IR SRR BB M 1S5RS 2R
F1SREENIHERFE -

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15
in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
above.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and computed
in the same manner as for financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the
cumulative fair value change recognised in other comprehensive
income is recycled to the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of comprehensive income. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably, except when the Group
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of
the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in
other comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income are not subject to
impairment assessment.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets at
fair value profit or loss are also recognised as other income in
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established,
it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host;
a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms
of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that
would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial
asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required
to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables and Assets related to contract works which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and Assets related to contract works that
do not contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect
of a significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but
instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach (Continued)

For trade receivables and Assets related to contract works
that contain a significant financing component and lease
receivables, the Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a
debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments,
the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such
as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for
an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant
or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to
be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of
impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the
estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows
for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance are written
off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and
all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the
Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the
recovery is credited to other expenses in the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at
fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured,
or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled
by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not
reversed.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
an amount due to the ultimate holding company, derivative
financial instruments and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost(loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL
allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set out
in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of
income recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts (Continued)

A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability
at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to
initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contract at the higher of (i) the amount of the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the costs of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs (Continued)

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans/state-
managed retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Other employee benefits
Defined benefit plan

The Group operates several defined benefit plans which require
payments to be made to each qualifying employee in the PRC.
The benefits are unfunded. The cost of providing benefits under
the defined benefit plans is determined using the projected unit
credit actuarial valuation method.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit pension plans,
comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset
ceiling (excluding amounts included in net interest on the
net defined benefit liability) and the return on plan assets
(excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined
benefit liability), are recognised immediately in the consolidated
statement of financial position with a corresponding debit or
credit to retained profits through other comprehensive income
in the period in which they occur. Remeasurements are not
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

EWARERERAT —B-—FER

145



RE SRR MIEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HALFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021

TESFEE ()

Hitufg SR A ()
REHEE (H)

BERBRAE TR ER B MEE
PR

o FHEEFTSHIRKBH &

s AKERAEBERENERD
B &

SR BBEREE R AN SUER
MEEREEFERGTED - AEH
EEABEaRPIRDERE HEKRE]
R [THAX | THRARERNEEF
FRATEE

o IREBKA  BEEHRBAAK -
BERBAKA - HURFBER R
CRSEiSE

o FNBRZZMA

BLIH

P15 T A S 45 B H P A 0 08 BB FE 75
TRRARAN

BB P& A B IR 4% 4 1A B AR A0 A AT
B o ERDUG NN BRI EMEE AR
ABHAHRKZIAR » TAEES
ARBHAAHBIAR - AfMASE
BaEREMEEKRERAZBORB
Al A B PR - A8 SR e B A A IR
BENREREHREBAARELER
M =G E -

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Other employee benefits (Continued)
Defined benefit plan (Continued)

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss at the earlier
of:

. the date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and

o the date that the Group recognises restructuring-related
costs

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the
net defined benefit liability or asset. The Group recognises the
following changes in the net defined benefit obligation under
“cost of sales” and “administrative expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss by function:

o service costs comprising current service costs, past-service
costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-routine
settlements

° net interest expense or income

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
group entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in HK$, which is the Company’s functional currency
and the Group’s presentation currency.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net
investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and are reclassified
from equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the
Group’s interests in associates or joint ventures.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve.

The functional currency of a group entity is changed only where
there is a change to the underlying transactions, events and
conditions relevant to the group entity. The group entity applies
the translation procedures applicable to the new functional
currency prospectively from the date of the change. At the date
of the change, the group entity translates all items into the new
functional currency using the prevailing exchange rate at that
date and the resulting translated amounts for non-monetary items
are treated as their historical cost.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or
after 1 January, 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the translation reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash
— generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Government grants related to depreciable assets
are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets. Other government grants are recognised as revenue
over the periods necessary to match them with the costs for
which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis.
Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Long term award scheme

The cost of acquisition of the Company’s shares pursuant to the
long term award scheme is recorded as shares held for incentive
award scheme. The shares held for incentive award scheme will
be disposed of for cash which will be distributed to the eligible
employees.
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Long term award scheme (Continued)

When the shares held for long term award scheme are disposed
of and the resulting proceeds from disposal are distributed
to the employees, the proceeds distributed to employees are
recognised as expenses (staff costs), and the difference between
the consideration received and the cost of the shares will be
credited to retained profits.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

Control over ElGZE M RERA 7] and F1LZEFHABR L T

BEBEBMRABMR AR is a subsidiary of the Group although the
Group has only 50% ownership interest and voting rights in &
5 EM R AR AR, The Group had the 50% ownership interest
since June 2006 on E5EEKR AR 2 A and the remaining 50%
of equity interest is owned by a shareholder that is unrelated to
the Group. Details of these are set out in note 46.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Control over EBZFMRERL A and FILEFBRERL &
(Continued)

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over ESEBMABRAF based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
ESEEME AR AR unilaterally. In making their judgement, the
directors considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding
in BBEBMAAMRAA. The board of directors of =FEEEM
RBBRZAA comprise 7 directors. The Group nominated and
appointed 4 directors in BfEHMRRBMR AR and the relevant
activities of B EBMRE AR A7 require over 50% of directors’
approval. After assessment, the directors concluded that the
Group has sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the
relevant activities of EREBRRER AR * and therefore, the
Group has control over EBZE BRI FRAA.

PILEERAE AR AR is a subsidiary of the Group. The Group
has 55% ownership interests and voting rights in #F IUEEERRAAE
fRA7] and the remaining 45% of equity interests is owned by a
shareholder that is unrelated to the Group. Details of these are
set out in note 46.

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over FILEMRREGMR A based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
FRILEEERE AR A A unilaterally. In making their judgement, the
directors considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding
in FILEEMEABRAA. The board of directors of A LLZEEHMR
RABBRZAA comprise 5 directors. The Group nominated and
appointed 3 directors in FILIZEBHKRBRAF and the relevant
activities of FILZEBRET AR A5 require over 50% of directors’
approval. After assessment, the directors concluded that the
Group has sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the
relevant activities of HILERREER AR * and therefore, the
Group has control over # [LIZEBRE AR A A
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Control over HEEBMABERA T  EHEFMRERL ] HT
EHMRERA A and JSEE BT ER L &(the “PRC Entities”)

The PRC Entities are subsidiaries of the Group although the
Group has only 49%, 50%, 51% and 51% ownership interests and
voting rights respectively in the PRC Entities and the remaining
equity interests of the PRC Entities are owned by shareholders
that are unrelated to the Group. Details of these are set out in
note 46.

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the
Group has control over the PRC Entities based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the PRC Entities unilaterally. In making their judgement, the
directors considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding
in the PRC Entities. The shareholders of the PRC Entities signed
memorandums in which the other shareholders would agree the
Group’s decisions on operating, investing and financing activities
of the PRC Entities, and the other shareholders would agree
the appointment of the entire senior management of the PRC
Entities nominated by the Group. After assessment, the directors
concluded that the Group has sufficiently dominant voting
interest to direct the relevant activities of the PRC Entities, and
therefore, the Group has control over the PRC Entities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next
financial year.

Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management estimates the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment based on the expected lifespan of those property,
plant and equipment. The useful lives of property, plant and
equipment could change significantly as a result of technical
innovation. When the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment are different from their estimated useful lives due to
the change of commercial and technological environment, such
difference will impact the depreciation charges and the amounts
of assets written down for future periods.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
at 31 December, 2021 was HK$47,349,282,000 (2020:
HK$40,932,770,000).

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of the value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal. The value-in-use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, or changes in
facts and circumstances result in downward revision of future
cash, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December,
2021, the carrying amount of goodwill was HK$1,274,030,000
(2020: HK$903,956,000). Details of the recoverable amount
calculation are disclosed in note 20.
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5. BAEMESITHE K& T 5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
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AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of
interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a
similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group”would have to pay”, which requires estimation when
no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries
that do not enter into financing transactions) or when it needs
to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease
(for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs
(such as market interest rates) when available and is required to
make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s
stand-alone credit rating).

Allowance for inventories

The Group makes allowance for inventories based on an
assessment of the net realisable value of inventories. Allowances
are applied to inventories where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the net realisable value is lower than
the cost of inventories. The identification of obsolete inventories
requires the use of judgement and estimates on the conditions
and usefulness of the inventories. In cases where the net
realisable value of inventories assessed is less than expected, a
material recognition of allowance for inventories may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss in the period in which such
recognition takes place.

At 31 December, 2021, the carrying amount of inventories was
HK$1,142,272,000 (2020: HK$1,006,828,000).
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance,
focuses on the types of goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group’s operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

(i) Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products —
sale of natural gas and to a much lesser extent, liquefied
petroleum gas for residential, commercial and industrial
use;

(i) Gas connection — construction of gas pipeline networks
under gas connection contracts;

(iii) Sale of gas appliances - sale of gas appliances and related
products;

(iv) Design and construction services — design, construction,
consultancy and management for gas connection projects;

(v) Gas stations — sale of gas fuel in natural gas filling stations.

No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

Segment results represent the profit before taxation earned by
each segment, excluding sundry income, interest income, rental
income, finance costs, depreciation of investment properties,
central administrative costs and directors’ salaries. This is the
measure reported to the executive directors of the Company for
the purpose of revenue allocation and assessment of segment
performance.
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

The information of segment revenue, segment results, segment

assets and segment liabilities is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

D W RFEAE Segment revenue and results
HERDH
RERBR HE it R
HEER MEER REEL ERBH MR CH)
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations Total
TR THR TR TR Ti#n Ti#n
HKS’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
Wz Revenue
HhE External sales 61,324,854 11,976,401 768,151 606,074 3,499,656 78,175,136
E/ Results
RS Segment results 6,454,151 5,078,986 107,274 84,437 581,352 12,306,200
JE(EA2RREE  Share of results of joint ventures 702,351
EMRBENRIEE  Share of results of associates 388,572
BIEMA(EAE  Finance costs (other than interest
MBI on lease liabilities) (367,966)
FABBMA Unallocated income 1,456,032
RABRAX Unallocated expenses (3,301,472)
B BADER Profit before taxation 11,183,717

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December, 2021 (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

HERDH
RERBR #E iR
HBER MR RRHE BRE® ik CH
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas construction Gas
products  Connection  appliances services stations Total

TER TiEn TiEn TiEn TER TER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000

BE ASSETS
PEEE Segment assets 56,308,618 5,861,976 294,934 157170 2,284,979 64,907,677
WAERFMERZ  Interests in joint ventures 12,991,745
REEREIRER  Interests in associates 7,692,448
BRFEEE Deferred tax assets 463,247
FRAEAREE  Unallocated corporate
(Mizta) assets (note a) 20,081,191
106,136,308
BfE LIABILITIES
PREE Segment liabilities 5,773,491 17,146,874 294,190 1,902,116 118,140 25,234,811
ERHE Taxation payable 969,296
BRREAE Deferred tax liabilities 1,317,209
FHERFAEE  Unallocated corporate
(iztp) liabilities (note b) 24,577,330
52,098,646
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BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HALFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021

6. WERSEESR (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)
BE-ZE-—F+-A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December, 2021 (Continued)
(#%)
HEH Other information
FESEREMESBEEEMTAZR Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment
18 assets:
HERDH
FERAR HE Rt R
HEER HREER  #RER BRRE iR KOW fit
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas construction Gas
products connection appliances services  stations Unallocated Total

ThR FTER AR AR ThR AR TAR
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS’000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

REFTBEE Additions to non-current assets 6,206,151 - - 9,237 94,755 2,228 6,312,371
HEREH Depreciation and amortisation 2,558,543 - - 519 109,760 2,668,822
JERESETAE  Impaiment loss/(reversal of

BE/(REEE impairment loss) on trade

EE)EE receivables, net 13,934 221 93 (1,537) (48) - 12,663
HinEUFRERE  Reversal of impairment loss on other

BRI receivables, net - - - - - (790) (790)
AREERBESE  Reversal of impairment loss on

BOFE contract assets, net - (552) - - - - (552)
ERIBAHESR Impairment loss on construction in

58 progress, net 2,730 - - - - - 2,730
HENE BER  Loss on disposal of property,

HEER plant and equipment 27,952 - - - - - 27,952
RIEEEEAEKRSE  Gain on termination of right-of-use

assets (2) - - - - - )
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6. WERDEER (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

BE-Z-_ZF+-A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December, 2020

D R A Segment revenue and results
HERDH
AEMHR #HE Rtk
HEER MRS MRBA BRR% b=k =)
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations Total
TiBr TEx T Tz THR T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wz Revenue
N External sales 41,848,125 9,969,201 372,974 691,763 2,982,106 55,864,169
E Results
PREE Segment results 5,614,203 4,279,850 62,774 87,185 595,485 10,639,497
EHAERAEE Share of results of joint ventures 656,895
ERBERA%E Share of results of associates 258,419
BIHMA(HEAEFE  Finance costs (other than interest
BR5h) on lease liabilities) (433,020)
RARMA Unallocated income 1,045,933
RAERT Unallocated expenses (3,177,461)
BRBATEA Profit before taxation 8,990,263
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BE-SE-—F+=-A=+—RHLEE For the year ended 31 December, 2021

6. WakosEEHR (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)
BE-Z-EF+-A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December, 2020 (Continued)
(&)
THEERERE Segment assets and liabilities
HERDH
REMHR #HE #it R
HAER HAER MEEA BRRH A At
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas  construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations Total

TEL TEL TEL TR TAT TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

EE ASSETS

PREE Segment assets 47,347,202 5,440,844 176,768 164,962 1,811,197 54,940,973

REERRNER Interests in joint ventures 12,114,832

NG Interests in associates 4,082,026

BRHEAE Deferred tax assets 345,422

KARAREE (Wita)  Unallocated corporate assets (note a) 22,387,556
93,870,809

aff LIABILITIES

PRERE Segment liabilities 4,593,671 16,428,605 154,058 2,150,358 174,740 23,501,432

JERIHE Taxation payable 933,609

BEEHEAR Deferred tax liabilities 1,195,678

RARLAEE Unallocated corporate liabilities

(Eb) (note b) 21371731

47,002,450
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BE-Z-_—-F+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

BEZZ-EF+-A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December, 2020 (Continued)

(#&)

HEH Other information

FrESHEREMESBEEEMTAZR Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment

18 assets:

HERDH
RBMER #HE Hit R
HAER MEEE  MESA BRI Ak AR ait
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Saleof  Design and
and related Gas gas  construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations  Unallocated Total
ThL FhEr ThL T TARL TAT TARL
HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
REFNBEE Additions to non-current assets 5,825,141 = = 8,578 94,846 - 5928565
REREH Depreciation and amortisation 2,058,655 - - 3,131 56,692 - 2118478
EWESEH(RE  (Reversal of impairment loss)/
BERE)/ HE impairment loss on trade
BEFE receivables, net 15,808 54,687 = 393 (70) = 70,818
EfERFRERE  Reversal of impairment loss
RS on other receivables, net - - - - - (9,652) (9,652)
AFBERESBE  Impairment loss on contract
et assets, net = 7,802 = = = - 7,802
WEME BER  Loss on disposal of property,
REEE plant and equipment 12,553 = = = = = 12,553
IHEREEENE  Loss on termination of right-of-use
assets 1,068 - - - - - 1,068

Bt Notes:

a. ROMATBERWENBATFRE a. Unallocated corporate assets represent goodwill arising on
TR A - EERATE acquisition of subsidiaries, investment properties, equity investments
SHAHEM R E R AIRE - Hit designated at fair value through other comprehensive income, other
FEWE - DA ITES R R4 receivables, pledged bank deposits and restricted cash, other
4 HMEZURBITESRRES o deposits and bank balances and cash.

b. RO AT BEEEMEMNS BT b. Unallocated corporate liabilities represent other payables, bank

REMEEAREBERE - RITRE
EEREERERASENFEE
FEIE  HABRRRDRARERE -

and other borrowings and senior notes. Bank and other borrowings
and senior notes are classified as unallocated corporate liabilities
because they are managed centrally by the treasury function of the
Group.

FRRABRERLAT —B-—F5H
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BE-_ZE--F+-A=+—HLEFE

6. WERDEEHR (&)

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

ERAKEFRRBEE(FBESR
TARBEERBEE) NERREE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Geographical information

Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding
financial instruments and deferred tax assets) is presented

EMEwE7 based on the locations of the assets:
—EZ—fF —E-THF
2021 2020
FERT T
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
i PRC 74,939,169 62,722,980
B Hong Kong 3,615 7,914
74,942,784 62,730,894

RZMEAR - REBNKRAGRHE

The Group’s revenue is arisen in the PRC during both years.

B

WA R R Timing of revenue recognition

REEEEEE R Goods transferred at a point in time 65,592,661 45,203,205
I3 P i) 8 o8 AR TS Services transferred over time 12,582,475 10,660,964
REZFARBMBRALEE Total revenue from contracts with customers 78,175,136 55,864,169
EBETITEXFRNER Information about major customers

REZMERN  TERBE-ILEP
32 5 9 Y a1 AN 5 B U5 10 % 3 A

Fo

No single external customer contributed revenue from
transactions amounting to 10% or more of the revenue of the
Group during both years.
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(i)  Disaggregated revenue information

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of

FERE : the reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:
—E-—F —T-TF
2021 2020
FET FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FriEREI A (G AR Revenue recognised that was included
HEHPHERAME) © in contract liabilities at the beginning
of the reporting period:
MRER &5t %E®R  Gas connection/design and
AR% construction services 7,415,012 8,134,133

(i) BHEE

BRREEBEOE TOHERBHT
wmr

HER 77 iR BEHH R AR

BHRENRIMREERTT
NFBERRZHE30HREIH -

MR

JE B EREE RIS R IR L M2
ERT NRBERTERRER
EPEXRIY  EFEPBE
AL R

(ii)  Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of gas
and payment is generally due within 30 days from delivery.

Gas connection

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due upon
completion of installation and customer acceptance, except
for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required.

EWARERERAT —B-—FER
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6. WERDEEHR (&)

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

REEFERBBA ()
(i) BRIEE (&) (i)

BHEERRN TREMSER
17 B ERRAE 2 -

R RERIRE

JE #9 & (ERE AR T RO B2 (14 T 2 8
BT BERTERERRE
PEXEIE  EHEPABTA
BRI -

y//IE=pr

BHORENR AR ERTT
BERAIN

BTITEBH (KBTS K
BT)R_ZZT=Z—F+=
A=+ —BHXS5ERA
18,446,123,504 8L (ZE=F
£ 1 17,268,667,696/87T) ° £
MEREBRBENBR T BOEEE
TS TE—F AR KRBT ©

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Performance obligations (Continued)
Sale of gas appliances

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
the industrial products and payment is generally due upon
delivery.

Design and construction services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due upon
completion of installation and customer acceptance, except
for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required.

Gas stations

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of gas
and payment is generally in advance.

The transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at
31 December, 2021 were HK$18,446,123,594 (2020:
HK$17,268,667,696). The remaining performance
obligations related to gas connection are expected to be
recognised and satisfied within one year.
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

Hi A 7. OTHER INCOME
—E=-—F —E-TF
2021 2020
FBT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
HARABIE Other income included:
SEfR RS URA Extended service income 880,916 618,076
BT FE B & Government grants 72,800 147,662
AT S FLEHA Interest income from bank deposits 26,669 18,232
H A7 50 F 2 M (B EE) Interest income from other deposits (note) 212,270 271,347
REAETEQFET AEAM Dividend income from equity investments
2EBEHRAZER designated at fair value through other
f& B A comprehensive income 2,647 2,036
REFERRBERNE QTR Interest income from deposits placed
FERF EBA with a fellow subsidiary 21,351 13,006
REMERMBRRRE Interest income from loans to
BRI B HA fellow subsidiaries 63,572 57,794
REAEDRHF EUWA Interest income from joint ventures 1,518 1,568
=R ANCEEVPSY N Interest income from associates 3,941 2,790
RELERAHBSWA Rental income from operating leases 41,910 43,405
RAELEEGE MK Gain on deemed disposal of joint ventures 95,393 6,165
RALHERE AR K Gain on deemed disposal of associates 34,356 169
HE — MM B A R e e Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 25,074 =
Hh Others 291,948 215,402
1,774,365 1,397,652

Mz R=F=—F+=-A=+—H " kH
HihE RO F WA BIER AR F
B 9 SR 1T B R A A RIS SHER R A
GRAKRITREERMOFSWA °

the PRC.

ERRRERERAF

Note: At 31 December, 2021, interest income from other deposits
consisted of interest income from principal protected deposits and
bank financing products denominated in RMB issued by banks in

e
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

8. MR 8. FINANCE COSTS
—E-—-F —ETF
2021 2020
FER FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
THEERFE Interest on:

RITREMIER Bank and other borrowings 75,497 115,301
BERE Senior notes 263,603 260,971
HEBENFE Interest on lease liabilities 14,415 16,400
&% R RRIE Amounts due to joint ventures 1,609 3,584

FEAT o RERR A B RKIB Amounts due to intermediate holding
companies 22,940 51,666
HEREEE Other long-term liabilities 4,317 1,498
382,381 449,420
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

BRBL A% R 9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
—E-—F —ETF
2021 2020
B = FBT FAT
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BRERDENE MR Profit before taxation has been arrived
(FA) = at after charging/(crediting):
B IA Staff costs
B Directors’ emoluments 11 17,659 8,759
HEMET Other staff
— ¥re RAA — Salaries and bonus 3,721,131 3,456,353
— Hip4aH - Other benefits 1,007,107 959,067
— RIRRERIET IR - Retirement benefit scheme
contributions 976,731 509,717
B I A42%5E Total staff costs 5,722,628 4,933,896
% EREN BN & Auditor’s remuneration 14,579 12,943
W% - MEMEEITER  Depreciation and impairment of
BIE property, plant and equipment 14 2,392,713 1,873,436
BEMESRE Depreciation of investment properties 15 4,697 4,007
FREEERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16(a) 194,784 176,218
iSRS (ERTATTER Amortisation of operating rights
) (included in administrative expenses) 21 76,628 64,817
SEMEAREERMESE  Impairment of financial and contract
assets, net
— EWRESEFNEFEE - Impairment of trade receivables, net 23 12,663 70,818
— H b R E - Reversal of impairment of
tAEIDEE] other receivables, net 23 (790) (9,652)
—AREECRERER ), - (Reversal of Impairment)/
BB FEE Impairment of contract
assets, net 24 (552) 7,802
ERETIRRRE Impairment of construction in progress 14 2,730 =
HEME - BEX Loss on disposal of property,
HEEE plant and equipment 27,952 12,553
WIEFAEEE (W),  (Gain)/loss on termination of
&8 right-of-use assets (2) 1,068
REFAHEBEFTED Lease payments not included in the
O measurement of lease liabilities 16(c) 104,330 80,811

ERRRERERAF
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BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HALFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021

10. H{18 10. TAXATION
—E-—F —ETF
2021 2020
FER FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
RIEZ HBE The tax charge comprises:
BNVERTH I8 Current taxation
REREMETAREB PRC Enterprise Income Tax, withholding tax
R EREE 9k m A & for distributable profits and intergroup
EERNEATTHIENR restructuring of investments in the PRC 2,962,557 2,305,904
BAFERETR Underprovision in prior years 41,523 49,570
3,004,080 2,355,474
IRIEFLIE (M43533) Deferred taxation (note 33) (260,195) (77,099)
2,743,885 2,278,375

FANTBHNEHDREREEEN
AETERBURNIZ T T 16.5% (ZF =
T 1 16.5%) 5HERME - KRR RE
REBEEONBRANREFEA
W BRG] - Hit - WENERE
MEIWERAHRRR NS HEE -

REBEHEARIMBELERETE
(TEEMEBE]) REEMEHE
BN PEMHEBRARNTER
6% EETEREEBZTEREER
Bt KB IR R

BRI B R BRI E RS T %
BB (MR _E——E51%) - 4
BhERERANEEEEDRERZ
T\ — A — B A1 BREA i B A
0 HMTEMT © MR ZBRIBIERAT
B AR F M 5k /9 iR BRI B R IR T
EBMER BT IEA R FAE AR
B 591 1512 5% 8 10% F B R B 4 1
EMEH (APEEENR)

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year. The Company and its subsidiaries
operating in Hong Kong did not have assessable profits,
accordingly no provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made in the consolidated financial statements for both years.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% except for
certain group entities which are entitled to various concessionary
tax rates or tax exemptions and reliefs.

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and the
State Administration of Taxation, Cai Shui 2011 No. 1, only
the profits earned by foreign-investment enterprises prior to 1
January, 2008, when distributed to foreign investors, can be
grandfathered and exempted from withholding tax. Whereas,
dividend distributed out of the profits generated thereafter,
shall be subject to the Enterprise Income Tax at 5% or 10% and
withheld by the PRC entities, pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the
New Law and Article 91 of its Detailed Implementation Rules.
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BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021

10. Bi1E (&)

FARBX HEFSBERMAMEE
Yean sk ERRDLADE M SBRNT

10. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
taxation per consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

—EB-—F —ETF
2021 2020
FHT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
B Bt Al g A Profit before taxation 11,183,717 8,990,263
REAERE25% Tax at the applicable income tax rate of 25%
(ZZ=ZF:25%) 18 (2020: 25%)
Bi1E 2,795,929 2,247,566
MM AE TR A Tax effect of expenses not deductible
g2 for tax purposes 206,562 194,299
RIS AR BARBIAR Tax effect of income not taxable
ik 37 for tax purposes (18,862) (37,425)
REAERAREEMHETE  Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures (175,588) (164,224)
JEMREEE AR EENT BT E  Tax effect of share of results of associates (97,143) (64,605)
RERT B BN T2E Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 21,505 21,485
S BE REROEEEIE  Utilisation of tax losses previously
not recognised (12,487) (6,794)
REEVNEGFEAET Income tax at concessionary rates (116,454) (52,079)
BRAFEIREN DR KL Withholding tax for distributable profits
SBRNEAMNTENR and intergroup restructuring of investments
in the PRC 110,624 96,079
BEFERETRE Underprovision in prior years 41,523 49,570
Efh Others (11,724) (5,497)
FABIAX L Tax charge for the year 2,743,885 2,278,375
EPRRIERERLE —Z=—FFH 171
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BE-_Z-_—S+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December, 2021

1. EERTHATIMERESR
REHEE

=
ENSENESHMESDT

11.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES

Directors

The emoluments paid or payable to the directors are as follows:

- it St 3
2021 2020
¥R W KRR ek R Rk
k3 HibER ik 53 HER &t e Afbigrl HEd ARt At
Performance  Retirement Performance Retirement
Salaries related benefit Salaries related benefit
and other incentive schemes and other incentive schemes
2 Name of directors Fees benefits ~ payments contributions Total Fees benefits ~ payments  contributions Total
Fin Tn Tn TEn Tin Thx T TR Thn Thn
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
HTES Executive directors
SEE (HiE(c)  SHI Baofeng (note (c)) - 1,379 4,587 Ik} 6,009 = 1,501 2564 51 4,116
Bl GE Bin - 1,612 4218 4 5877 = 1,317 2,250 76 3,643
BT (kb)) YANG Ping (note (b)) - 1,180 3,201 102 4573 = = - = =
FHTES Non-executive directors
TER (MiEa)  WANG Chuandong (note (a)) - - - - - = = = = =
TRE (Ffsk(@)R(d)  CHEN Ying (note (a)8(d)) - - - - - = - - - -
TZ (HiE@)Rk(d)  WANG Yan (note (2)&(d)) - - - - - = = = = =
BER WAN Suet Fei (note (a)&(d))

(PiEH(a)R(a) - - - - - - - - - _
Bt JING Shiging (note (a)&())

GEED) - - - - - - - - - -
Ink WWANG Gaogiang

(3@ R(e)) (note (2)8(e)) - - - - - = = = = =
HE LIU Xiaoyong (note (a)é(e))

(FE(a)Re)) - - - - - - - = - -
2 (HfzE(@)R(e) LIV Jian (note (2)3(e)) - - - - - = = = = =
BUFHTES  Independent non-

executive directors
EEH WONG Tak Sing 300 - - - 300 250 = - = 20
ER YU Hon To, David 300 - - - 300 20 - - - 250
Rl YANG Yuchuan 300 - - - 300 250 - - - 250
g HU Xiaoyong 300 - - - 300 20 - - - 250
1,200 41 12,096 192 17,659 1,000 2818 4814 121 8,759
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BERKLE  REFEE  ERHE
£ RBEBAEREREER T
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(b) BFEER=ZTE=Z—F+ZA=+=
BEZIARARRITES - BHR
TEERZEGER -

(c) S$BEXHEN-_ZT-_—SHLA=1H
BEMITES -

(d) BREXAE - EFE£4E  ASRZLIR
“E-—FAATHABHEFRTE
Egs
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)

Directors (Continued)

Notes:

(a) The emoluments of Mr. WANG Chuandong, Mr. CHEN Ying, Mr.
WANG Yan, Ms. WAN Suet Fei, Mr. JING Shiging, Mr. WANG
Gaogiang, Mr. LIU Xiaoyong and Mr. LIU Jian for 2021 and 2020 are
borne by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited.

(b)  Mr. YANG Ping has been appointed as an executive director, Chief
Executive Officer and the Chairman of the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company on 23 December, 2021.

(c) Mr. SHI Baofeng has resigned as an executive director on 30
September, 2021.

(d)  Mr. CHEN Ying, Mr. WANG Yan, Ms. WAN Suet Fei have resigned as
non-executive directors on 15 September, 2021.

(e)  Mr. WANG Gaogiang, Mr. LIU Xiaoyong and Mr. LIU Jian were
appointed as non-executive directors on 15 September, 2021.

() Mr. JING Shiging has resigned as a non-executive director on 21
May, 2021.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group. The emoluments of the non-
executive directors and independent non-executive directors
shown above were paid for their services as directors of the
Company.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors waived any
emoluments in both years.

ERRRBRERLAT —B-—F58
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M. EERTBREATMERESR
BEeHES (&)

==

AEERLEBERFALTRERSE (=
ToTEZB)NTEE - HEN
HeFBHan Lt - HH=% (=%
TTE WA EeFHEE (REILF
REBESHITHRAE) WS T

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)

Employees

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two (2020:
three) executive directors, details of whose emoluments are set
out above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2020: two)
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Group are as follows:

—E-— —E_TF

2021 2020

FHBT FAT

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

e REMBEAR Salaries and other benefits 2,774 3,536

WMITER S Performance related incentive payments 7,290 5,828

RIRE AT B Retirement benefit scheme contributions 209 153

10,273 9,517

LiiEERNME N A TEHE : The emoluments of the above employees are within the following

bands:

—E-— —E-TF

2021 2020

EEAH EEAH

Number of Number of

employees employees

2,500,001 7523,000,00078 7 HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 - 2
3,000,001 523,500,000/ HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 -

4,500,001 525,000,000 HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 1 -

5,000,001 025,500,000/ 7C HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 1 -

2 8
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BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021

12. DIVIDENDS
—E-—F —ETF
2021 2020
FER FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FANERADIRBRE Dividends recognised as distribution during
the year:
ZE-—FHHERE — 2021 interim dividend —
BRASHEI (ZZ=ZF : 15 HK cents per share
ZE-TFHRERE — (2020: 2020 interim dividend —
BRE15750) 15 HK cents per share) 340,232 340,232
T TFERERE — 2020 final dividend —
BR78BIL (ZT=FF : 78 HK cents per share
“E-NAFERERE - (2020: 2019 final dividend —
FRE7270) 72 HK cents per share) 1,769,208 1,633,115
2,109,440 1,973,347

EEEBERNBE-_ZT-_—F+—-A
—t+—ALFEMNRAREZRI12
BA(ZZE=ZF : 7878(L) - 258

#2,540,401,0008 T (Z 2 T4 : (2020: HK$1,769,208,000).

1,769,208,000/87T) °

ERRRERERAF

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of 112
HK cents (2020: 78 HK cents) per share for the year ended 31
December, 2021 in an aggregate amount of HK$2,540,401,000

e
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BE-_ZE--F+-A=+—HLEFE

13. BREF

FRERBN A TBERTE

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

following data:

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the

—E-—F —TTHF
2021 2020
FHET FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BR Earnings:
AU E G RERZF Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings
BF (BREHEEA per share (profit for the year attributable to
FEMEFERRF) owners of the parent) 6,395,368 5,151,292
—E-—F ZTTF
2021 2020

ROEE :

AT EBREARRT
MEFHEETROEE
A RENET Bl A R R G

Number of shares:
Weighted average number of shares in issue
less shares held for incentive award scheme
for the purpose of basic earnings per share 2,268,215,487

2,232,313,848

HRMEFEYEE BTNEE LR
B MRS SREFRF -

potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021

14. )% - BERRE 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
BE #% HE
g7 Rk HREE GARKE  NEE8 RE  RRIE At
Plant,
machinery
and Gas  Furniture  Leasehold Motor Construction
Buildings  equipment pipelines and fixtures improvements vehicles in progress Total

TR TiEn TR TER TR TER TR TER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000

158 THE GROUP
KA CosT
R-5-%%-f-H At 1 January, 2020 4,965,381 3,756,603 29,299,043 700,369 448,055 615,391 2257623 42,042,465
AE Additions 27,000 244,158 29,045 269,383 32,265 62,573 4,526,708 5,191,132
Ehek Business combinations 136,902 38973 1,199,358 25,585 - 8,164 55573 1,464,555
e Disposals (7260) (65355 (Thddl)  (44999) (3406)  (74,846) (9350)  (300,657)
EE ] Reclassification 289,506 170,368 3,232,071 7,168 2125 - (3,701,238) -
BRRENE Transfer to investment

properties (10,309) - - - - - - (10,309)
ERA% Exchange adjustments 362,993 317,487 2,050,287 59,898 19,642 50,777 220,968 3,082,052
RZE-FF+-A=1-A At 31 December, 2020 5,744 213 4462234 35,734,363 1,017,404 498,681 662,059 3,350,284 51,469,238
AE Additions 30,838 339,026 731 139,783 32,067 72,936 4,860,799 5,482,820
Ey ot Business combinations 518,262 191,324 1,370,981 2,198 2,669 12,923 190,668 2,289,025
e Disposals (39246) (125088  (28094)  (35,609) (4442 (9B89T)  (12679)  (344,0%)
HE-EHEAR Disposal of a subsidiary (4,609) (33876) (137,797 (1578) - (2,938) - (180,798)
EEp Reclassification 471,757 25,893 3,950,305 3,825 8,967 - (4,460,747) -
ERA% Exchange adjustments 191,261 162,862 1,125,533 31,601 10,228 24,472 119,010 1,664,967
RZE-—F+-A=1-A At 31 December, 2021 6,912,476 5022,395 42,022,662 1,157,624 548,170 670,555 4047335 60,381,217
ERRE DEPRECIATION AND

IMPAIRMENT
R-2-%%-f-H At 1 January, 2020 761,322 1,246,708 5,100,162 366,299 279,406 325,278 22,178 8,101,953
FERE Provided for the year 220,973 418,189 1,024,558 101,300 37,844 70,229 343 1,873,436
HERHR Eiminated on disposals (13116)  (85,15) (49321  (25160) (692)  (65.667) - (09107)
ERRENE Transfer to investment

properties (3,708) - - - - - - (3,708)
ERAR Exchange adjustments 86,968 165,891 440,303 33,527 11,233 35,609 363 773,894
RZE-EF+-A=1-H At 31 December, 2020 1,052,439 1,775,637 6,515,702 475,966 327,791 365,449 23,484 10,536,468
FERE Provided for the year 277,955 509,729 1,385,306 108,552 30,970 77471 2,730 2,392,713
itE2 103 Eiminated on disposals (2744 (103179)  (15747)  (28299) (3283)  (94302) o (26754
HE—EHEAA Disposal of a subsidiary (B09) (24355  (33,626) (1,284) - (2,239) N k!
kLS Exchange adjustments 46,489 97,870 246,653 18,011 6,031 17,184 177 432,415
“5--F#+-A=t-H At 31 December, 2021 1,353,530 2,255,702 8,098,288 572,952 361,509 363,563 26,391 13,031,935
A CARRYING VALUES

RZB=-F+-A=1-A At 31 December, 2021 5568946 2,766,693 33,924,374 584,672 186,661 306992 4,020,944 47,349,282
RZF-BF+-A=1-H At 31 December, 2020 4691774 2,686,597 29,218,661 541,438 170,890 206610 3,326,800 40,932,770

EPRRERERDR —FT=—FFH 177
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BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HALFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021

14. Y% - BMERRE ()

Lt BERREBER (EET
2R ON) R ik 5T T 68 B F B AT R B
B RSREEEAERETUFED
T

’F

Buildings
BV &

Plant, machinery and equipment
MREB

Gas pipelines
RMEEE

Furniture and fixtures
HEMERE
Leasehold improvements
e

Motor vehicles

AEENETFURRE L E -

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are depreciated over their estimated
useful lives and after taking into account their estimated residual
values, using the straight-line method, as follows:

25F 405

25 to 40 years
5ZE20%F

5 to 20 years
20E304F

20 to 30 years
3E12F

3 to 12 years
3E5F

3 to 5 years
32105
3'/5to 10 years

The Group’s buildings are situated on the land in the PRC.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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BE-ZT-—-F+=-A=+—HLLFE  For the year ended 31 December, 2021
15. REWE 15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

B aE FAT

Notes HK$'000
D% COST
NZ_TE-_TF—H—H At 1 January, 2020 124,750
BYE  BERZEEDL Transfer from property, plant and equipment 14 10,309
R Exchange adjustments 8,024
RZZE_EF+_A=+—H At 31 December, 2020 143,083
NE Addition 2,228
k=S Disposal (643)
M 4, 3 B Exchange adjustments 4,206
RZB-—F+=-R=+—H At 31 December, 2021 148,874
e DEPRECIATION
RZZE-ZF—H—H At 1 January, 2020 43,023
FERE Provided for the year 4,007
BYE - BEREEEL Transfer from property, plant and equipment 14 3,708
bE 5 AR Exchange adjustments 2,920
RZZEZEF+=-A=+—H At 31 December, 2020 53,658
FERME Provided for the year 4,697
& Disposal (320)
R Exchange adjustments 1,577
RZE-_—F+=-A=+—H At 31 December, 2021 59,612
BREE CARRYING VALUES
RZT_—F+=-A=+—H At 31 December, 2021 89,262
RZZEZEF+-_A=+—H At 31 December, 2020 89,425

AEBEME BURRE SN E s
BARAENE - XD EAREY
EAR - TEDNRANGHEHEFHUE
ROEMHIR B ME MR AT -

All of the Group’s property interests to earn rentals are measured
using the cost model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties. Depreciation is provided to write off the

cost of investment properties using the straight-line method over

the remaining terms of the leases.

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, all of the Group’s investment
properties were situated in the PRC.

ERRRERERAF

=

Bo—FEH
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BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HALFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021

16. HE 16. LEASES
AEBEREAA The Group as a lessee
AEEERAREXBEENET &K The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings,
B WBEEXEBELZEABEENHES plant, machinery and equipment used in its operations. Lump
Ao BEERAEL — XM I sum payments were generally made upfront to acquire the leased
MEFWERAE T - BEHA2E50 land from the owners with lease periods of 2 to 50 years, and no
F - mMBEZELHHAENKRK - & ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these land
PSRBT NEMKIE - EF a7 H leases. Leases of buildings generally have lease terms between
MER2E2F - MEKFE - #a8 R 2 and 25 years, and leases of plant, machinery and equipment
HEHHBBE N T2 244 © have lease terms between 2 and 24 years.
(a) EHEZE (a) Right-of-use assets
AEEFAEAEEENREEB The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and
REBWT the movements during the year are as follows:
B - #aE
HELH BF R At
Plant,
machinery
Leasehold and
land Buildings equipment Total
i3 THEL THL THEL TAEL
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZE-_FF—A—H As at 1 January 2020 2,325,317 191,079 9,706 2,526,102
R Additions 313,136 4,598 431 318,165
KA Business combinations 43,271 = = 43,271
HE Disposals (7,282) = = (7,282)
TERS Depreciation charge (98,386) (75,705) (2,127) (176,218)
L Exchange adjustments 108,050 4,035 113 112,198
R-Z-ZF
+-A=+—H As at 31 December 2020 2,684,106 124,007 8,123 2,816,236
RE Additions 234,000 233,209 26,104 493,313
%Ak Business combinations 37 86,091 = = 86,091
& Disposals (26,732) = = (26,732)
WERS Depreciation charge (99,546) (87,503) (7,735) (194,784)
i 5 3% Exchange adjustments 75,633 3,646 239 79,518
RIB=—%
+-RA=1+—H As at 31 December 2021 2,953,552 273,359 26,731 3,253,642

180 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-—+-A=+—HLEE

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

16. LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) and the

U movements during the year are as follows:
—E--F —T-ZF
2021 2020
FTEr FTAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
R—A—HKEEE Carrying amount at 1 January 318,476 361,167
g New leases 213,911 22,332
FAEHERFSILE Accretion of interest recognised
during the year 14,415 16,400
I 5 SR B Exchange adjustments 9,363 25,812
5k Payments (166,456) (107,235)
R+=ZA=+—BHEEE Carrying amount at 31 December (note)
(B =E) 389,709 318,476
DA Analysed into:
mENE D Current portion 122,471 98,946
JEREE D Non-current portion 267,238 219,530

sk - FAE A E11,235,0008 T (=
T T4 1 40,295,000 7T)
BENERBEAR -

(c) FMEMHRENEEHBEN
T

Note: Lease liability of HK$11,235,000 (2020: HK$40,295,000) is to a

fellow subsidiary.

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases

are as follows:

—BC--F T E
2021 2020
FHET FTHT
HK$’ 000 HK$’000
HEBERL Interest on lease liabilities 14,415 16,400
EREEERERX Depreciation charge of
right-of-use assets 194,784 176,218
HEHEENEEBEEE Expense relating to short-term leases
HEEBEMHAX and leases of low-value assets
(GTAfTH A & (included in administrative expenses
HERDHEAR) and selling and distribution expenses) 104,330 80,811
B ER AR Total amount recognised in profit or loss 313,529 273,429

ERRRERERAF
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BE-_ZE--F+-A=+—HLEFE

16. HE (&)
AEEERHEA
R-T-—F+-A=+—H B
AEBRBEABAP 2 T HHE &
FAEMEUCAIRAERBENT

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

16. LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessor

At 31 December 2021, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable

operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

—EC--F —TTF
2021 2020
Fix FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
—FR Within one year 9,090 8,861
F_FEFRFT (BREEEMT) In the second to fifth years inclusive 15,618 15,161
RAFNE After five years 1,041 3,535
25,749 27,557

VN — 3z

17. REE QTN ER 17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

—EBE--F —ETCTE
2021 2020
FBx FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BRFEEE Share of net assets 11,617,881 10,780,204
W E AR E Goodwill on acquisition 1,373,864 1,334,628
12,991,745 12,114,832

RBEHR  ARENETESLEAAF
FEIEBUN A 47

Details of the Group’s principal joint ventures at the end of the

reporting period are set out in note 47.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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BE-SE-—F+=-A=+—RHLEE For the year ended 31 December, 2021

17. REE AR ER (&) 17.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(CONTINUED)
EEMEUYHFBEANSEQTMNE Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not
&R individually material :
:g:—ﬂi —7—?$
2021 2020
FiEx FTAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
AEEEEENERERA The Group’s share of profit and
a4 sm total comprehensive income 146,976 273,591
MR B A 258 Aggregate gas connection income 1,956,483 1,602,661
AEBRZESE QTN Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
ERREEERE interests in these joint ventures 2,565,537 2,321,425
18. NEEZE N B MVRES 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
—BC--F —ToZE
2021 2020
FEx THT
HK$’ 000 HK$’000
EIFEE Share of net assets 5,435,819 4,076,949
IR E R 2 Goodwill on acquisition 2,256,629 5,077
7,692,448 4,082,026
EmERENATE (K:E) Fair value of listed investments (note) 9,914,292 7,126,327
Misk : EMBRDOAFEFZE (FE—RAF Note: The fair value measurements of the listed shares (Level 1 fair value
Bt E) TIREERTISNTHERE - measurements) are derived from quoted prices in an active market.

RMERAR  NREBHEEHE QA Details of the Group’s principal associates at the end of the

FEIE M FE48 o reporting period are set out in note 48.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material associates:

Summarised financial information in respect of EEMKFEEK
MERAR (‘EEMR") and KEBRREBRMDERAR (“KER

R"), the Group’s material associates, are set out below.

The associates are accounted for using the equity method in

BE sz AL © these consolidated financial statements.
EERR BRERR
—E--F —ETHF —EC--F —T-TF
2021 2020 2021 2020
T FHET FTiERr FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000
MENEE Current assets 2,673,225 3,401,953 2,897,596 3,286,938
FRBEE Non-current assets 8,672,084 7,867,634 5,246,717 5,039,493
REAR Current liabilities (3,435,374)  (5,217,132)  (2,962,262)  (3,567,175)
EER=NE Non-current liabilities (1,815,872) (371,716) (251,882) (282,778)
R R Non-controlling interests 444,042 481,997 76,654 81,316
BEERR HREBRR
—E-—-F ZTZTF —E-—-F ZT-TF
2021 2020 2021 2020
FTET FHAT FTERT FTAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000
WA Revenue 6,505,760 7,417,078 5,260,422 4,699,119
FREFREEEELE  Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year 446,846 436,708 615,603 487,837
FABKEE ARRE Dividends received from the
associates for the year 32,357 29,107 85,548 78,132

EERREZERBERAF

“EC-FFRH
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material associates:
(Continued)

A reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amounts of the interests in the associates
recognised in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:

EERR RERR
—E-—F —E-THE —E-—F —T-TF
2021 2020 2021 2020
FTHEx FHT FTHEr T
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000
B A E AR Net assets of the associate
BEFE attributable to owners 5,650,021 5,198,742 4,853,515 4,395,162
AEEREERATH Proportion of the Group’s
wEa LA (HaE) ownership interests in
associates (note) 39.17% 22.27% 32.40% 32.40%
=l Goodwill 2,231,194 3,466 1,658 1,611
RUREER A FE AR Effect of fair value adjustments
% at acquisition 562,004 573,354 114,348 111,082
AEEREEARERA  Carrying amount of the Group'’s
RHEE interests in associates 5,006,311 1,746,017 1,688,545 1,636,725

i —ZT=—F  AEEBRAUBRE
3,135,020,000% T [ 23 86 fE & &=
ERBARAR ([EHaE]) REH
BEEEAERAR([EHEE]) K
R ESEEMRTAEEING.9%A%
7 - AR M BEHAKE41 -

TEMENT DT ENFEEAEEN
UrES) - BAEEHERARIR
AR - BRMRER SRR TH
MREH  FEMIEBRERNOR
it EZR - BERREEUERRXAR
IR E R R EBRE
HEE2XMBMNHE -

Note: The Group acquired an additional 16.9% equity interests in EE
& by purchasing shares from E AT EEERBRAR (“EHAE")
and EHEEEEARRAR (“EHAE") at a total consideration of
HK$3,135,020,000 in 2021. Details of the transactions are set out in
note 41.

The material associates are principally engaged in similar
activities to the Group and are strategic to the Group’s
activities of the sale of natural gas and liquefied petroleum
gas, the construction of gas pipelines networks under gas
connection contracts, the design, construction, consultancy and
management for gas connection projects and the sale of gas fuel
in natural gas filling stations. Their principal place of business is
the PRC.
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually

ER material:
—E-—-F —ECEF
2021 2020
FHBT FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
REEEGRMNREHE The Group’s share of profit and total
W a5 48 BE comprehensive income 132,251 52,009
REBRZERZE A8 Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
S REERE interests in these associates 997,592 799,284

19. EER QAP EFAEMEEE

19. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED

B RAIRE AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

—E-—F —ECEF
2021 2020
FHBT FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000

EERAFEFTAEM Equity investments designated at fair value

ZHBHEHRERE through other comprehensive income

ETRAKRE R ATFE Listed equity investments, at fair value 8,031 3,748
ELEMRAKRE @ BRAFE Unlisted equity investments, at fair value 156,763 149,352
164,794 153,100

i BANIR E RN A BE 3 TE R
FEFAEEE YD ARARNEE
RRZREREBEEIEE -

REzE-_ZT_-_—F+_-_A=+—H
IEFE - AEE A RAKRE BEAR
B£2,647,0008 T (ZE_FF :
2,036,000/ 7T) °

The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group
considers these investments to be strategic in nature.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group received

dividends in the amount of HK$2,647,000 (2020: HK$2,036,000)
from the equity investments.

EEMRERBERAT —E--—FFR8
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20. & 20. GOODWILL
B E FHT
Note HK$'000
BREE CARRYING VALUE
R-ZZE-_TF—H—H At 1 January, 2020 669,370
¥%A0t Business combinations 185,052
bE 5 AR Exchange adjustments 49,534
R-ZE_EF+-_A=+—H At 31 December, 2020 903,956
E Business combinations 37 342,004
bE AR Exchange adjustments 28,070
R_ZE-_—F+=-A=+—H At 31 December, 2021 1,274,030

MEBAHIRENEES HEEE
HREENZEB A REeELSE
7z ([REELEFEM]) - BiEEREER
AME  EEEREMEBERRREL
IR B E A BT -

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to
cash-generating units (“CGUs”) that are expected to benefit
from that business combination. Management considers that
each subsidiary represents a separate CGU for the purpose of
goodwill impairment testing.
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BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021

20. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of
goodwill mainly represented goodwill arising from the acquisition
of subsidiaries as follows:

\
/

b. ZERCELEBUMIREED S
B (NHEERDHRBME RIBE
B (RRER (i) HEMRES
B R(iv) Nk o

c. BREeEABURELFEER(EBEE
N)HE -

B = —EB-—F —ET-THF

Notes 2021 2020

Fix FHT

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

ZMEBREERAR (Hita) ZMEBREAER AT (note a) 233,847 227,169

ZHEBRRBER LA (HEb) TREEMIARAFR (note b) 136,645 132,742

RZEZEBHRRERAF (FEa) REZEBERRBRAT (note a) 129,815 126,108

EHRR (B8) BRAR (MiFa) FEERR(LE)BERZAF (note a) 125,597 122,010

AZERAMRERAR (Mia) EREBERIERADAF (note a) 109,375 =

REZEBRKERAF (HEb) REZEBHRIABRAAE (note b) 79,965 77,681
EISEBREERAR AR EI5EBREERARAT (note ¢)

(P zEC) 76,455 =
LKEERRARBRAR (Hita) BKEERRARBRAT (note a) 54,944 =
SERE=SRAARBRELAA BHR=ZSRARBREFEAT (note a)

(FfzEa) 50,962 49,507
ZEERRRARAR (MiFa) ZHEBERREERAA (note a) 33,289 32,338
CEHEERRERARE (MitTa) CEZREEMRTERAF (note a) 30,183 =
ENERMRERDERAAE N BRI MD AR AR (note a)

(ffzEa) 29,863 29,010
BKERRARBRAR (Hika) BKERRKARBRAA (note a) 29,322 =
XIWEBBMRARERAR (Hirta) XWEBRRARER 2R (note a) 24,186 =
ARZEBRZERAF (HiFa) KAEREBERRABRAA (note a) 22,831 22,179
ALe T E B A AR A A AL T EEM R AR AR (note b)

(FiF5ED) 16,571 16,098
HAtb (MtiEa) Others (note a) 90,180 69,114

1,274,030 903,956
MisE : Notes:
a. RERSEXEBENMPREES S a. These CGUs are engaged in the operating segments of (i) the sale
B ()VHE RS HREWE RAEREE and distribution of gas fuel and related products; (ii) gas connection;
o (RRIER  R(i) HER RS and (iii) the sale of gas appliances.

b. These CGUs are engaged in the operating segments of (i) the sale
and distribution of gas fuel and related products; (ii) gas connection;
(iii) the sale of gas appliances; and (iv) gas stations.

G The CGU is engaged in the sale of integrated energy including
electricity.

EWARERERAT —B-—FER
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20. HE () 20. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

iﬁ%éi%fﬁﬂ’ﬂ—ﬂﬁl@é*ﬁﬁﬁi@iﬁl
BETEHEERE - sTEEREER
E@Ixﬁx&iﬁ?ﬁﬁ% CHERRREE
HEERANTEREHEH TEE
DERAARMEBESRERRSE
A BB AR HELBR B0 ER 1T T 35 5T 4l A
5t A Al T\ﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁz o R EIREN
BMEEAGE  -EEBREEKRAHE
EUE'JEUEEL 7l R 7B EATH 35 R SR &b
MEE °

AEERESRASEEERBARK
E (HERERARMABEREBLH
—RBERBR) KT BRE RS
ReRmEEA - RIZE A FHMEEHE
RE5% RIEH T FEMNBTIEEE
2% (ZZT=_ZTF : EAFR5%EH
BRFE /2% ) R TR E 12 Hi R
HIRERE © E‘E:EIJE,%%EE%EE‘JEE
EREMANMREAEG.4% (2=
TF :6.5%) c BERA  RNWEH
K MREBOEBUARZNERME

AREEBE BEERR  ZERRE
WERAIERREEH TS EHIRN G E
FEUNRAEATBAZREES
B AU E AR E(E -

WEHEKERRARAERDEREK
ERAARBRARELENEER
84,266,000/8 7T » iz E EEEE

AREANEERBENDFENG
WAREE °

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on
value-in-use calculations. The key assumptions for the value-in-
use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth
rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs.
Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based
on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and
direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of
future changes in the market.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by senior management for
the next 5 years, which is the general development period
for the sale of liquefied gas and the gas connection business
and extrapolates cash flows for the period beyond the budget
period based on the estimated growth rate of 5% for the first
5 years and 2% for the remaining years (2020: 5% for the first
5 years and 2% for the remaining years). The rate used to
discount the forecast cash flows for the CGUs is 6.4% (2020:
6.5%). In the opinion of the directors, no material impairment
loss on goodwill on gas operation was identified at the end of
the reporting period. Management believes that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would not cause
the aggregate carrying amount of the CGU to exceed the
recoverable carrying amount of the CGU.

The determination of goodwill arising from the acquisition of £
KERRATARRARF and B/KERKXKARTER AT amounting
to HK$84,266,000 is based on a provisional basis, the fair value
assessment of the identifiable assets and liabilities had not been
finalised.
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1. RER’ 21. OPERATING RIGHTS

{hg=s FHET

Notes HK$'000
R AR COST
R-ZE-_ZTF—H—H At 1 January, 2020 1,601,526
NE Additions 103,904
Ev Business combinations 220,054
R Exchange adjustments 45,781
RZEZEF+-_A=+—H At 31 December, 2020 1,971,265
X546 0t Business combinations 37 551,319
HE Disposals (12,294)
bE AR Exchange adjustments 25,830
R-T-—F+-A=+—~8 At 31 December, 2021 2,536,120
B AMORTISATION
RZE-TF—H—H At 1 January, 2020 415,831
FRRE Provided for the year 64,817
bE 5 AR Exchange adjustments 14,332
RZZE_ZF+=-A=+—H At 31 December, 2020 494,980
FRERME Provided for the year 76,628
L& Disposals (2,017)
R Exchange adjustments 8,164
RZEZ—F+=ZA=+—H At 31 December, 2021 577,755
BREE CARRYING VALUES
RZEZ—F+=ZA=+—H At 31 December, 2021 1,958,365
RZE-_ZF+-A=+—H At 31 December, 2020 1,476,285

W E BB EERTIABRER
fEFT A A FEH10E50F M

22. 7K

The operating rights for city pipeline network are amortised

over the estimated useful lives ranging from 10 to 50 years on a

straight-line basis.

22. INVENTORIES
—E-—fF —TTHF
2021 2020
FERT T
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
EEM K Construction materials 679,203 673,054
E Finished goods 463,069 333,774
1,142,272 1,006,828
EHRIEREBRLT —Z=—F5RH

193



194

e B RRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HALFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021

23. EWE ZRF R EMERR

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

—E-—F —ECEF
2021 2020
FBT FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
e E 5 BRI Trade receivables 8,037,295 5,251,785
A Impairment (381,060) (356,204)
7,656,235 4,895,581
YA &R RIIE (HisEa) Amounts due from joint ventures (note a) 185,237 383,409
FE U &~ Bl 5k (FisEDb) Amounts due from associates (note b) 142,917 125,931
FEMSEFEAR AR R 7R IR Amounts due from non-controlling
GETY) shareholders (note c) 521,670 88,324
FEU R R H B A B 508 Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
(Pi3Ed) (note d) 1,908,802 2,519,914
TR (HfizZe) Deposits (note e) 651,437 1,044,976
TR FRIE (Bt 3ESF) Prepayments (note f) 4,017,826 2,891,429
H i FEUCR (B e g) Other receivables (note g) 663,588 738,221
RERE (M) Impairment allowance (note g) (42,434) (42,091)
15,705,278 12,645,694
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23. EWE ZERA K HEMEWR 23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

() (CONTINUED)
B E Notes:
a. FrIEU A & A E)FKI818,346,000/8 a. Except for the amount due from joint ventures of HK$18,346,000

T (ZZ=FF : 35,645,000/%87T)
AEEE  CIRIAE (BT F
3.92F ) MEMKFEREAR—FR
BB - BRAEIKRE - £ B RER

BRESHE -

b. BmiEERARMNERKE b.

101,918,000 T (Z T =84 :
75,150,000 7T ) AEE R « 124.35
E(ZZT=ZF : 4.35F) WEF=X
SERER—FREEBI  £HhAE
I - 8 RARERIGHEE -

c. EUCFERERFEREEN 28 ©

RANBERIER -

d.  BRRRNERQRREENERRE d.

1,485,687,000/8 L (ZE=F4F :
2,139,448,000/870) AEIER - 1%
FERELI5E(ZE-_F4 : 4.35
E)HERER—FRNEEIN - &
BERE 2B RANERIEEE -

e. REFBEEXNTHRAMBRENIZ e.

& HERERFRRS -

f. TENRIAE R BERE R R A f.

BAERATRN K

9. HAEPKRETAKETAR B g.

EIRXZ A RS EHOE T EER
FHERESN - B B VSR AR
5 5 Fan I 8 K 6 0 9 L At FE UK R
SHERE R -

(2020: HK$35,645,000) which are unsecured, bearing interest at
3.4% (2020: 3.92%) per annum and are repayable within one year,
the balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Except for the amount of loans to associates of HK$101,918,000
(2020: HK$75,150,000) which are unsecured, bearing interest at a
rate of 4.35% (2020:4.35%) per annum and are repayable within one
year, the balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

Except for the amount of loan to a fellow subsidiary of
HK$1,485,687,000 (2020: HK$2,139,448,000) which is unsecured,
bearing interest at a rate of 4.35% (2020: 4.35%) per annum and is
repayable within one year, the balances are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

Deposits mainly include deposits paid to gas suppliers, rental
deposits and deposits of taxes.

Prepayments mainly include prepayments for purchase of gas fuel
and related goods.

Except for the impairment provided for certain other receivables
which indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full, no impairment allowance is provided for
other receivables for which credit risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition.

EWARERERAT —B-—FER
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23. EWE ZRAK

Hfth P& WK
(%)

AEEGTHEFNHEESH—RA30
REQOX - BIH AABENEKE
SEKN RS HRERNETEH (F
ERERATER B ) HER A2
ST -

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

The Group generally allows credit periods ranging from 30 to 90
days to its customers. The ageing analysis of trade receivables,
net of loss allowance, is presented based on the invoice date
at the end of the reporting period, which approximated to the
respective revenue recognition dates as follows:

—E=-—F —E-TF

2021 2020

FHT T

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

0Z90k 0 to 90 days 6,841,770 3,881,917
91£ 180K 91 to 180 days 297,500 467,884
181E 365K 181 to 365 days 368,450 404,052
365K E Over 365 days 148,515 141,728
7,656,235 4,895,581

FEWE 5 SRR BE B R AE S
SR -

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

—E=——F —ZE-TF

2021 2020

Bt e FHET FAT

Note HK$’ 000 HK$'000

REA At beginning of year 356,204 265,412
EEE Impairment losses 9 12,663 70,818
L Exchange adjustments 12,193 19,974
RER At end of year 381,060 356,204

K& HE B RAREEEEITR
BEOH - UFEBRHBEEERE - &iE
RLENEABRUBBREXNNTRE
Eoa#an (At - ZEmEH -
BRI R RA R ERESRE M
AEERRHEBZHRES D) WaH
BHGE - ZatERRAA R NELS
R HEERERNBEAHUSNE
BBERIR - & AT RO A 1
HFREANEELASEER - BF
ENE ZERFAREE - FATER
HIEITIEEPTRR - BT LAY -

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by
geographical region, product type, customer type and rating, and
coverage by letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the
time value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due for more
than one year and are not subject to enforcement activity.
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on

the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December, 2021

0-90 X 91-180kX 181-365k 365K E et
0-90 91 -180 181 - 365 Over 365
days days days days Total
TEREE BB E(%) Expected credit loss
rate (%) - 1.49 1.93 71.32 4.74
#wARmEE (TExT) Gross carrying amount
(HK$'000) 6,841,770 301,992 375,682 517,851 8,037,295
TERMEEERE Expected credit losses
(F&T) (HK$’000) - 4,492 7,232 369,336 381,060
R-EB-—SH&+=-A=+—H As at 31 December, 2020
0-90K 91-180k 181-365k 365 KM E #Et
0-90 91 - 180 181 — 365 Over 365
days days days days Total
TEREEEEE(%) Expected credit loss
rate (%) - 1.63 1.94 70.61 6.78
HREREE (T8T) Gross carrying amount
(HK$'000) 3,881,917 475,652 412,046 482,170 5,251,785
FEEEEER Expected credit losses
(F#T) (HK$'000) - 7,768 7,994 340,442 356,204

REERURFED ATIREE - KK
EEZREBANERARAREERD
REAMERTEERMANED - &
RAEBEAEAERF  MEEET
RBRAER - Bt - ARREEBRE
BELRAMBHERPIEHORERE
oh - MASITIEHE SR -

In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the Group

considers whether there has been adverse change in the credit

standing of the debtor from the date on which the credit was

initially granted. The concentration of credit risk is limited as the

Group’s customer base comprises a large number of customers.

Accordingly, the directors of the Company believe

that there is

no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for

doubtful debts already provided for in the consolidated financial

statements.

ERRRERERAF

e
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24. AR IRRAPEEE

24. ASSETS RELATED TO CONTRACT WORKS

—EBE-—F —E-=F
2021 2020
FBT FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000

ARITIZEMAEERE - Assets related to contract works arising from:

MREBES Gas connection activities 1,506,306 1,300,510
BITEF & R Costs to fulfil contracts with customers 2,143,371 2,255,498
3,649,677 3,556,008
VEREL Impairment (21,617) (21,536)
3,628,060 3,534,472

ERIEEREENGERSAHEE
B R AR B R BOE ) P R
B ER » Lk TS R R YER R B ZB AR T
TRERBIGME - SFARERBHNE
RTREAREERERERRES - &
TRERREPEKE  #RAER
TRRAREENSBINENDERE
U E SR -

REBEE-_T=-_—F+=-A=+—8
IHEE - 21,617,000 T (ZE=-F
% : 21,536,000/ ) ERAARTL
REAEENTEREEEEREH - X
SEREFORSEAREEBRRTD
FABA 5 SRR M T 23 L 5% o

W+=—R=+—8 &aRIEHEHEE
EME MBS AERENT

Assets related to contract works are initially recognised for
revenue earned from the sale of goods and the provision of
related gas connection activities as the receipt of consideration
is conditional on successful completion of construction. Included
in assets related to contract works for construction services
are retention receivables. Upon completion of construction and
acceptance by the customer, the amounts recognised as assets

related to contract works are reclassified to trade receivables.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, HK$21,617,000
(2020: HK$21,536,000) was recognised as an allowance for
expected credit losses on assets related to contract works.
The Group's trading terms and credit policy with customers are

disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for assets related

to contract works as at 31 December is as follows:

—E-— —E T

2021 2020

FTHET FHET

HK$’ 000 HK$’'000

—FR Within one year 1,506,306 1,300,510
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

E-E-—F+-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December, 2021

24. ASSETS RELATED TO CONTRACT WORKS

(CONTINUED)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of contract
assets are as follows:

—EB-—F —ETF

2021 2020

i FET FHT

Note HK$’ 000 HK$'000

REH At beginning of year 21,536 12,554
BIEEE Impairment losses 9 (552) 7,802
b 5B Exchange adjustments 633 1,180
RER At end of year 21,617 21,536

EiE A HE AR EERETRED
i DAt EBEFRMEEER -t 86 R
BERBEREBEENBERIDEARE
WESERRMEEBRBRERZ5
EmMEH ARAREENREKES
FERREB-—FFER - SREEMN
BEXTLDERAERUERENANT
R%EF 2 AR (AiRibE  ERR
A BPBEAEFRARERAERE
wEERBEANEEGE) BKRE
ZEFNBAABETE - Rt ERB
FIRENEER EERERRERE
BEHIR SR ARBESRIE - ERiR
MARKLERHRANAGERAISER
#} o

T8 R B R H A A E
& I R {5 BRI )

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates for the measurement of the expected credit
losses for the contract assets are based on those for the trade
receivables as the contract assets and the trade receivables
are from the same customer bases. The provision rates for
contract assets are based on days past due of trade receivables
for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type, customer
type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other forms
of credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group’s contract assets using a provision matrix:

—E=——F —ZE-TF

2021 2020

FHBT FHET

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

TEHEE BB E (%) Expected credit loss rate (%) 0.59 0.61
wERmEE (F#&T) Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) 3,649,677 3,556,008
FEEEEEE (FAT) Expected credit losses (HK$'000) 21,617 21,536
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25.

26.

27.

g?&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ&%l‘ﬁ%ﬂfﬁ

R-ZE-—F+-A=+—8H - 817
F3511,820,0008 L EEEIE B ERS
RARMEE R ERNE ZRA K AEK
RS mER - BEBRITER
TIAANREESHE « RS F R %0.30
EZE1.65B (= -F4 : 0.30EF
1.55[E) 58 °

R-ZBE-_—F+-A=+—8" %R
%138 £2,525,103,0008 T2 7 A$5
ERITIRP - (EREETT 2 &HBIME
RIDERDBLELRE S
AARFASHESFMRIHNERA
Al EROREERETER ET

YN

RITEBRREAE

RITHEBRBMSEFNEEEIE (ZF
—TF BEIE)FHE -

25.

26.

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

PLEDGED BAND DEPOSITS AND
RESTRICTED CASH

At 31 December, 2021, bank deposits of HK$1,820,000 are
pledged as security for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas
and franchise performance to the government. The pledged bank
deposits are denominated in RMB and carry interest at market
rates ranging from 0.30% to 1.65% (2020: 0.30% to 1.55%) per
annum.

At 31 December, 2021, restricted cash of HK$2,525,103,000 are
placed at designated bank account as guarantee deposits for the
proposed take-private of Suchuang Gas Corporation Limited, a
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
and the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

The bank balances carry interest at market rates ranging from 0%
to 3% (2020: 0% to 3%) per annum.

B 5 R & H At B 27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
—EZ—F —T-THF
2021 2020
FHET T
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FERTE PR Trade payables 8,452,224 7,418,545
EAEEARZRE (Hita) Amounts due to joint ventures (note a) 129,972 316,168
FEASH A A5k (FisEb) Amounts due to associates (note b) 58,650 97,231
FE ST IR AR AR B 3018 Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders
(FfzEe) (note c) 784,293 590,997
R RHE A RFKIE Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (note d)
(P Ed) 313,388 323,089
JEAT R R AR R B F0E Amounts due to an intermediate holding
(FizEe) company (note e) 5,015,768 2,510,837
TEWGK Receipts in advance 6,580,486 5,160,503
Hib B R R ETE A Other payables and accruals 4,849,892 3,775,905
26,184,673 20,193,275
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GG

a. BRENEEQRIHKIE105,833,000/8
L (ZZ =4 : 304,448,000/87T)
BEEE BRI 15EE1.65E (=%
—TF 1 15EZE1.65/F) KZEF
MR ERBER—FRNEEN - ek
BERF 2B RENERIEEE -

b. ENBEQRFRLSEENR R2ER
AN ERISEIE -

c. ENFERBRFEAREER 28
RARERKEE -

d. ENRRMNBRAREREER £
BRENEREEE -

e. BN P MEERKRADARE
5,000,000,000%&c (ZE =T 4F :
2,500,000,000/%870) AEE IR KA
W12 A NEE  BEBRITRE
B E(HIBOR) MFFE0.55E (=
T T4 : HIBORHNO.55EE0.58
E)&te °

ENEZRFNBERRERNER
HIWRERATM 27T ¢

e SRR MEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021

27.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

a. Except for the amounts due to joint ventures of HK$105,833,000
(2020: HK$304,448,000) which are unsecured, bearing interest at
rates ranging from 1.15% to 1.65% (2020: from 1.15% to 1.65%)
per annum and are repayable within one year, the balances are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

b. Amounts due to associates are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

©s Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

d. Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

e. Amounts due to an intermediate holding company of
HK$5,000,000,000 (2020: HK$2,500,000,000) are unsecured and
repayable within 12 months, bearing an interest of Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (HIBOR) plus 0.55% (2020: HIBOR plus
0.55%-0.58%) per annum.

The ageing analysis of trade payables is presented based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period as follows:

—E-—F —ECTF

2021 2020

FHET FHT

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

0-90K 0 - 90 days 7,002,328 5,537,878
91-180K 91 - 180 days 547,169 583,813
181-365K% 181 - 365 days 347,285 750,457
365K £ Over 365 days 555,442 546,397
8,452,224 7,418,545

BENEERA7TRAE180K -

The credit periods on purchases of goods range from 7 to 180
days.
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BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HALFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021

28. SEAE

28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

—E-—F —ETF

+=A=+—-HB +=ZA=+—H

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

FiET TR

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

aRAE Contract liabilities 15,185,964 15,174,058

RZB-—%+=-A=+—HR=F
—EFt- A=t HANERAEN

Details of contract liabilities as at 31 December, 2021 and 31
December, 2020 are as follows:

BT ¢

—EZ-fF —E-THF
+=H=+-8B +ZA=+—H
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
FHT FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000

B & F IR /e ETE R Short-term advances received from customers
MAEREE Gas connection activities 15,185,964 15,174,058

AREERRERREMREBIRSM
Y B B0 K2 TR AR

29. B H B =

R-E-_—F+-A=+—8  BF
#B)4£881,089,0008 T (T =%
F 1 327,144,000%870) £ ZI5H BIK
NEBERRENEDR - BIEAKE
ME BEREEARERNRAEE
RIEES -

29.

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to
provide gas connection activities.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

At 31 December, 2021, government grants of HK$881,089,000
(2020: HK$327,144,000) mainly represent subsidies granted by
the PRC government authorities for the purpose of financing the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and the construction
of gas pipelines.
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30. RITRHMEE

30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

—B-—F —ETF
+=A=+—-8B +=ZA=+—H
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
FHER FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$’000
RITER — EIEA Bank loans — unsecured 816,305 2,757,183
RITER — FEM Bank loans - secured 32,682 29,179
HAib B — I H Other loans — unsecured 62,378 60,571
911,365 2,846,933
AEBERRITREMEEZZE  The Group’s bank and other borrowings are
RATHREE repayable as follows*:
—FR Within one year 615,659 2,548,358
SR —EFETBBARE More than one year, but not exceeding two
years 17,048 14,786
ENGEERS b RS More than two years, but not exceeding five
years 32,243 38,485
ZRAFE More than five years 246,415 245,304
911,365 2,846,933
B RBBEMMRN—FNRN Less: amount due within one year shown
EIEAHYFRIE under current liabilities** (615,659) (2,548,358)
IEMBEEMTRR—FI& Amount due after one year shown as non-
FIHR Ry FRIE current liabilities 295,706 298,575

o

FHRE Y RBEE R B AN E
R EHEE °

A E-_—&F+-_A=+—H &
TR EMEEE15,659,0008 5T (=
T ¢ 2548,358,000/86 ) &
FEHE—%500,000,0008 7T (==
— 4 1 2,230,000,000/ %) KT
I BEERIBEANTEAERB
AR—FNEE  BZERBEIEE
AR ESKRHERAIEK ©

H

The amounts due are based on the repayment schedule set out in
the loan agreements.

As at 31 December, 2021, bank and other borrowings of
HK$615,659,000 (2020: HK$2,548,358,000) include an amount of
HK$500,000,000 (2020: HK$2,230,000,000) that was repayable
within one year pursuant to the repayment schedule set out in the
loan agreements which contained a repayable on demand clause.
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30. RITREMEE (&) 30.BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(CONTINUED)

As at 31 December, 2021, the banking facility of HK$122,309,000
(2020: HK$118,816,000) is secured by the pledge of the
proceeds from the sale of gas fuel. The loan balance is
HK$18,250,000 (2020: HK$9,812,000), and the available banking
facility balance is HK$104,059,000 (2020:HK$109,004,000).

R=ZFE-_—F+=-A=+—8" &R
TEE 122,309,000 L (Z 2=
F :118,816,000/8 70) M 5 & w62
WAEL TS ROEEE R IER - EXRK
¥/318,250,0008 L (ZT =T F :
9,812,000/%7c) » M Al B A RITRLE
#%8/5104,059,0008 T (Z T =&
4 : 109,004,000/ 7T) °

zﬁ@ﬂ’q%&ﬁ&ﬁ@ﬁ%ﬂ@?ﬁ%iﬂ
NTHF0B1IEE7.8E (T =
gizo.esrie.gor)o

RE B IRTT R EA S E W IGRREFE

The effective annual interest rates on the Group’s bank and other
borrowings range from 0.61% to 7.98% (2020: 0.65% to 6.90%)
per annum.

Details of the terms of the Group’s bank and other borrowings

m are set out below:
BRENE —B--F T
Effective
interest rates
per annum 2021 2020
FTHER FTAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
EEEE : Fixed rate borrowings:
BHERARERITER Secured RMB bank loans 4.75%-6.90% 18,250 16,822
EERARBRITER Unsecured RMB bank loans 2.41%-4.60% 89,422 269,713
EHHEE(RE] Unsecured Japanese Yen
RITER (“JPY") bank loan 0.65% 221,012 257,470
IR AREEAME R Unsecured RMB other loans 2.95%-4.35% 62,378 58,195
BEESE Total fixed rate borrowings 391,062 602,200
EEEE Floating rate borrowings:
BIEBARKRTES  E%E  Secured RMB bank loans at
MR B ARRITERF RS margin plus the People’s Bank
of China Base Rate 4.75%-7.98% 14,432 12,357
ERFBTRITER  REEM  Unsecured HK$ bank loans at
HIBOR&T & margin plus HIBOR 0.61%-3.34% 500,000 2,230,000
IR ARIERITE  B%  Unsecured RMB bank loans at
MR B ARRITERFE S margin plus the People’s Bank
of China Base Rate 5.35% 5,871 -
ERRAREEMER - Unsecured RMB other loan at
BREERPEARRITER margin minus the People’s
MEE Bank of China Base Rate 4.35% - 2,376
FEEEEE Total floating rate borrowings 520,303 2,244,733
EE®BE Total borrowings 911,365 2,846,933
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BEEE
R—ZZE——FWARA ARAEE
EEEEI7. 5N BEFBHRITAS
%85750,000,0003 7T ([T ]) (48
Z£745,818,890,000/87T) HEXRE
BEBLRE]) BEZEERZREE
REFA4LEE  YRABFEFY
=K WER—_E-_—FmAMA
HE - BAZBAEER  WRER
FHERABEE - ARAINZF—
NFEEDOEEEEMES3,605,000%E
7t (8577 261,830,000/87T) KB 5E
=i mMEEEE716,395,000% T
(#857°5,553,924,000/8 7T ) B %
EERTHRBEEN T - —FmAN
HEH - REBE=_T=_—F+=-A=
+—BIEFE  EBENBRHOTF EH
¥ %263,603,0008T (ZT=_FTF :
260,971,000/87T) °

BAZERTMBELFRSER
RE LT - BAZEERHKEHRA
ARFE(BE—BRATFEFENA
FEFE) 5 A721,997,0003% T
(&% 5,597,356,0008 L) (=F
ZEH 744,442 000E T (EER
5,771,360,000/870)) * JhikZ B
W EEE -

AREE RN E =2 H A Al
BRELSZBEASEN100%MNET
RARMAE - BEWMEMLOBER A
BERR -
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

31. SENIOR NOTES

On 5th April, 2012, the Company issued senior notes with a
principal amount of United States dollars (“US$”) 750,000,000
(equivalent to HK$5,818,890,000) at an offer price of 97.95% of
the face value of the notes (“Senior Notes”). The Senior Notes
which bear coupon interest at a rate of 4.5% per annum payable
semi-annually in arrears and are due on 4th April, 2022. The
Senior Notes are unsecured and carry interest at an effective
interest rate of 4.8% per annum. The Company repurchased the
Senior Notes with a face value of US$33,605,000 (equivalent
to HK$261,830,000) during the year of 2019 and the remaining
balance of the Senior Notes with a face value of US$716,395,000
(equivalent to HK$5,553,924,000) is due on 4 April 2022. Interest
expenses of HK$263,603,000 (2020: HK$260,971,000) were
charged to profit or loss during the year ended 31 December,
2021.

The Senior Notes are listed on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited. The fair value of the Senior Notes
at the end of the reporting period, which was measured at
fair value on Level 1 fair value measurement, was estimated
at US$721,997,000 (equivalent to HK$5,597,356,000)(2020:
US$744,442,000 (equivalent to HK$5,771,360,000)), which was
determined based on the closing market price at that date.

The Group has the option to redeem all of the Senior Notes,
in full but not in part, at 100% of their principal amount plus
accrued and unpaid interest at any time up to the maturity date.
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32. HftRMAR
HthRBAREEOERBNTEE
BRSNS R TR B
7 A ERmT

32. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

The other long term liabilities mainly consist of payables for
acquisition of operating rights for city pipeline network, defined
benefit obligations and payables are as follows:

—B-—-F —ETF
2021 2020
FHT FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
—FR Within one year 35,897 30,691
ZR—FETEBBMSE More than one year, but not exceeding two
years 20,963 30,749
ZRME AT BARE More than two years, but not exceeding five
years 62,524 60,464
ZRAF More than five years 592,084 386,400
711,468 508,304
A R A ERTRET AR Less: amount due within one year included
B SRR R E A ERK in trade and other payables shown
R —F AN E B R I8 under current liabilities (35,897) (30,691)
ERBEBMRR—FE Amount due after one year shown as non-
FERE) A current liabilities 675,571 477,613

The present values were based on cash flows discounted using
an effective interest rate of 2.50%-3.95% (2020: 3.50%-3.95%)
per annum for terms ranging from 10 to 50 years.

ZEREDENREBELRE - RS
RN FI0ES50FHMERFFE2.50
EZ3 5B (ZE_ZTF :3.50EE
3.95E)FE -

NR-ZE-—F AEBEFEZEEM In 2021, the Group operates several unfunded defined benefit

BATRAMNTE  EXEFMHTEH
BEHEAEREBEENT241BTE
65,849 TR (ZT T4 : 143
BILE14,4737T) © %t Bl A ZF
ZEBFEAKABHTEHEDELE
% o SRTEAE N E IR 1E 261,484,000
BT 0 JThEWills Towers Watsoni
B F+-A=+—RHEAEA
BUEEREMEEET(ZE=Z
F 225,133,000 7T) °

plans which require payments ranging from HK$241 to
HK$65,849 (2020: HK$143 to HK$14,473) per year to be made
to each qualifying employee in the PRC. The plan is exposed to
interest rate risk and the risk of changes in the life expectancy
for pensioners. The defined benefit obligations with a present
value of HK$261,484,000 were carried out on 31 December
2021 (2020: HK$225,133,000) by Wills Towers Watson using the
projected unit credit actuarial valuation method.
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

322.O0THER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

(CONTINUED)
RBERARFEANEIERERRD The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of the
TS ¢ reporting period are as follows:
—B-—F —ETF
2021 2020
BRI (%) Discount rate (%) 3.25 3.50
g Mortality rate FEASRBIETEER FEASRBILTEER

(2010-2013)-CL5/CL6
China Life Insurance

Mortality Table
(2010-2013)-CL5/CL6

(2010-2013)-CL5/CL6
China Life Insurance

Mortality Table
(2010-2013)-CL5/CL6

fHEE R R EFt T2 EEE - M
FEEMESRETE  NBE=T
Z—F+-_A=+T—HLEFEHNRTE
BREH KR 59,883,000
7L./10,506,00058 7T

If the discount rate had been 25 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the defined benefit
obligations for the year ended 31 December, 2021 would
decrease/increase by HK$9,883,000/HK$10,506,000.
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33. IEAEBLTH

NTRAFETEZCHERRERRE

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

33. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

E(8f) RHE# recognised and the movements thereon during the year:
RS
ARMEEH AP BER Hith
DAFERE KeR wEMmH ERES At
Fair value
adjustments Withholding
arising from tax on Other
acquisition of Operating  undistributed temporary
subsidiaries rights profits differences Total
T THT T T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-Z-ZTE—-F—H At1January, 2020 (381,935) (177,219) (558,129) 280,779 (836,504)
EXAE Exchange adjustments (25,946) (12,726) (40,079) 20,163 (58,588)
FRERE /(L) Credit/(charge) for the year
(HzE10) (note 10) 37,663 6,136 34,063 (763) 77,099
Y — M B A A Acquisition of a subsidiary (41,457) (782) = 9,976 (32,263)
RZZE-TF At 31 December,2020
+=A=+-H (411,675) (184,591) (564,145) 310,155 (850,256)
L Exchange adjustments (12,103) (5,427) (16,585) 9,118 (24,997)
FREE /(L) Credit/(charge) for the year
(FsE10) (note 10) 54,821 17,768 125,150 62,456 260,195
¢ i=YNG Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Fi7£37) (note 37) (106,012) (132,892) - - (238,904)
RZZZ—F At 31 December, 2021
+-R=+—-H (474,969) (305,142) (455,580) 381,729 (853,962)
BB R - Analysed for reporting purposes as:
—E-—F —T-TF
2021 2020
FHERT FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
RIETRIE & B Deferred tax assets 463,247 345,422
BEEFIEAE Deferred tax liabilities (1,317,209) (1,195,678)
(853,962) (850,256)
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R-T-_—F+-_HA=+—0 &&
EAAREARIEEEG640,322,110%
TL(ZZZFF : 551,404, 838/%7E)
AT 8 AR SR8 I o B A SR 2R g ) 2R
AT ﬁﬁ?ﬁdﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁaﬁ?ﬁ%%ﬁ
EFRIEE E - FRTYIEE1869,551,000
BIL(ZZ =T : 69,551,000/ 1)
AIER A - BIEEEHRFE
BAFAEE -

RZEZ—F+=—_A=+—H 8
HMABRREEHBEENNE A F
AORBANBHEANERZHEAEAR
16,612,367,000/8 7T (—Z T —Z4F :
7,388,559,000/%870) - N AL B
TH TR EEN DRSNS EE
FEARGRATRET S @B - R E
ZEEZRERARE -

34. R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

33. DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

At 31 December, 2021, the Group had unused tax losses of
HK$640,322,110 (2020: HK$551,404,838) available to offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Except for the tax loss of HK$69,551,000 (2020:
HK$69,551,000) which may be carried forward indefinitely, the
losses will expire within 5 years from the year of origination.

At 31 December, 2021, the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was
HK$16,612,367,000 (2020: HK$7,388,559,000). No liability has
been recognised in respect of these differences because the
Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that such differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

34. SHARE CAPITAL
BRHEE ROEE
Number of Nominal value
shares of shares
FHET
HK$'000
FRXEEO. 1078 TTHIRL D Shares of HK$0.10 each
VERE Authorised:
RZZE=TF—H—H At 1 January 2020,
—E-EFE+-_A=+—HEK 31 December 2020 and
—E=—F+=ZA=+—H 31 December 2021 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
E%ﬁ&%{i : Issued and fully paid:
—E-TF—H—H At 1 January 2020 2,224,012,871 222,401
BT D (BIRE) Issue of shares (Note) 90,000,000 9,000
RZZT_FTF+=—A=+—HK At 31 December 2020 and
—E-—%+-_A=+—H 31 December 2021 2,314,012,871 231,401
HEHHRRIERERLAT —B-—FEFRH

209



210

AN
%/T\El

B FS AR M R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-_—S+-A=+—HLEFE

34.

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

R (4&) 34. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

RABRRASEEPZ0T - A summary of movements in the Company's share capital is as
follows:
ERTROEE i1
Number of Share
shares in issue capital
FAT
HK$'000
R-_E-_ZTF—H—H At 1 January 2020 2,224,012,871 222,401
BT (M aE) Issue of shares (Note) 90,000,000 9,000
RZE_EF+-A=+—HEK At 31 December 2020 and

—E-_—F+_-_A=+—H 31 December 2021 2,314,012,871 231,401

35.

st B R FRIE S ££90,000,000 A% i 19
BB BIBEBR AR =TT
FRAT-_BAR-—F_FFRA_T
TENRE  BRAFRRKH40.81
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KBS 1%) 3,668,945,00078 7T °
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35.

Note: Details of the placing and subscription of a total of 90,000,000
shares are disclosed in the announcements of the Company on 12
May 2020 and 25 May 2020, respectively, at a price of HK$40.81
per share, resulting in proceeds of a total cash consideration, after
expenses, of HK$3,668,945,000.

LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

On 1 December, 2008, the Company adopted the share
repurchased cash award scheme (“Incentive Award Scheme”)
as an incentive to retain and encourage the employees for the
continual operation and development of the Group.

Pursuant to the Incentive Award Scheme, existing shares of
the Company will be purchased by the trustee from the market
out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for
the selected employees until such shares are vested with the
selected employees. No restricted shares will be granted if the
aggregate number of restricted shares awarded throughout
the duration of the scheme is to be in excess of 5% of the
issued share capital of the Company at the adoption date of the
scheme. The maximum number of restricted shares which may
be awarded to a selected employee under the Incentive Award
Scheme shall not exceed 0.5% of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time.

On 16 March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive Award
Scheme such that cash instead of restricted shares will be
awarded. The Company will utilise the proceeds generated from
disposal of the restricted shares held by the trustee for making
cash awards under the Incentive Award Scheme.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 December, 2016, 2,266,000 shares
were disposed of by the trustee to the market at an average
price of HK$23.08 per share. The proceeds from disposal of
those shares amounted to HK$52,302,000. The whole amount
of the proceeds was awarded in cash to certain directors and
employees of the Group, with an equivalent expense recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as employee benefits during the year
ended 31 December, 2016. The difference of HK$44,095,000
between the cost of the shares and the proceeds were credited
to retained profits. No disposal of shares by the trustee to the
market was noted during the years ended 31 December, 2020
and 2021.

There are 45,797,384 (2020: 45,797,384) shares held by the
trustee at the end of the reporting period.

No restricted shares were granted to eligible employees pursuant
to the Incentive Award Scheme.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Hong Kong

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which is registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the
Group, in funds under the control of trustees. Employees who
were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment
of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice of staying within the
ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas all new
employees joining the Group on or after 1 December, 2000 are
required to join the MPF Scheme.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from both
employees and the Group based on a specified percentage of
the employee’s basic salary, depending on the length of service
with the Group. Where there are employees who leave the ORSO
Scheme prior to vesting, the contributions payable by the Group
are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions. No forfeited
contributions were utilised in this manner for both years.

EWARERERAT —B-—FER
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36. RIKBHIGTE (&) 36. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

BE (&)

ERBESTEKEFE  AEEE
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+— B AR R A R A
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AEE R EREE ST BT BT
ENBERERRKENFTENKE
AEBARFERANEEBD LA
RARBRIF B R HR - femARIK
BARMESD « AEBENZERIK
BRI B E— B ERERIEEAN M

Eo
A °

AEEERZHEHRER TR
g2 BREFRNTESEERESE
H 2417 T £ 65,8498 TR K ©

(CONTINUED)
Hong Kong (Continued)

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs or at a monthly maximum cap of HK$1,500
for each person to the scheme, where contribution is matched by
the employees.

At 31 December, 2021 and 2020, the amount of forfeited
contributions available to reduce contributions payable in the
future years was insignificant.

PRC

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the local
government in the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of the payroll costs to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the
specified contributions.

The Group operates several unfunded defined benefit plans
which require payments ranging from HK$241 to HK$65,849 per
year to be made to each qualifying employee in the PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

(a)

MEERREARA
Group, and 49% by another shareholder.

AI(“MSEZEE"), is 51% held by the
MIEER is
engaged in the sale and distribution of gas fuel and related
products, gas connection and the sale of gas appliances
and the sale of gas fuel in automobile refilling stations.

On 25 May 2021, the shareholders signed a memorandum
in which the other shareholder would agree with the Group'’s
decisions on operating,

f B EEE - and would also agree the appointment of all
senior management of JE%EH nominated by the Group.
Accordingly, the Group takes the control over all significant

investing and financing activities

operating, investing and financing activities, at which time -

ST %E 8 becomes a subsidiary of the Group.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Jm

(((

RAaEnATEDT 8% 4 as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

RUEERER

WA FE

Fair values

recognised on

acquisition

Bt 3E FHT

Notes HK$'000

Y - BB KK Property, plant and equipment 14 733,207

FRREEE Right-of-use assets 16 10,359

K e Operating rights 21 224,024
BEWE - BEREZEN Deposits for purchase of property, plant

Be and equipment 25,350

RITHEBREIRE Bank balances and cash 7,366

FEUE 5 BR 30 & E At FE MR Trade and other receivables 360,652

FE Inventories 91,001

ERTIEHEBEAE Assets related to contract works 213

FERTE 5 BR 3K R E A FE T 3R Trade and other payables (657,968)

HEAE Lease liabilities (4,921)

FERTFRIE Tax payables (4,059)

RIEFIIE B & Deferred tax liabilities 33 (79,210)

Al RIE E R ELEEE (R AFERT) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 706,014

e Non-controlling interests (358,098)
UREENEIMERS T RNHIBE  Previously held interest, represented by

FfstEss (B A TFERT) interests in joint venture, at fair value 347,916

ZPMRRERERAT —ZE=—FFH
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

RUESEER CREREST An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
UM STEEE is as follows:

FHET

HK$'000

RENRE Cash consideration =

BUEIR & RIRITAR Cash and bank balances acquired 7,366
FAREEBABREERENRER Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents

ReEEMRNFE included in cash flows from investing activities 7,366

BB EIEAR - SIHER AR
EEBE-_T=_—F+=-A=+
—ALFEMNREVERERE
Bt U 25 686,368,000 7% 7T M ik F)
83,416,000/ 7T °

WMEHRENEE KK
BF AR Wa= R s 5l
#A01,095,459,0008 T &
107,044,000 7T,

(b) R=T—_—FN\HAHRE £%H (b)
BEYE=TWBEELERR

AReRAERAR ([EIZER])
100% - BISE B EHE
AR (BEEN) - ZWE
FHEIMEAAE BN R FEIR
HEZEBERREN—BD ' B
EREEFPNZTILEEREX -
ZUWBEEMHREREUIRES X
i+ Hh AR#220,000,0007T
(HHE 7 264,398,000 L) R
—ZE-—FNAA=FTHAIIXMNK
# T~ AR®30,000,0007T (1HE
736,055,000/ 7C) ER =T =
—F+-A=+—Hit AHEtE
K e
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Since the acquisition, &2 E contributed revenue of
HK$686,368,000 and profit of HK$83,416,000 to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December, 2021.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have
been increased by HK$1,095,459,000 and the profit of
the Group for the year would have been increased by
HK$107,044,000.

On 5 August, 2021, the Group acquired 100% interests in
EGERSSEERBRAR(EREME") from an independent
third-party. Z[5# 8 is engaged in the sale of integrated
energy including electricity. The acquisition is made as
part of the Group’s strategy to develop new clean energy
supply business to meet the diversified energy demand of
customers. The purchase consideration for the acquisition
was in the form of cash, with RMB220,000,000 equivalent
of HK$264,398,000 paid before 30 September, 2021 and
the remaining RMB30,000,000 equivalent of HK$36,055,000
was included in other payables as at 31 December, 2021.
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of 2

FEBEHNAFENAT %28 as at the date of acquisition were as follows:
RUERER
D FEE
Fair values
recognised on
acquisition
k=3 FAT
Notes HK$'000
M - BB RE Property, plant and equipment 14 224,196
ME - WEREHRE Deposit for property, plant and equipment 22,148
WITHEAR RS Bank balances and cash 44,472
FEWE 5 B 30 K EL At FE R Trade and other receivables 39,122
FE Inventories 13,623
FERTE 5 BR 30 R E A FE T 3R Trade and other payables (71,173)
RITREAMEE Bank and other borrowings (18,106)
REFRIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 33 (28,954)
AR A EHELAEE (IR AF(ERT) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 225,328
W B E R E Goodwill on acquisition 20 75,125

SRAR Satisfied by

Be Cash 264,398
EAth FE TR Other payables 36,055

REBRGERE2RESREBOMN

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of

Z[5#H is as follows:

LUl

FHT
HK$'000
ReRE Cash consideration (264,398)
BWIEIER & RIRITHERR Cash and bank balances acquired 44,472

STARBEBIARESRENIRE KR Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included
REEEBYRLF58 in cash flows used in investing activities (219,926)
EHRIEREBRLT —Z=—F5RH
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

Since the acquisition * E[5#H contributed revenue of
HK$209,186,000 and loss of HK$36,177,000 to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have been
increased by HK$426,617,000 and the profit of the Group
for the year would have been decreased by HK$72,777,000.

On 12 November 2021, the Group acquired 51% interests
in CEZEERRER AT (CEIERE")from an independent
third party and 38 individuals. {-3&18% is engaged in the
sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products, gas
connection and the sale of gas appliances. The acquisition
is made as part of the Group’s strategy to expand its market
share in the downstream city gas industry. The purchase
consideration for the acquisition was in the form of cash,
with RMB304,770,000 equivalent of HK$370,929,000 paid
on 29 November 2021.
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37. EB 6 (&) 37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

CHRE-ENEEE R B BRI EE

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of 1=

FEBEHNAFENAT =18/ as at the date of acquisition were as follows:
RUEERER
WAFE
Fair values
recognised on
acquisition
B3 FAT
Notes HK$'000
M - BB RE Property, plant and equipment 14 595,194
FRAEEE Right-of-use assets 16 18,879
e Operating rights 21 152,135
RITHHBRIR S Bank balances and cash 59,383
FEWE 5 AR 3 & EL At FE WK Trade and other receivables 44,176
FE Inventories 6,375
FERTE 5 BR 3k R E A FE AT 3R Trade and other payables (50,025)
ERAE Contract liabilities (64,035)
REFIB A & Deferred tax liabilities (93,660)
Al P A E R EARE (I AF(E) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 668,422
PR M 2w Non-controlling interests (327,527)
340,895
W E A R 2 Goodwill on acquisition 20 30,034

SHRAR Satisfied by

Re Cash 370,929

FRRABRERLAT —B-—F5H

217



AN
%/T\El

B FS AR M R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-S-_-F+-A=1t-RALFE

37. ¥ &6t ()

EXHERNBEIERELCSE
RERAREEER A O E SN TEN
R AE -

HREBCSERZRSREDN

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The goodwill recognised above consists largely of the
expected synergies from combining the operations of =5
{84 with the Group.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of

U {Z5/8/ is as follows:
FAET
HK$'000
ReRE Cash consideration (370,929)
BB & RIRITHEH Cash and bank balances acquired 59,383
IARAEBHARESREMIES K Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
REeZEYRL F8E included in cash flows used in investing activities (311,546)

BUREEEAR  CHEEAX

EERE-_T_—&E+-A=+
—HBLEFENGAVBRERA

kU 25 187,514,000 7T K2 3% F)
17,181,000 7T °

WMAHRFENELE  AKEFER
W3 #48In479,458,00078 7T K
i 71538 IN81,669,000/8 7T

——

R-ZZT=——%+—B=+xA8"
REBMBEBILE = HRERILT
BERIXARBRAA ([RILE
R])80%BREREEERMRA
BRAR([EERE®Mm])80%K&
e RLUBREEEERIEEH
EREHRTEMRE RABER
MRERRHEERAEZE -
BEETEAKREBR TR
MRETERBAEMBHED
BN —HD - ZREEED
WHERBAENRESINMN &
- AR#52 000,0007T (185
763,576,000/ ) A=ZT =—
F+-A=t+—Bit AEMRER

T
A °©
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Since the acquisition * (=588 contributed revenue of
HK$187,514,000 and profit of HK$17,181,000 to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have been
increased by HK$479,458,000 and the profit of the Group
for the year would have been increased by HK$81,669,000.

On 26 November 2021, the Group acquired 80% equity
interests in RIUTTEERRARBR AR (RILER") and
80% equity interests in EEERMAERAF("EEE
#@") from an independent third-party. {RLIU1E%& and ZE
EEm are engaged in the sale and distribution of gas fuel
and related products, gas connection and the sale of gas
appliances. The acquisition is made as part of the Group’s
strategy to expand its market share in the downstream
city gas industry. The total purchase consideration for the
acquisition was in the form of cash, with RMB52,000,000
equivalent of HK$63,576,000 included in other payables as
at 31 December 2021.
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of £&
183 and ZEE® as at the date of acquisition were as

S 8 follows:
REBRINAFE
Fair values recognised on
acquisition
RILER 2HE®R
B aE FHT FAT
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
EN NG Property, plant and equipment 14 18,080 23,519
EREEE Right-of-use assets 16 3,159 4,319
RITHERRBR S Bank balances and cash 168 417
ERE AR E MU Trade and other receivables 9,250 6,875
g Inventories 3 200
N E SRR N EMERNF Trade and other payables (2,051) (2,873)
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings (2,934) (2,445)
AHAIEEFEEE Total identifiable net assets at fair
(BRAFEE) value 25,675 30,012
FEPEIR R Non-controlling interests (5,135) (6,003)
20,540 24,009
WEE AR EE Goodwill on acquisition 20 10,759 8,268
AR Satisfied by
H At FE AT 3R Other payables 31,299 32,277

EXHRNEEIZBERLUE
ENREHREmEAKEERS G
A RO TR A 1 R BUE -

BRERZEREFTRZESRE

The goodwill recognised above consists largely of the

expected synergies from combining operations of {RIL1EiR

and EHE @ with the Group.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of these

DT - acquisitions is as follows:
RifER =2HE®R
FAET FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
RENE Cash consideration = -
BWER & RIRITEH Cash and bank balances acquired 168 417
FAREEBKBHRSREN Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
RekBReFEMRANFHE included in cash flows from investing
activities 168 417
ZPMRRERERAT —ZE=—FFH
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

Since the acquisition, {RIU1EiE and %HE® contributed
revenue of HK$61,000 and profit of HK$1,101,000 to the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have
been increased by HK$784,000 and the profit of the Group
for the year would have been decreased by HK$4,514,000.

On 23 December, 2021, the Group acquired an additional
2% equity interests in FALEBMBER AR ("FALER"),
a previously 49% owned associate of the Group, from an
independent third party. Accordingly, A% % has become
a 51% owned subsidiary of the Group. FAZZH is engaged
in the sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products,
gas connection and the sale of gas appliances. The
purchase consideration for the acquisition was in the form
of cash, with RMB14,800,000 equivalent of HK$18,102,000
was included in other payables as at 31 December, 2021.
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37. EB 6 (&) 37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
AREFRNKEBRABNEE The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of 7
FEBEHNAFENAT Z# 5 as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

RUEERER
WAFE
Fair values
recognised on
acquisition
B3 FAT
Notes HK$'000
EN NG Property, plant and equipment 14 527,995
FREEE Right-of-use assets 16 35,694
KR Operating rights 21 155,625
BEME  BEKRENEZS Deposits for purchase of property, plant
and equipment 7,469
RITHEBRES Bank balances and cash 62,545
FEU B 5 BR % K H Ath FE UK Trade and other receivables 238,232
BE Inventories 38,824
EREZERREERR Trade and other payables (304,690)
PRI Taxation payable (2,082)
RITREAMEE Bank and other borrowings (31,189)
EERIBEARE Deferred tax liabilities 33 (37,080)
AR EEFEARE (B ATFER) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 691,343
FEIE R Non-controlling interests (339,117)
352,226
WEEERNEE Goodwill on acquisition 20 109,375
AR Satisfied by
H b FEAT R Other payables 18,102
BN BESR RN LRIEE Previously held 49% equity interest,
#49% fxtE (IR A F(ERT) represented by interests in associate, at
fair value 443,499
MKEALZEEH RS RESHT An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
UM FAZEH is as follows:
FHET
HK$'000
ReENRE Cash consideration -
BUER & RIRITHS Cash and bank balances acquired 62,545
SAREEBHBRERENRE R Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
REeEBYRNFE included in cash flows from investing activities 62,545

ERRRERBERLA —E=—FFRK 22
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ERAAREBBR AR ([EKE
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51%MRHE - BKERBEKE
RAF & R A S RBB AR R AR
BEM  MRERKREERRES
B ZWBSEENEAAEERN
THEBETRRTEREREMSH
BRI —D - 2 RES
BRRKEBRENRES M
Hih - AR%16,320,0007T (48
E19,961,000/87T) R=F =
—E+-—_A=+—8BXft-m
# T AR%65,280,0007T (FHE
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F+—A=+— Azt AEMEA
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(f) ®)
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The acquisition of A% was completed at the end of
the year. Had the combination taken place at the beginning
of the year, the revenue of the Group for the year would
have been increased by HK$436,119,000 and the profit
of the Group for the year would have been increased by
HK$26,349,000.

On 29 December, 2021, the Group acquired 51% equity
interests in BKEERAARBRAR(EKSR") and 51%
equity interests in BKERRXARERAA(EKER") from
an independent third party. #XE& and Z/KZER are
engaged in the sale and distribution of gas fuel and related
products, gas connection and the sale of gas appliances.
The acquisition is made as part of the Group’s strategy
to expand its market share in the downstream city gas
industry. The total purchase consideration for the acquisition
was in the form of cash, with RMB16,320,000 equivalent
of HK$19,961,000 paid on 31 December, 2021, and the
remaining RMB65,280,000 equivalent of HK$79,843,000
was included in other payables as at 31 December, 2021.

During the year ended 31 December, 2021, the fair value
assessment of this acquisition has not been finalised
by the date of approval of these financial statements. In
accordance with HKFRS 3, certain provisionally estimated
fair values of assets and liabilities acquired were used for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 December, 2021.
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37. XK &6 () 37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
LKERREKRERNIER The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of 2
AH#AEERBENRAFEN KEE and £/KER as at the date of acquisition were as
TS 38 follows:

RIBERZANATLE
Fair values recognised on acquisition
SKER BRER
B sE FHET FHT
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
L ER Property, plant and equipment 14 12,004 134,362
FREEE Right-of-use assets 16 2,743 9,813
BEWE  BENIEZHER  Deposits for purchase of property,
by plant and equipment 394 =
RITEBRRAE Bank balances and cash 1,987 3,222
U E FEF R MU Trade and other receivables 7,885 2,420
=& Inventories 3,466 14
ERAE Contract liabilities (2,997) (173)
ENEZSRT N EMENTK Trade and other payables (15,558) (129,116)
AR EEFERATE Total identifiable net assets at fair
(RAFEE) value 9,924 20,542
IR Non-controlling interests (4,863) (10,065)
5,061 10,477
WEBEENEE Goodwill on acquisition 20 54,944 29,322
AR Satisfied by
RBe Cash 12,001 7,960
HoA FEAH R Other payables 48,004 31,839
YRR ETERREE KRS The goodwill recognised above consists largely of the
EREKERRANEBERS G expected synergies from combining operations of 2/K&E&
EEMTERRRBUE - and ZKZERK with the Group.
MEBAZEZEREZRERESN An analysis of the cash flows in respect of these
NN acquisitions is as follows:
EKER EXER
FHET FHIT
HK$'000 HK$'000
ReRE Cash consideration (12,001) (7,960)
BB & RIRITHER Cash and bank balances acquired 1,987 3,222

FTAREEBAHAEESREN  Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
Re kR EEYRLIFE included in cash flows used in
investing activities (10,014) (4,738)

ERRRERERLR —E-—FFR 223
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37. £KE 6 (&) 37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
HEKERREKERZIE The acquisition of Z/kKEE and Z/K#ER was completed
RERTHK o WEFRFH at the end of the year. Had the combination taken place at
A REBF AW A the beginning of the year, the revenue of the Group for the
69,037,000 T R NEEF A year would have been increased by HK$69,037,000 and the
s F 4R 410,615,000 7T © profit of the Group for the year would have been decreased

by HK$10,615,000.

(9) RZZE=Z—FtAAH  ~5H (g) On 5 July, 2021, the Group acquired the business of the
BBYE=FREZREERER sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products
2~ (TR EREE ) IE R B MR and gas connection and related asset group from &
K RAAEERAHE kD HRR ZREERERAR("REZRE"), an independent third
RERRAEEEHAR - ZWHE party. The acquisition is part of the on-going expansion
FHRASEFEREREEKDY strategy of the Group with the aim of becoming the market
—&5 - BIZRKA T MR leader in the downstream city gas industry. The purchase
RITENTHEEE - ZWES consideration for the acquisition was in the form of cash,
ENBERBURSINMN  H with RMB17,920,000 equivalent of HK$21,559,000 paid
AR 17,920,0007T (FHE R on 30 September, 2021, and the remaining RMB4,480,000
21,559,00087) ER =T =— equivalent of HK$5,390,000 included in other payables as
FAA=ZTHEXN A TARKE at 31 December, 2021.

4,480,0007T (4 E 15,390,000
BTIR-ZE-_—F+-_A=+
— Bt AHMERNR -

R RERUEEH R # R EE The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of &
RBEOHRAFERT : ZFIE as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

R B

WA E

Fair values

recognised on

acquisition

B aE FHET

Notes HK$'000

Y - BB REE Property, plant and equipment 14 7,414

e Operating rights 21 19,535

AR EFELRE (B AFEST) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 26,949
AR Satisfied by

Re Cash 21,559

H At FEFT R Other payables 5,390
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of these
acquisitions is as follows:

FAT

HK$'000

ReRE Cash consideration (21,559)

BUEIR & RIRITAR Cash and bank balances acquired =
FARBEBBAESRENIRE KR Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included

ReEEYRLFRE in cash flows used in investing activities (21,559)

BWREBEENUR  REREAKR
EEHE_T-_—F+-A=+
—ALFEMNREVERERE
BRI 215,494,000 JT Ko F)
185,000 7T ©

HAEHNENRLE  AEEFR
I 25 #5318 N27,941,0005% T &

N B F A ) 1% 8 4> 156,000
BT ©

RZTZ=Z—F+—A++tH &
EEEBUFE = AL EBRR
BRAT (XX LXxE]) KER
BEIARL RABRAE mAIHE K5 8
KA RER RAEEAEAR - %
KWEEERAEEFERERS
BER)— 80D - BARR A TR
TMRRITENTISEESE - ZW
BEENEEREURESIMT
Hh AR¥24,372,0007T (HE
729,798,000 L) R=—T=—
FE+=-A=+— At AEMmREN
o

Since the acquisition * R%Z & contributed revenue of
HK$15,494,000 and profit of HK$185,000 to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have been
increased by HK$27,941,000 and the profit of the Group for
the year would have been decreased by HK$156,000.

(h) On 17 November 2021, the Group acquired the business of
the sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products
and gas connection and related asset group from X
WX BREARDA(CXWLHIE"), an independent third-
party. The acquisition is part of the on-going expansion
strategy of the Group with the aim of becoming the market
leader in the downstream city gas industry. The purchase
consideration for the acquisition was in the form of cash
with RMB24,372,000 equivalent of HK$29,798,000 included
in other payables as at 31 December 2021.

EWARERERAT —B-—FER
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of X

FEBEHNAFENAT I} #E as at the date of acquisition were as follows:
RUEERER
WAFE
Fair values
recognised on
acquisition
Bt 3E FHET
Notes HK$'000
M - BB R& Property, plant and equipment 14 13,054
FRAEEE Right-of-use assets 16 1,125
AP EE R AL (A ATERT) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 14,179
IRk Non-controlling interests (8,558)
5,621
WEEENEE Goodwill on acquisition 24177

SRAR Satisfied by

E Ath FE TR Other payables 29,798

NAHEMESEZEEFED

BEm °

BUEEEIEMAR « LB AR
EEHE_ZT-_—F+-A=1+
—BILFERNERE T HRE BB

% 71,0008 7T °

WEHRENEE  AEEFNR
U 25 ¥ 1E n3,615,0007 7T K AN
S BT Rm M R4 1,151,000

ABIT °

current period.

There is no cash flows in respect of this acquisition in the

Since the acquisition * XU contributed profit of
HK$71,000 to the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have been
increased by HK$3,615,000 and the profit of the Group for

the year would have been decreased by HK$1,151,000.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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R-ZZB_—%+—H+ARA  BIYSE
=R BT RERR (KE) AR
RAGE2EREENERETRR AR
RAEIZHE RS HREE R AHER
RIAREREB A RABRREEARSIA
REE 2 A E A R IEE AR
RAR ([BRIEEHE]) - R - K&
EREMEEDIERASREARY
49,694,0007T * #HE158,555,000/&
TT - AESRE AP TRRREAREL D) o TERK
ZR % - REERBELEICE NN
LE IR 80% B D E46% + BERRAEZE
RRAEREZ B AT -

FRE KR ERMET
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38. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 15 November, 2021, an independent third party, Z&{EHH
AR (EE)ER AR, injected the business of the sale and
distribution of gas fuel and related products and gas connection
and related asset group of ZAIEMRRBRRAF, a company
wholly owned by this party, into Z2&IEEBRAER AR (“ERK
TEEEHE"), a former subsidiary of the Group. In the meantime,
the Group injected a cash consideration of RMB49,694,000
equivalent of HK$58,555,000 to Z#ZJEZEH in order to reach
the desired holding percentage in it. Upon the completion of
this transaction, the Group’s share percentage in ZEfEIEEE
7 decreased from 80% to 46% and ZfX7EZEH becomes an
associate of the Group.

B —F
2021
B aE FBT
Notes HK$’ 000
HEEEFE : Net assets disposed of:

Yz - BB REE Property, plant and equipment 14 118,685
K Operating rights 21 341

BEWE  BREIREES Deposits for purchase of property, plant
and equipment 2,859
RITHEBRIRS Bank balances and cash 1,043
EE Inventories 11,045
JE W B8 55 AR 3R % L Ath FE MR Trade and other receivables 30,709
FET B 5 AR 3R I ELAth FE ST K Trade and other payables (22,277)
wEEFE Total net assets 142,405
IR i Non-controlling interests (28,481)
113,924
HEHB AR RE Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 7 25,074
RERE Cash consideration 58,555
REFE R R LR - IRATE Interests in associates, at fair value 197,553

FRLENBARNRERES TN
T

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the disposal of a
subsidiary is as follows:

FAT

HK$'000

RERE Cash consideration (58,555)

BHERS RIRITHES Cash and bank balances disposed of (1,043)
AARBEBAREREN Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents

ReERBEEYRLFE included in cash flows used in investing activities (59,598)

EWARERERAT —B-—FER
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39. &iE

AEEREEBRAH LT & AR
#

39.

COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of
the reporting period:

—E-—F —TTHF
2021 2020
FBT FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
RATEBEFTOERR Capital expenditure contracted for but not
AEBYBHREFPEEN provided in the Group's financial statements
B in respect of:
BEME - BERBEAR Acquisition of property, plant and
ERAEEE equipment and right-of-use assets 139,161 212,316
®& (MisE) Investments (note) 2,484,652 95,053
2,623,813 307,369

iz R=F=—F+=-A=+—H " &&
#$E2,388,710,000/8 T B HETT 2
HEIMRRMO AR AR FLBLRTERT
WEENRE - B - ASEEEBRES
BARKRZRIETERITERE @ 518
BBfEE25 ©

Note: As at 31 December, 2021, HK$2,388,710,000 of the investment
commitments was the expected purchase consideration for the
proposed take-private of Suchuang Gas Corporation Limited. In the
meantime, the Group has placed guarantee deposits at designated
bank account for this transaction, the details are set out in note 25.

40. EEEH 40. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

RZZBEZ—F+=ZA=+—H &*& At 31 December, 2021, the Group pledged the following assets
EEERTIEEERENTRAR as security for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas and

e R e B 5 BRI R BUT M4 franchise performance to the government:

FHEERBRBER

—E-—F —ECEF
2021 2020
FTHET FHTT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
EHEMRRITER Pledged bank deposits 1,820 12,193

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

41. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Transactions/balances with related parties

PRARBAMEEFTEMBEA LR SN
AEBNFRNEFEATETTIE

In addition to the related party transactions set out in the

respective notes, the Group entered into the following material

AR : transactions with related parties during the year:
—EB-—-F b
2021 2020
i FBT FAT
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’000
HBE N RN R 5 Transactions with associates:
HEES Sale of goods a 107,916 208,774
BEEM Purchase of goods b 36,951 102,404
B A Interest income from loans 3,941 2,790
HEENENRS Transactions with joint ventures:
SHEEM Sale of goods a 980,199 601,307
BEEM Purchase of goods b 93,751 109,425
FEMBA Interest income 1,518 1,568
FBRX Interest expenses 1,609 3,584
HRERMBARIMNKZS :  Transactions with fellow subsidiaries:
FF B A Interest income from deposits 21,351 13,006
BERF EWA Interest income from a loan 63,572 57,794
BRI AR R M3 5 Transactions with non-controlling
shareholders:
HEEM Sale of goods a 287,909 199,515
HBEER Purchase of goods b 1,358,379 707,941
e Rental expenses e 460 450
BRI ARIMA S« Transactions with intermediate
holding companies:
FERX Interest expenses d 22,940 51,666
ZPMRRERERAT —ZE=—FFH
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a.  MABERR - AEARKIFERER a.
ETHHEERBAAKREIER PR
HAOE B ER RIS -

b. MREZEATR &% QA RIFERER b.
EITMEEREHEDQR  AEARTF)
FOFERBRAETIERFEENE
BB R -

c. MRZTE=—F+=ZA=+—H8 £K&E @
BN AR B[R RHTE A ARG E R
TROHERRAFEARTREME
7832,806,210 B L (ZF=_ZF :
1,477,077,31487T) * ZEFFHETA
RITEHBRIES ©

d.  RERRWERAGRKFEZERAFN d.
BERFBWA KB DR EEBRT
F#FERHIBOR)EE - GRS
FIEH R E27 ©

e. XNTRARWBRRNEEFEXIIR e.
EmSHESEL

EHEEATHEMR S &

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

41. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

Transactions/balances with related parties (Continued)

Notes:

The sales to the associates, the joint ventures, and the non-
controlling shareholders were made according to the published
prices and conditions offered to the major customers of the Group.

The purchases from the associates, the joint ventures and the non-
controlling shareholders were made according to the published
prices and conditions offered by the associates, the joint ventures
and the non-controlling shareholders to their major customers.

At 31 December, 2021, the Group placed bank and other deposits
of HK$832,806,210 (2020: HK$1,477,077,314) with China Resources
Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd., a fellow subsidiary of the Company, and
these deposits were included in bank balances and cash.

The interest income and expenses from loans from the fellow
subsidiaries, and the intermediate holding companies were made
according to the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (HIBOR). Details
of the transaction is set out in note 27.

The rental expenses to fellow subsidiaries were made according to
the market rents.

Other transactions/balances with related parties

—B-—-F —ERCRF
2021 2020
FBT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
HERMBATNRS : Transactions with fellow subsidiaries:
IR E — A QR MR Purchase of shares of an associate 3,135,020 =

FA - ANEEREFEE R RER
BEMIILNGE  RETHENE
BoRmMZBERRMEARBES
B R 265,589,330 Mk fn - 48R (E
R AR#2,602,220,0547T °

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021

During the year, the Group purchased 265,589,330 shares of &
BR from ZFEREBIE and #EHEE at a total consideration of
RMB2,602,220,054, based on the mutually agreed prices in the
agreements signed with the two fellow subsidiaries respectively.
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M. BEEATIHE (F) 41. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

HEBEALTHNEMRS R (E)

AREE 5§ Ao BT EE
BRTBAREARH— 35 'ﬁ$
5 8 B B17E DA BB ) -
#lsiEmE %%ﬁmﬁﬁﬁzmﬁ
ERELE -

BRESARALEMBARNRS (B
REEAMBEHRROE MM ERE)
\'$ﬁlﬁ£$ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ%
B ARESISENERTZE S
?FEE%%W@&$E %ﬁ’“
%EK% THERRABENB K
?ﬁﬁ&ﬁ@%%%&@%%
%%$‘K%“R%&%“ﬁﬁ%%
X - RAREERREZFHF
HEERETRS  BRLEFAXE
B WIREM IS IRFCETT - AEE TR
EHlEHEEERE - MxSREL T
EREFHEE SRFHEREE -

Other transactions/balances with related parties (Continued)

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under
CRCL which is controlled by the government of the PRC and
the Group operates in an economic environment currently
predominated by entities controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by the PRC government.

Apart from the transactions with the parent company and its
subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other notes to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group also conducts
businesses with entities directly or indirectly controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC government in
the ordinary course of business, including businesses regarding
the majority of its bank deposits and the corresponding
interest income, certain bank and other borrowings and the
corresponding finance costs, a large portion of purchases and
part of the sales of gas. The directors of the Company consider
the transactions with these government-related entities are within
normal business operations and are carried out on market terms.
The Group has established its pricing strategies and these
strategies do not depend on whether or not the counterparties
are government-related entities.

AEETEEEAEME Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
—E-—F —TTF
2021 2020
FHET FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
EHIEF Short-term benefits 42,344 39,952
& B RIKER Post-employment benefits 1,006 822
43,350 40,774

EWARERERAT —B-—FER
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41.

42.

BEALRKE (&)
AEBEEEEASHE ()

B Lo RcIEMBEATR S HE
X ETRBIE1AAB I RENBER
FEFERER S ©

EXEREE

REFERHERAERFLE XA
SRERENFEERERARITRE
MEEEEE 2 FRFE - REBTT
EHEZRBREARDEST R R
HEERZmw - AERABEHNE
BEESRFTROAERERBAMRE
RBEEHER -  AREHRTBEFE
ZEERRREEAE

AEENEARBREARE (BER
TREMER) RMEERE  T8%F
RITHEBRARBEE ARBRE
(ABEHTEAR  REEMRHEMRERE
#RK)

AEEEEETHBRTEARE - &
BERREAKAREERR IR
NEW—&D - XRECEETSHRHE
AEBWEARE  BRIRMERS
BATHRL - BITHEIEFREE -

41.

42,

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
(Continued)

The related party transactions in respect of items b and c
above also constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to maintain a balance between
continuity of cash flows from operating activities and the flexibility
through the use of bank and other borrowings. The Group also
monitors the current and expected liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants regularly to ensure that
sufficient working capital and adequate committed lines of
funding are maintained to meet its liquidity requirements. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
include bank and other borrowings, senior notes, net of bank
balances and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued capital, retained profits and other reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, management considers the
cost of capital and the associated risks, and takes appropriate
actions to adjust the Group’s capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of
new debts or the redemption of existing debts.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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€@MIT A 43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) &mMIEEH (a) Categories of financial instruments
—E-—F 2021
THEE Financial assets
BATEF ARt EKE
MeEmEE
Financial assets at
fair value through other
comprehensive income
RE AR
BRRE BARE HEREE k]
Financial
assets at
Debt Equity amortised
investments investments cost Total
FERx FEx FEx FEx
HKS$’ 000 HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
BAFEFAEM  Equity investments at fair
2HEREEHBRA value through other
BE comprehensive income - 164,794 - 164,794
U E 5 BR R Trade receivables 414,189 - 7,242,046 7,656,235
sFAHEMEWRE N Financial assets included in
HthEER other receivables and other
CREE assets - - 3,379,780 3,379,780
EiER1T/E3 % Pledged bank deposits and
XBEIRE restricted cash - - 2,526,923 2,526,923
RITEBR RS Bank balances and cash - - 7,562,950 7,562,950
414,189 164,794 20,711,699 21,290,682
THE & Financial liabilities
E27¢: £)0 %N
JIRMEMmEE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
FHET
HK$’ 000
B E SRR Trade payables 8,452,224
SRIT R EAb{E 5K Bank and other borrowings 911,365
BEER Senior notes 5,583,770
HEARE Lease liabilities 389,709
FFAEMENREEMEERN Financial liabilities included in other payables
o =N and other liabilities 7,427,764
22,764,832
SHMRERBERAT —B-—FEH
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For the year ended 31 December, 2021

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

CECEF 2020
THEE Financial assets
BATFEF AR bEEKES
HEMEE
Financial assets at
fair value through other
comprehensive income
TR S P AT R
BRI E R E MEmEE mE
Financial
assets at
Debt Equity amortised
investments investments cost Total
FHT FHT THT THT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEAFERA Equity investments at fair
Hip2mEukzs value through other
BRI E comprehensive income = 153,100 = 153,100
B E 2 R 5% Trade receivables 107,516 - 4,788,065 4,895,581
FHE i FE IR Financial assets included
REMEER in other receivables and
TREE other assets = = 3,813,708 3,813,708
EiER1TE3 % Pledged bank deposits and
XBEIRE restricted cash = = 12,193 12,193
RITERRIE S Bank balances and cash - - 13,442,206 13,442,206
107,516 153,100 22,056,172 22,316,788
THEE Financial liabilities
1R SR AR
IR ERmBE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
FHET
HK$'000
BB SRR Trade payables 7,418,545
$RIT R E A AR Bank and other borrowings 2,846,933
BREE Senior notes 5,535,664
HEaE Lease liabilities 318,476
AFAEMENREEMEERN Financial liabilities included in other payables and
TRAE other liabilities 4,711,959
20,831,577

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

Annual Report 2021
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, deposits for an investment, trade and other
receivables, pledged bank deposits and restricted cash,
bank balances and cash, other deposits, trade and
other payables, bank and other borrowings, senior notes
and other long-term liabilities. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The Group
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure that
appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and

effective manner.

Foreign currency risk

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and
monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currencies,
i.e. currencies other than the functional currency of the
respective group entities, which are mainly bank balances
and cash, bank and other borrowings and senior notes, at
the end of the reporting period are as follows:

—E-—F —TTF
2021 2020
FBT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$’'000
EE Assets

ETLHARKE US$ against RMB 76,722 57,750
ETLHABTT US$ against HK$ 1,237 1,011
BITHAARE HK$ against RMB 1,542 1,463
AREE R AT RMB against HK$ 317,863 113,267

=0 Liabilities
ETLABTT US$ against HK$ 5,583,770 5,535,664
AE X AR JPY against RMB 221,012 257,470

REBE BE BT IMNEE R
By ARSI ESMNE R - AEER
W & TS A NS R Bl A (R 4
AN R o BT A 6 BB
EREHINERE R -

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the movements of foreign currency exchange
rates. The Group currently has not entered into any foreign
currency forward contracts to hedge against foreign
currency risk. Management will consider hedging foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2020: 5%) increase and decrease in the relevant functional
currencies of the group entities, against the following
foreign currencies. 5% (2020: 5%) is the sensitivity rate
which represents management’s assessment of the possible
change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies and adjusts their translation at the year
end for the 5% (2020: 5%) change in foreign currency
rates. The sensitivity analysis excludes balances which are
denominated in US$ for an entity with HK$ as its functional
currency since US$ is pegged to HK$. A positive number
indicates an increase in pre-tax profit for the year when
the relevant functional currencies of the group entities
strengthen by 5% (2020: 5%) against the relevant foreign
currencies. For a 5% (2020: 5%) weakening of the relevant
functional currencies of the group entities against the
relevant foreign currencies, there would be an equal but
opposite impact on the pre-tax profit for the year and the
balances below would be negative.

—EZ—F —E-THF
2021 2020
FTHT FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
EP uUss
F R AR F Pre-tax profit for the year 3,836 2,888
BT HK$
F AR F Pre-tax profit for the year 77 73
AE JPY
AL AT Pre-tax profit for the year (11,051) (12,874)
AR RMB
F R AR F Pre-tax profit for the year 15,893 5,663

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

Annual Report 2021
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis (Continued)

In management’'s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as
the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during

the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to prevailing market interest rates on bank
balances and pledged bank deposits and restricted cash
(see notes 26 and 25 for details of these balances) and
floating-rate amounts due from/to joint ventures, amounts
due to intermediate holding companies and bank and
other borrowings (see notes 27 and 30 for details of these
borrowings). Management continuously monitors interest
rate fluctuation and will consider further hedging interest
rate risk should the need arise.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings, amounts
due from intermediate holding companies, amounts due
from fellow subsidiaries and senior notes (see notes 23 and
31 for details). Management continuously monitors interest
rate exposure.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for interest-bearing bank
balances, other deposits, pledged bank deposits, amounts
due from/to joint ventures, amounts due to intermediate
holding companies and bank and other borrowings.
The analysis is prepared assuming that those balances
outstanding at the end of each reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 10 or 50 basis points
increase or decrease which represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates is used.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If the interest rate on bank balances, other deposits,
pledged bank deposits and restricted cash and amounts
due from/to joint ventures carried at variable rates had
been 10 basis points higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the pre-tax profit for the year
ended 31 December, 2021 would increase/decrease by
HK$10,002,000 (2020: HK$13,186,000).
on floating-rate bank and other borrowings and amounts
due to intermediate holding companies had been 50

If the interest rate

basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the pre-tax profit for the year ended 31 December,
2021 would decrease/increase by HK$27,602,000 (2020:
HK$23,724,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s
exposure to interest rates benchmarked to HIBOR on its
floating-rate bank and other borrowings and amounts due to
intermediate holding companies.

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of the HIBOR and the
People’s Bank of China Base Rate.

Credit risk

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations
in relation to each class of recognised financial assets
is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position. In order to
minimise the credit risk, the Group has policies in place for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group carries
out searches on the creditability of the new customer and
assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are
reviewed once a year.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability of each
individual trade debt on a regular basis to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the Group considers that the credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are financial institutions with high credit
standing.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31
December, 2021

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 December, 2021.
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets.
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43. €M I A (&) 43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) HHEREEEEZRBE(Z) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

BRI (&)
RZF-——F+=-_A=+—HH
By AR g R F AR ()

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 3171
December, 2021 (Continued)

12EARH
REEE 2HRNEERR
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
2l K&2 K83 Lk @i
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FiEn T TiEn TEn TEn
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
EhaENRTE Amounts due from joint ventures 185,237 - - - 185,237
[ GG Amounts due from associates 142,917 - - - 142,917
FIERRR R Amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders 521,670 - - - 521,670
[ GELIEYNGE o Amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries 1,908,802 - - - 1,908,802
et Trade receivables® - - - 8,037,295 8,037,295
it el Other receivables™ 663,588 - - - 663,588
BEREIEARTRIES  Pledged bank deposits and
restricted cash 2,526,923 - - - 2,526,923
BIBEBRRFRS Bank balances and cash 7,562,950 - - - 7,562,950
13,512,087 - - 8,037,295 21,549,382

* AL BHEABAELRE
MEKREZRERME - AHE%E
BEEBENERHE BRI BHRE
FfizE23 o

o EBERAHMERERNERMEE
AEaE - BEENETERE
ENEERRE L#EREL
REAREM  AEEEERR
BRIER] -

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment, information based on the provision
matrix is disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in other
receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are
not past due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31
December, 2020

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 December, 2020.

MNEEEZREBRNZAGEER The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
% 2N ESEAESREERN financial assets.
HBARTEE -
12fA %S
FEFE *HRBEERE
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
&1 W2 &3 it &5t
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
TER TAR T T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i UNS Amounts due from joint ventures 383,409 = = = 383,409
[ EINGE N Amounts due from associates 125,931 - - - 125,931
ElERERTE Amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders 88,324 - - - 88,324
ERRZNBARRE Amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries 2,519,914 - - - 2,519,914
ERBHEN Trade receivables® = = = 5,251,785 5,251,785
Eft ezt Other receivables™ 738,221 - - = 738,221
BERRITESLTBHES  Pledged bank deposits and
restricted cash 12,193 - - - 12,193
BOEHRAS Bank balances and cash 13,442,206 = = = 13,442,206
17,310,198 - - 5,251,785 22,561,983
@ st B E A L EEH RE * For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified

MEKREZERME @ AHERE
{8 B R ) B R BB A B B SRR
ff5E23 ©

o EBERtAHMBERNEBEE
Ao - BEENBTERE
ENEERRE ML H#REL
REXEN  AEERERK
BRIER]-

approach for impairment, information based on the provision
matrix is disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.

* The credit quality of the financial assets included in other
receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are
not past due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. Management also monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants, if
any.

At 31 December, 2021, the Group had net current liabilities
of HK$18,132,257,000. Taking into account of the unutilised
banking facilities of HK$2,615,233,000 and internally
generated funds of the Group and the other factors
described in note 2, the Group has sufficient working capital
for its present requirements for the next twelve months from
31 December, 2021.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both

ME ° interest and principal cash flows.
it BERY  BB-FE ABRRE
TRE FH-8  TEBIF BBLE REAR REE
Weighted ~ Ondemand  Over 1 year Total
average  orless than  but not more undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1year than5years Over5years  cash flows amounts
% T ThL TAL Tibn Tibn
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZB=Z-£+-A=t-8 At 31 December, 2021
ERE SRR RAERR Trade and other payables
-%8 - interest-free - 10,308,763 - - 10,308,763 10,308,763
—it8 - interest-bearing 1.40 107,315 - - 107,315 105,833
i) - interest-bearing 0.74 5,052,975 - - 5,052,975 5,015,768
RITRAMIER Bank and other borrowings 1.28 615,659 49,291 268,382 933,332 911,365
BERE Senior notes 480 5,649,346 - - 5649346 5583770
REER Lease liabilities 4.22 48,774 195,096 162,285 406,155 389,709
Bt RAEE Other long-term liabilities 3.95 26,012 47,199 400,796 474,007 449,624
21,808,844 291,586 831,463 22,931,893 22,764,832
RZB-BE+-A=1-A At 31 December, 2020
ERE SRR RAERT Trade and other payables
-%8 - interest-free - 9,032,048 - - 9,032,048 9,032,048
—#E - interest-bearing 1.40 308,710 = - 308,710 304,448
-8 - interest-bearing 0.74 2,520,127 - - 2,520,127 2,510,837
BIREMER Bank and other borrowings 179 2,617,128 107,715 249536 2,974,379 2,846,933
BEZE Senior notes 4.80 249,927 5,678,886 - 5,928,813 5,535,664
HEaR Lease liabilities 422 102,346 172,482 84,146 358,974 318,476
B RAEE Other long-term liabilities 3.95 20,750 56,954 223,401 300,105 283,171
14,851,036 6,015,037 557,083 21423156 20,831,577

117 B ) 3= ) 2 B LT 3R 75 AR
EEMFEMGEATR - B LIk
TEEREBEENZEIASET
SHREZS -

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair values of various financial assets and
financial liabilities.

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent that it is available.
Where Level 1
establishes the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs

inputs are not available, the Group

to perform the valuation.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs
that are not based on observable market data to estimate
the fair value of certain types of financial instruments. The
valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in
the determination of the fair value of various assets and
liabilities are stated below.
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(c) SMIBMATENE(Z)

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(c)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

REBUET M EEZ N FEGT
BHT@EELN L FE
REWRESHR  ARENHD 2
MEEDRAFEAE - TRH
I EZEeMEEAFE
WER (CEEMERNMBES
ERBABR) -

Fair value of the Group'’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair

value at the end of each reporting period. The following

table gives information about how the fair values of these

financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation

technique(s) and inputs used).

HERER EATTEE TIRERAHE
SREE RTISIBBHATE ATEZH  IZRAEE DN ¢4 BAVENEE  HEE
Valuation Significant Relationship of
Fairvalue technique(s)and  unobservable unobservable
Financial assets Fair value as at hierarchy ~ key input(s) input(s) inputs to fair value Sensitivity
8--% i
2021 2020

RERATESNAMEZE LoRAR%-  tARAE5- () RRMAMAEAE  TER NER R
YEnRARE 8,031,000%% 374800037

Equity investments Listed equity Listed equity Level 1 () Quoted bid pricesin  N/A N/A N/A
designated at fair securities - securities - an active market
value through other HK$8,031,000 HK$3,748,000
comprehensive income

EERATENALMZE FIvREaR%-  FLakAE5-  EZR)  REEE RETHTRE.  fHAS ATE  EHEN/H5%
WENHRARE 156,763,000%7 149,352,000/ 70 PIS - g G TEHATE

(P/B) ££E £/ gp
B/ MBS 10,939, 8914
WA FEREH

HI(EV/EBITA)IE

#

Equity investments Non-listed equity  Non-listed equity Level 3 (i) Valuation multiples  Average PIE~P/S~  The higher the 5% increase/
designated at fair securities - securities - P/B ~ EV/EBITA multiples, the decrease in
value through other HK$156,763,000  HK$149,352,000 muttiples of peers  higher the fair multiples would
comprehensive income value result in increase/

decrease in
fair value by
HK$10,939,891
BREERN R ATE  FHEN/BD5%
Al AEYATH
B/ En
3,341,693
Discount for lack of - The higher the 5% increase/
marketability discount, the decrease in
lower the fair discount would
value result in decrease/
increase in
fair value by
HK$3,341,693

BATEARMEENG BREAER-  BRESER- FIHBG)  EATEREAEE TER o il NER
HERRE 414,189,000 107,516,000/

Debt investments at fair ~ Trade receivables - Trade receivables -  Level 2 (i)  Significant N/A N/A N/A
value through other HK$414,189,000  HK$107,516,000 observation inputs
comprehensive income
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group'’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2, or
3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

(i) Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

(i) Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly;

(iii)

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

There were no transfers among Level 1, 2 and 3 in the
current and prior years.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities
(except for senior notes as disclosed in note 31) recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate to their fair values.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
have been determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on the discounted cash
flow analysis.
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45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

—EZ—fF —T-THF
+=ZA=+—-8 +=ZA=+—H
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
FET FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
EREBEE Non-current assets
WE - BERZE Property, plant and equipment 509 667
RHBAFIMIELETIRE  Unlisted investments in subsidiaries 13,850,031 13,850,031
[ NGRS Amounts due from subsidiaries 11,901,767 10,953,197
FREEE Right-of-use assets 3,106 7,247
25,755,413 24,811,142
mENEE Current assets
H {th FE IR Other receivables 2,312,540 1,987,430
FEU I B A 5B Amounts due from subsidiaries 1,140,882 1,162,510
FEUR R Z M B A R FKIE Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 53,567 =
RITHEHBRNIRS Bank balances and cash 354,938 411,017
3,861,927 3,560,957
MEBAE Current liabilities
HEMEANR R EEA Other payables and accrued charges 403,966 362,400
FERIB B A RIZRIAE Amounts due to subsidiaries 693,912 333,552
M8 A RHR M E R Loan from a subsidiary - 576,348
FEAS AR R IR A R I8 Amounts due to an intermediate holding company 5,015,768 2,510,837
HEAE Lease liabilities 3,291 4,237
BAZER Senior notes 5,583,770 =
RITEE Bank borrowings 500,000 2,230,000
12,200,707 6,017,374
mEEEFE Net current liabilities (8,338,780) (2,456,417)
17,416,633 22,354,725
BN ERE Capital and reserves
f& 7 Share capital 231,401 231,401
it Reserves 17,185,232 16,584,370
17,416,633 16,815,771
SEmBAE Non-current liabilities
BEAZR Senior notes - 5,535,664
HEAE Lease liabilities - 3,290
- 5,538,954
17,416,633 22,354,725
EBHRRIEREBRAE —ZE-—F5F3K
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45. AR RN BA R K (F) 45.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

AARRERE : Movements in the Company’s reserves:

ARME

RGEE BABB  HEZRH EXRE REEH A
Shares
held for
incentive

Share  Contributed award  Translation Retained
premium surplus scheme reserve profits Total
WZE=FF—-F—H At 1 January, 2020 6,378,643 7,388,600 (166,250) (691,862) 630,307 13,539,438

FREHRZARGES Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year

HARELT Rights issue

RS Dividends paid

- - - = 1,358,334 1,358,334
3,669,945 = = = = 3,659,945
- - - = (1,973,347)  (1,973,347)

WZZ-FE+-A=1+—H At 31 December, 2020

10,038,588 7,388,600 (166,250) (691,862) 15,294 16,584,370

FREHR2ENRE Profit and total comprehensive
B%E income for the year
BRTRE Dividends paid

= = = = 2,710,302 2,710,302
= = = = (2,109,440)  (2,109,440)

W-Z-—F+-A=1+—H At 31 December, 2021

10,038,588 7,388,600 (166,250) (691,862) 616,156 17,185,232

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021

46. TEMB AR EHR 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
FEMB AR —RER General information of principal subsidiaries
RIBEHR - ~XEBHRBARNER Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting
By o period are set out below.
BERTREEREK/
EMAL L TEMEX AEBEGRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
ARERE incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest FEEK
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
“E--% ZIZT-TF
2021 2020
% %
ERRRERAR REETHS TmiR4sETT 100 100  REER
China Resources Gas Limited  British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$4 Investment holding
AEI China Gas Limited REHE LA 1,000% T 100 100 RERK
Cayman Islands Ordinary US$1,000 Investment holding
RERERMRRARAR HE AR #785,000,0007 66.43 66.43 HERICEREFBRESD
PRC RMB785,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
RIEBRRBBERA" HE AE#129,068,8007T 51 51  HERICERESERES
PRC RMB129,068,800 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
HREBRRARRE! FE AE#50,000,0007C 80.4 80.4  HERILR
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas

ERRRERERLA —ZE=—FFRK 251



252

e B RRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-S-_-F+-A=1t-RALFE
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46. TEMBE LR EHR (F) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
TEMBLARN—RER (&) General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
BERTREBERK,/
MR, BRI HEMER AEEESRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
AR BB incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEEY
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
B _—Z°EZF
2021 2020
% %
FMEEREARAA HE 15,000,0003 10 70 70 HERCAREEGREER
PRC US$15,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
EREBRRARAR2 HE 16,000,000% 10 50 50 HERICRREZHREE
PRC US$16,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
ESEBNRERRRS HE 4,000,000% 7T 100 100 HERELARERBRES
PRC US$4,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
ELERREERAR HE 11,000,000% 7 57.11 5711 HERICERESBRES
PRC US$11,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
AREBREERAR FE AR 94,000,0007C 75 75 HERCARERGREE
PRC RMB94,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

Annual Report 2021

connection of gas
pipelines
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BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021

46. TEHMB AT ER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
FTEMBLATN—RER () General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
BERTREBERK,/
EMAL BRI HEMER AEEESRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
AR BB incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEEY
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
“E--F CZZT-FTF
2021 2020
% %
LEEREBRAERAFS HE AR300,000,0007 515 - HERCEREEHEEE
PRC RMB300,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
ELEERRARAF HE AR ¥70,000,0007C 71.43 7143 HERCRREEGRER
PRC RMB70,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
ERERRRERAR? HE AR¥10,000,00070 100 100 WHERELEIERGRES
PRC RMB10,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
EIERRRERAR? HE AR#10,000,0007C 100 100 WERLEIERBRESR
PRC RMB10,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
REEEREARAR FE ARH51,300,0007C 51 51  HERLRERERGREE
PRC RMB51,300,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas
pipelines
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BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HALFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021

46. TEMBE LR EHR (F) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
FTEMBLATN—RER (&) General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
BERTREBERK,/
MR, BRI HEMER AEEESRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
AR BB incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEEY
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
8- —T-TH
2021 2020
% %
MREERRERAF? HE 7,788,900% T 100 100 WHERCERESBRESE
PRC US$7,788,900 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
IREERRARAF HE ARH29,890,6007 51 51  WERICRREZHREE
PRC RMB29,890,600 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BMNEBRRERAR HE AR #80,000,0007 70 70 HERCRAKENGRER
PRC RMB80,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
AHERBREARAR HE AR¥5,000,0007C 100 100 HERELRARERBRESR
PRC RMB5,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
ERMMEEERREB AR hE AKH50,000,0007T 51 51  HERCRRESERES
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas
pipelines

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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BE-_Z-_—+-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December, 2021
46. TEMBE LR EHR (F) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
FTEMBLATN—RER () General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
BERTREBERK,/
MR, BRI HEMER AEEESRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
AR BB incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEEY
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
“E--F CZZT-FTF
2021 2020
% %
BNEBRRERAR FE AR#950,000,0007T 80 80 HERCAERERBRES
PRC RMB950,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
EREBRRARAF HE AR 665,700,000 70 70 HERCAKESGRER
PRC RMB665,700,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
EHERRRARAF HE 29,980,000% 7T 50 50 HERICERERBRES
PRC US$29,980,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
EEERRAERAR HE AR #286,582,8587C 51 51 HERICERESBRES
PRC RMB286,582,858 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
NEBRERRAR # AR H50,000,0007C 95.95 95.95 HERILRRESERES
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

EERREZERBERAF

connection of gas
pipelines
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BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HALFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021

46. TEHMB AT ER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
FTEMBLATN—RER (&) General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
BREARBEREK
HMARL BL B HEMER AEEEERE
Place of Issued and Attributable
ARER incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—B--% —T-TH
2021 2020
% %
REZHRRBERAR i AR55,000,0007 70 70 HERCAREEBREE
PRC RMB55,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
REERRERAR HE AR ¥300,190,0007T 55 55 HERLCAREEBREE
PRC RMB300,190,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BRMEBRR(E)ERAR?  HE AR ¥300,000,0007 50 50 HERCLAREERREE
PRC RMB300,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
ZHERRRERAR HhE AR #258,686,1007T 65 65 HERLLARERRREE
PRC RMB258,686,100 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
REAEHRRARAR i AR 252,000,000 65 65 HERCAREEARES
PRC RMB252,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BTEBRRERAR i AR#150,000,0007T 51 51 HERCERERBRES
PRC RMB150,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas
pipelines

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021



46. TEMBE LR EHR (F) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
TEMBLATN—RER (&) General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
BERTRBRRE
MR, B HEMER AEEEERE
Place of Issued and Attributable
ARER incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—E--F CZZTCFF
2021 2020
% %
EREHMRARAR i 6,250,000 T 51 51 HERCARERRREE
PRC US$6,250,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
HEERRRERDA HE ARH31,015,4007C 51.91 5191 HERCERERBRESR
PRC RMB31,015,400 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
HEZHREERAR HE AR #150,000,0007T 49 49  HERCERERBRES
PRC RMB150,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
RILEFRREBR AR i AR 252,000,000 55 55 HERCAREEBRESE
PRC RMB252,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
HEERBREARARS i AR #186,000,0007T 51 51 HERCAREERRES
PRC RMB186,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

BE-_Z-_—+-A=+—HLEE
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46. TEMBLREHR (F)

TENBARN-—RER (&)

1 FZERBERBEAFIGERED
FRBKAL

2 HARANEBAIEE50% A LMES
BAE  HASEERRARIESX
MEARKMERES - Bt - ZA
RIMAR AANEENNEB AR

3  ERERAETEAIIEBELEN
FZRBKAL

4 RN ERRE B TR TSR S —
ZRRGRABAEEEZMHE AR
gL RERBEXRBMIERR
K BE—2RRHBABREHA
KSEREZNEBEREELE - &A
SEARIEEZME QR NERE
B o Bt - ZARARIERAEE
MB AR -

5 FABRN T —FKAL °

6  ZARR-T-—FHUKE - WE
BB 37 -

BREBRRARABBADAERE
B B LR EENBARBHAE
NAMERE  WEEEFMRL
DAV EL TSV

R-ZBE-_—FR-_F-_FTF+-_A=
+— Bk FREMER - SHHERQA
WMEEIREREES -

ARBEZRR - ERMIIHAEE
MEBARHAEENEAREELR
BEEEATE ARBEZERR #
SR E DR NFHIEES N BE B
RITE °

BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HALFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)

1 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of Sino-
foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

2 The Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary as the Group is able
to nominate over 50% of the board of directors. Accordingly, the
company is regarded a subsidiary of the Group.

3 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of wholly-
foreign-owned enterprises.

4 The Group has rights to direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary
as the Group signed a memorandum in which the other shareholder
would agree with the Group’s decisions on operating, investment
and financing activities of the subsidiary, and the other shareholder
would agree the appointment of the entire senior management
nominated by the Group. Accordingly, the company is accounted for
as a subsidiary of the Group.

5 The company was established in 2021.

6 The company was acquired in 2021. Details of the acquisition are
set out in note 37.

Except for China Resources Gas Limited which is directly held by
the Company, all the above principal subsidiaries are indirectly
held by the Company and operate principally in their places of
incorporation/establishment.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
31 December, 2021 and 2020 or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021

46. TEMB AR ER (& 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
BREEAFEREZRNEZENBER Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries that have material
ElES non-controlling interests
TRINTEAEEREZERERHARE The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of
EF2EMBARE : the Group that have material non-controlling interests:
HEMAILK
TEEXHH FRRERFT
Place of RERERLH AT HFEREZNER Rt ERER
incorporation Proportion of ownership Profit allocated Accumulated
AR BB and principal interests held by to non-controlling non-controlling
Name of company place of business non-controlling interests interests interests
“%--% C"Z-T§ CZB--§ C—ZT-TF ZBZ-§ C"T-TH
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
% % TER T FET T
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000
REBERREERAA HE 33.57 33.57 14,968 10,896 299,443 277,068
PRC
HENEBRRAERAA F 30 30 39,147 36,552 116,476 113,149
PRC
ESEBRAERATF HE 50 50 28,090 26,228 157,580 153,080
PRC
ZHEBRRERAA e 28.57 28.57 18,460 17,236 120,477 117,037
PRC
REEBRRARLA HE 49 49 35,614 33,253 329,505 320,095
PRC
BREBRRERAA M 30 30 28,101 26,238 381,780 370,876
PRC
EHERNRERAR i 50 50 244,780 208551 1,521,854 1,478,391
PRC
ENXEBRREBR AR e 42.89 42.89 35,883 33,504 191,943 186,461
PRC
FAEERRERAR i 45 45 10,026 9,362 192,737 187,232
PRC
BHERRR(EE)ERAR  HE 50 50 19,772 18,462 225,271 218,838
PRC

ERRRERERLA —B-—FFHR 259
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BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HALFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021

46. T EMMB AT E R (

BREEAFERESHNIFZENE D

&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries that have material

RS (&) non-controlling interests (Continued)
HEMAILK
TEEEBE FRRERFTE
Place of EEEREL AEFFERERAET R FERESR
incorporation Proportion of ownership Profit allocated Accumulated
AR EB and principal interests held by to non-controlling non-controlling
Name of company place of business non-controlling interests interests interests
“B--f -T-TF ZB--§f —ZT-TF CZBZ-§ C—IT-IZF
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
% % TER TEL FERT TET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000
EMEBEREERAF H 20 20 249,787 233,226 1,074,206 1,040,135
PRC
ZHEBRAERAT HE 35 35 33,892 31,644 361,689 351,360
PRC
REEERRRERAR H 35 35 4,325 4,038 151,812 147,476
PRC
BEEERRERAF H 49 49 36,975 34,524 342,601 332,816
PRC
HIEERRERAR i 49 49 145,866 136,196 741,590 720,411
PRC
HEZHRRARAR HE 51 51 33,563 31,338 305,713 296,982
PRC
FILEBRRAERRE i 45 45 115,221 107,582 327,983 318,616
PRC
HEEERRERAT i 49 49 7,890 = 411,760 =
PRC
LEEREFRRERAR  F 48.5 485 7,392 = 242,039 =
PRC
EEFERERNER 5,284,288 3,964,049
FEARBAR
Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with non-
controlling interests
12,780,747 10,594,072

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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46. T EMBATIER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

HEZARE LAERERE

HESARRARAR  FLUEBAREARAA BRAE  RRERAR
“E--% -T-%F CZE--F -I-TF CZEC-E “3-%F
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2021
TiEn AT TEn AL TiEn AL
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000 HKS' 000 HK$'000

MEAE Current assets 350,217 340215 652,963 634315 470,048 619,500
FREEE Non-current assets 918,259 892034 584427 567736 1,017,152 680,680
nHAE Current liabilities (658,946)  (640,126)  (496,624)  (482,440) (660,677) (771,009)
¥rEEE Non-current liabilities (10,093)  (9805)  (11,915) (11,575 (85,609) (27,028)
AARER AEERE Equity attributable to owners of the Company 293,724 285336 400,868 389,420 329,154 260,104
FiERER Non-controlling interests 305713 206982 327,083 318616 411,760 242,039
WA Revenue 700,984 662914 1,906,232 1,779,851 1,095,862 656,371
53 Expenses (644,174)  (601.467) (1,650,186) (1,540,780) (998,195) (648,483)
FRET Profit for the year 65810 61447 256,046 239,071 97,667 7,888
AARER AREER Profit attributable to owners of the Company 32,247 30,100 140,825 131489 89,777 496
R R &R Profit attributable to the non-controlling
interests 33,563 31338 115221 107,582 7,890 7,392
FRET Profit for the year 65810 61447 256,046 239,071 97,667 7,888
AREREAEE2ENGER Total comprehensive income attributable to
owners of the Company 32,247 30,109 140,825 131,489 89,777 496
FrREFEEZENGES Total comprehensive income attributable to
the non-controlling interests 33,563 31,338 115,221 107,582 7,890 7,392
ERRANELE Total comprehensive income for the year 65,810 61447 256,046 239,071 97,667 7,888
BAFERERRS Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (11,061)  (6440)  (77,532)  (68,747) 113,794 -
BELBHEENRERA/ Net cash inflow/(outflow)
(i) F%8 from operating activities 147,044 31289 255664 126,894 69,284 35,697
REXBMELNRS Net cash (outflow)/inflow
(R / wAFE from investing activities (63,574)  (169013)  (66,697)  (56,511) (52,271) (2,680)
REEBAELNRE Net cash (outflow)inflow
(i) mAFE from financing activities (72,820) 3361 (214,089)  (189,565) (16,030) (34,098)
B (Ri)/ mAFE Net cash (outflow)finflow 11,550  (134,363)  (25,122) (119,182) 983 (1,281)
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BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HALFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2021
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47. TEEGE N FER 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES
REBEERE
B Attributable
NEEE Place of HfER equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
ZB--f —“T-TH
2021 2020
% %
EREREAREERAT i AR #2,800,000,0007C 49 49 HERCARERBRES
PRC RMB2,800,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BMNERRERRERAA HE AR#117,939,5007T 40 40 HERICRREBRGRESR
PRC RMB117,939,500 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BERURERRRARAR FE AR®717,578,6007T 49 49 HERICRLERBREE
PRC RMB717,578,600 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
EFERRRERAA FE AK#1,000,000,0007C 49 49 HERCAREZERES
PRC RMB1,000,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
RIIEBRTRRERAA ol AR #148,000,0007T 50 50 SHERICRREBRGRESR
PRC RMB148,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
mIFEEEERRRHERAT T AR®122,423,3727C 50 50 HERCRRERERESR
PRC RMB122,423,372 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas
pipelines
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ARBEZRR - ERMIIOAEE

BERRHEAEEFANEEFEXN

?&%%%ﬁkﬂi;‘%ﬁ?ﬁ%@ik%ﬂ
c ARFEERER  HINHMAE
TE’].#Ii G ARMEBRILEK °

47. T EGE NTEH (F) 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES (CONTINUED)
REBEEARE
BRI 2 Attributable
NEER Place of HRER equity interest TEEK
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
ZE--F —ZTC°ZTF
2021 2020
% %
HETREREERARAR e AR#100,000,0007T 49 49 HERCRIEBGRESR
PRC RMB100,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BMNEBRRARAR il AEK®488,376,0007T 49 49 HERICRIERBREE
PRC RMB488,376,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
ERERRRERAF & AR #5,000,000,0007T 49 49 HERCARERBRES
PRC RMB5,000,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
MR LRSI T EAEE R The Group is able to exercise joint control over these companies
ABNATH—ES  WAEETY of which the decisions about the relevant activities require
sy s N T (T B SR A o B - % the unanimous consent of the Group and the joint ventures.
ENFE AAEENESLAT o Accordingly, these companies are regarded as joint ventures of

the Group.

The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results of the year or form a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other joint ventures would, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.

EWARERERAT —B-—FER
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48. T EHE N T EFR

For the year ended 31 December, 2021

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

REQF/ WEAT
BEORE rREEERE
Kb Equity interest Attributable
NRER Place of ZREE held by the joint interest equity TEER
Name of company  establishment Registered capital ~ ventures/subsidiaries of the Group Principal activities
Zg--% "T-TF C%--f “ZT°%F
2021 2020 2021 2020
% % % %
KR REERD e AR 800,000,0007 32.40 32.40 32.40 3240 HERCAREEERES
BRAR" PRC RMB800,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
TELRRER ikl AR595,590,0007C 27 27 23.77 B77  HERRR  RICABRRRRALE
EfAR PRC RMB95,590,000 ERERGRES
Sale of natural gas, LPG and gas
appliances and connection of
gas pipelines
EEMASERGE & AR 1,556,000,0007C 39.17 2227 39.17 227 HERLAREEBREE
BRAR PRC RMB1,556,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
ERRHAEHER PE AR40,000,0007C 49 49 245 245 BERIRRESBRES
MRBERAT PRC RMB40,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
EEPALERER PE AR40,000,0007 36 36 36 3% HERCRREEEREE
BREEARAR  PRC RMB40,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
IBARRERE  HE AB%30,000,0007C 49 49 49 49 HERRRRESRAEE
BAF] PRC RMB30,000,000 Sale of natural gas and
connection of gas pipelines
* ZERA BN LBESFRZ SR * These companies have listed their shares on the Shanghai Stock
Ee Exchange.

ARBEZRR - LRMIIOAEE
BENRHAEBENEEREERR

BEERFE -

FIEAMBE R RNFB B SR BE SR

RITEK °

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected

the results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details

of other associates would, in the opinion of the directors of the

Company, result in particulars of excessive length.
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Five Year Financial Summary

S RESULTS
BE+-A=+—BIt¥E
Year ended 31 December
—Z—+tF TN\ Z-NF —ZT-TF ZB--F
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
FHET FAT FHET FAT FTHT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000
LON REVENUE 39,837,597 52,288,103 56,976,290 55,864,169 78,175,136
F R F PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 4910,867 5,861,417 6,499,743 6,711,888 8,439,832
FEfh ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
AATEEA OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 3,653,994 4,450,101 5,043,477 5,151,292 6,395,368
FEIERRRE RS NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 1,256,873 1,411,316 1,456,266 1,560,596 2,044,464
4,910,867 5,861,417 6,499,743 6,711,888 8,439,832
EEREE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
+=-A=+—H
31 December

—T—+tF ZT-N\F ZT-hE ZTZTF =—B=--F
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
FHET FAT FHEL FAT FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000
BEMBE TOTAL ASSETS 68,763,804 74,903,377 81,824,020 93,870,809 106,136,308
BEHEME TOTAL LIABILITIES (39,594,479) (42,853,810) (46,001,805) (47,002,450) (52,098,646)
WA (E TOTAL EQUITY 29,169,325 32,049,567 35,822,215 46,868,359 54,037,662

PEERRA EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
ARREGA OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 21,992,648 24,081,120 26,795,437 36,274,287 41,256,915
FEIE R NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 7,176,677 7,968,447 9,026,778 10,594,072 12,780,747
A s (E TOTAL EQUITY 29,169,325 32,049,567 35,822,215 46,868,359 54,037,662

ERMAERERAT —T=—FFH 269
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=SB EE
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HENEE
B

EREAREEESS
R S ()
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HiBBL
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B 1156

WAL (R F - —FAH+EARE)
Bl 1k (K== — A5+ R ERE)
FMWEEE

ESMELE (EF)

R

SUERE (R-F-—FaH -+ —HLEF)
A

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. SHI Baofeng (Chief Executive Officer)
(Resigned on 30th September 2021)
Mr. YANG Ping (Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed on 23rd December, 2021)
Mr. GE Bin (Vice Chairman)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)

Mr. CHEN Ying (Resigned on 15th September, 2021)

Mr. WANG Yan (Resigned on 15th September, 2021)
Madam WAN Suet Fei (Resigned on 15th September, 2021)
Mr. JING Shiqging (Retired on 21st May, 2021)

Mr. WANG Gaogiang (Appointed on 15th September, 2021)
Mr. LIU Xiaoyong (Appointed on 15th September, 2021)
Mr. LIU Jian (Appointed on 15th September, 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Mr. YU Hon To, David
Mr. YANG Yuchuan
Mr. HU Xiaoyong

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. YU Hon To, David (Chairman)

Mr. WANG Yan (Resigned on 15th September, 2021)

Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Madam WAN Suet Fei (Resigned on 15th September, 2021)
Mr. YANG Yuchuan

Mr. LIU Xiaoyong (Appointed on 15th September, 2021)
Mr. LIU Jian (Appointed on 15th September, 2021)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. WONG Tak Shing (Chairman)

Mr. YU Hon To, David

Mr. JING Shiqging (Retired on 21st May, 2021)
Mr. HU Xiaoyong
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Victoria place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM10
Bermuda
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Corporate Information

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr

. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)

. WONG Tak Shing

. YU Hon To, David

. JING Shiqging (Retired on 21st May, 2021)
. YANG Yuchuan

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr

. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)

. CHEN Ying (Resigned on 15th September, 2021)

. WONG Tak Shing

. WANG Gaogqiang (Appointed on 15th September, 2021)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Mr

. SHI Baofeng (Chairman)

(Resigned on 30th September 2021)

Mr

. YANG Ping (Chairman)

(Appointed on 23rd December, 2021)

Mr
Mr

. WONG Tak Shing
. YANG Yuchuan

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr

. LO Chi Lik Peter

REGISTERED OFFICE

Victoria place, 5th Floor

31

Victoria Street

Hamilton HM10

Be

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

rmuda

Room 1901-02
China Resources Building

26

Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong
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FEROBBFETE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
The Belvedere Building

69 Pitts Bay Road

Pembroke HMO08

Bermuda

EREROBFETIE

BEMERBERAA
BB
ERREFR1835

A M D541

LEGAL ADVISOR
Reed Smith Richards Butler

AUDITOR

Messrs. Ernst & Young

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
The Belvedere Building

69 Pitts Bay Road

Pembroke HM08

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Secretaries Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong
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